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Alamance Crossing is a pedestrian-friendly shopping destination that features today’s best in shopping, dining and entertainment.
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CBL is building momentum across the country, introducing shoppers to new stores, restaurants and 
a brand new approach to retailing. CBL is bringing its focus on innovation to more communities than 
ever, including the St. Louis metro-area, with the acquisition of four top properties. We also expanded 
our presence in the North Carolina Triad area with the acquisition of the Friendly Center retail complex 
in Greensboro and the opening of Alamance Crossing in Burlington. In 2008, we will enter the Houston 
market with our cutting-edge mixed-use lifestyle development, Pearland Town Center.  And since 
everything we do is aimed at making our properties the top  destination to shop in each of our markets, 
we bring an unsurpassed roster of retailers and restaurants to our properties. CBL is continually looking 
for new ways to create an exciting experience for shoppers and a top location for retailers. Whether we 
are connecting shoppers and retailers through technology, or improving the shopping experience 
through architectural designs, CBL delivers. 

ALAMANCE CROSSING, BURLINGTON, NC
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Pearland Town Center will offer shopping, a hotel, residential and office space, a 25-acre lake and miles of walking paths.

2 CBL & ASSOCIATES PROPERTIES, INC.

DELIVERING

INNOVATION
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PEARLAND TOWN CENTER, HOUSTON (PEARLAND), TX

CBL seeks new ways to create environments tailored to how people want to live. A stirring example 
of that commitment will make its debut in 2008, when Pearland Town Center is introduced as a premier 
lifestyle retail and entertainment district in suburban Houston. We are creating a pedestrian-friendly 
city from scratch, 1.2 million square feet of shopping, restaurants, offices, hotel rooms and residences. 
In addition to anchors Macy’s, Dillard’s and Barnes & Noble, Pearland will include specialty retailers 
such as Hollister, Forever 21 and Brooks Brothers. Courtyard by Marriott will operate a four-story, 
110-room hotel located above the retail stores. Urban planners refer to these integrated mixed-use 
projects as “live, work, play” communities. It is an innovative approach to creating a place of functionality 
and style, with top retailers, destination restaurants and corporate addresses. We will continue to 
explore opportunities for mixed-use developments in healthy and expanding markets.
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DELIVERING

EXPERIENCE

The Friendly Center complex is a 1.3 million-square-foot open-air center, offering the finest lifestyle retailers and restaurants.



FRIENDLY CENTER COMPLEX, GREENSBORO, NC
Over the course of three decades CBL has built a 
storehouse of knowledge our people use to maximize 
the economic return on our investments. We build 
on this knowledge of our markets, as we did when  
we added the 123-acre open-air shopping village 
Friendly Center and Shops at Friendly Center to our 
North Carolina portfolio. 

The Friendly Center complex is regarded as one of 
the top lifestyle centers in the Southeast, a perfect 
complement to CBL’s existing portfolio of market- 
dominant retail  centers in the area. The more than 
one-million-square-foot shopping center delivers a 
great selection of retailers with names well-known to 
our customers, including Barnes & Noble, Victoria’s 
Secret and Jos. A. Banks. An expansion opening in 
2008 will introduce additional in-demand retailers  
to the market. 

Our experience and familiarity with North Carolina 
tells us we can count on continued success when we 
add new developments like Alamance Crossing in 
Burlington to our regional portfolio of existing malls, 
including properties in Asheville, Cary, Fayetteville 
and Winston-Salem. Our decentralized management 
system ensures that even as we gain experience in 
creating successful retail destinations in our dominant 
market areas, we also have local management teams 
that become experts in the demographics of each 
community we serve. 

Our shopping centers and malls are successful because 
we have the experience to know what works and 
the commitment to embrace change. With more 
than 160 properties across 27 states, we want to be 
sure every square foot is put to the best use for our 
customers, retailers and investors. And we know how 
important it is to deliver on their expectations.
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A review of CBL’s financial results for 2007 paints a 
disappointing picture compared to what shareholders 
have come to expect, especially given our successful 
track record since our IPO in 1993. But a closer  
inspection shows 2007 positioned us to move ahead 
with better financial results and to continue with a  
strong growth program in development and selec-
tive acquisitions. 

CBL’s experienced team is guided by a long-standing 
strategy of developing and acquiring malls and shopping 
centers in areas where we can become the market 
leader. It is a framework for success that has served 
CBL, its retailers and its shareholders well for decades.

In 2007 we significantly improved the quality of our 
portfolio, through the acquisition of properties, through 
the new development projects that we opened and 
through the strengthening of existing properties. We 
leased more shopping space than ever before. It was 
also one of our biggest years ever for acquisitions, 
including nearly seven million square feet of new 
property added in North Carolina and the St. Louis 
 market. In fact, in almost every area of the  Company 
we broke records in 2007.

Now our goal is to translate that momentum into better 
financial performance.

Positioned for Future Growth
CBL incurred most of the cost of preparing for tomorrow’s  
growth late in 2007, without much time to realize the 
benefit. As a result, Funds From Operations declined 
over the prior year. However, our properties experienced 
healthy internal growth with same center net operating 
income increasing 1.7% over the prior year, excluding 
lease termination fee income.

As CBL marks its 30th year in the retail development and 
management business, our team is better prepared than 
ever to make the most of relationships and partnerships 
forged over time. CBL’s leadership is adept at maintain-
ing growth throughout the ups and downs of economic 
cycles. Through them all, we have not only survived, 
but we have also thrived.

CBL Continues to Work for Shareholders
Even as CBL prepared in 2007 for future growth, our 
company continued to reward its investors with dividend 
increases. At the end of the year we announced an 
increased dividend for the 15th consecutive year. That 
dividend is well covered by earnings and represents a 
sign of our confidence, as well as an endorsement by our 
board, of CBL’s ongoing business plan. 

Our debt strategy of minimizing financing risk is solid. 
This was evidenced by the timing of our 2007 financings, 
all of which took place before the national sub-prime 
lending crisis. 

Acquisitions Provide Momentum
CBL’s acquisitions in 2007 advanced our Company’s 
objective to become the primary shopping destination 
in every market we enter.

In St. Louis we completed a $1.03 billion transaction 
involving four regional malls. Plans are proceeding to 
make improvements in all areas at these properties, 
including sponsorships, specialty leasing, expansions 
and redevelopment as well as growth in occupancy.

Our new presence in St. Louis is significant because it is 
consistent with our strategy of upgrading our portfolio 
by adding higher-producing malls in terms of sales.

DEAR

SHAREHOLDERS
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Charles B. Lebovitz – Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer

In a $355.3 million joint venture transaction with the 
Teachers’ Retirement System of the State of Illinois, CBL 
solidified its presence in North Carolina by adding one 
of the most successful lifestyle centers in the Southeast – 
The Friendly Center and Shops at Friendly Center in 
Greensboro. The acquisition gives CBL a presence 
in nine markets in North Carolina, from Asheville to 
Winston-Salem.

CBL Unlocks Value in Its Properties
Each one of our regional malls and open-air centers is 
essentially a part of our inventory and we have oppor-
tunities to pursue numerous strategies to strengthen 
that property. Our job is to ensure that these projects 
deliver a proper economic return on investment. Our 
growing sponsorship program is indicative of how CBL 
works to strengthen its properties. Sponsorships have 
grown from days when a dealership might feature a 
single car displayed in the atrium to our expanding 
program of play areas and digital displays. Similarly, 
CBL is identifying oversized parking lots and infill 
sites that are prime spots for upscale restaurants  
and boutique retailers.

Partnering for Strength
CBL continued its emphasis on building strong 
relationships in 2007. Our Company made forays into 
international markets for the first time, with conservative 
investments in Brazil and China. Our $15.0 million invest-
ment in Jinsheng Group in Nanjing, China opens a 
relationship with an established Chinese mall operator.  
In Brazil, we are investing $15.3 million with our local 
partner, Tenco Realty, in a new development project in 
Macaé that will open in 2008.

We are excited about our new international partners, 
but our primary emphasis will continue to be with our 
domestic partners. Our joint venture partners enhance 

our Company’s growth. Our retail partners help us 
serve our customers better and understand which 
markets are underserved.

Looking Ahead
This always has been and will continue to be a dynamic 
business. Retail real estate is continually advancing. Our 
malls are evolving from where they were 20 years ago to 
a new look, a fresher look. Today there is more exterior 
orientation and more emphasis on restaurants. 

In 2008 we will open our first large-scale mixed-use 
project, Pearland Town Center, in suburban Houston. It 
will offer more than 75 specialty stores and restaurants, 
a hotel, office space and residences, all in a pedestrian-
friendly setting. 

Pearland may be a new take on the retail development 
model, but some things will remain the same. Our malls 
will be community-focused, looking for opportunities 
to work with schools or to partner with local health care 
organizations. I am proud to note several members of 
CBL donated time to Hurricane Katrina relief efforts in 
2007. We have built a solid, dedicated team at CBL – 
committed to our communities, our work and our 
vision. For 30 years this has been a combination that 
delivers, and I am confident it will continue in 2008 
and going forward.

Charles B. Lebovitz 
Chairman of the Board 
Chief Executive Officer

2007 ANNUAL REPORT 7
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SQUARE FEET OF NEW DEVELOPMENTS  
AND EXPANSIONS OPENED IN 2007

It was a year of setting goals, breaking records and forming new partnerships. For the past 

30 years we have honed our expertise in property development and management to deliver 

the best shopping experience for our shoppers, retailers and communities. In 2007, we broke 

our own records by signing 6.6 million square feet of leases and completing $1.4 billion in 

acquisitions. Despite a challenging environment in our industry, we were also able to grow 

our same center net operating income, excluding lease termination fees, by 1.7%. At CBL, 

we are delivering results. 
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94%
OR HIGHER YEAR-END  

OCCUPANCY RATE SINCE 2002

January
CBL announces four mall renovations and starts site work 
on the mixed-use development, Pearland Town Center in 
Houston (Pearland), TX. 

February
CBL makes first international investment in subsidiaries 
of Jinsheng Group, an established mall operator and real 
estate development company based in Nanjing, China.

March
CBL celebrates the grand opening of The Shoppes at  
St. Clair Square, located adjacent to St. Clair Square Mall 
in Fairview Heights, IL.

April
The development of Cobblestone Village at Palm Coast, 
in Palm Coast, FL is announced. CBL is bringing the first 
regional retail center to the market. 

May
CBL announces the Village of Orchard Hills, a 400,000-
square-foot, open-air, mixed-use lifestyle development. It is 
the first of its kind in the Grand Rapids area.

June
The Richard E. Jacobs Group, Inc. and CBL complete 
$190.8 million financing for Gulf Coast Town Center in 
Ft. Myers, FL.

July
CBL forms partnership with NearbyNow to offer shop-
pers a new way to find what they want at CBL malls. 
Shoppers browse online for items at their local CBL mall 
and can put them on hold for pickup.

August
CBL opens Alamance Crossing in Burlington, NC. The 
Mayor of Burlington and other key dignitaries attend the 
celebration for the open-air development.

September
The 294,000-square-foot shopping center, York Town 
Center, opens in York, PA. Adjacent to the York Galleria 
Mall, the Center adds a great mix of stores to the area. 

October
Expanding the dominant mall strategy in the St. Louis 
metro-area, CBL closes on a $1.03 billion deal with the 
Westfield Group for four malls in the market. 

November
CBL acquires The Friendly Center and Shops at Friendly 
Center in Greensboro, NC. On the other side of the 
equator, CBL invests in a Brazilian partnership with 
Tenco Realty.

December 
CBL’s shareholders of record as of December 28, 2007 
 receive benefit of 7.9% increase in CBL’s quarterly 
common dividend. The increase represents CBL’s 15th 
consecutive dividend increase.

2007 HIGHLIGHTS

10.6%
COMPOUND ANNUAL FFO 

GROWTH RATE SINCE IPO
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$9.3

84.6
MILLION

SQUARE FEET  
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COMPOUND ANNUAL  

DIVIDEND GROWTH RATE  

SINCE IPO

TOTAL MARKET CAPITALIZATION  
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007

BILLION

94%
OR HIGHER YEAR-END  

OCCUPANCY RATE SINCE 2002

January
CBL announces four mall renovations and starts site work 
on the mixed-use development, Pearland Town Center in 
Houston (Pearland), TX. 

February
CBL makes first international investment in subsidiaries 
of Jinsheng Group, an established mall operator and real 
estate development company based in Nanjing, China.

March
CBL celebrates the grand opening of The Shoppes at  
St. Clair Square, located adjacent to St. Clair Square Mall 
in Fairview Heights, IL.

April
The development of Cobblestone Village at Palm Coast, 
in Palm Coast, FL is announced. CBL is bringing the first 
regional retail center to the market. 

May
CBL announces the Village of Orchard Hills, a 400,000-
square-foot, open-air, mixed-use lifestyle development. It is 
the first of its kind in the Grand Rapids area.

June
The Richard F. Jacobs Group, Inc. and CBL complete 
$190.8 million financing for Gulf Coast Town Center in 
Ft. Myers, FL.

July
CBL forms partnership with NearbyNow to offer shop-
pers a new way to find what they want at CBL malls. 
Shoppers browse online for items at their local CBL mall 
and can put them on hold for pickup.

August
CBL opens Alamance Crossing in Burlington, NC. The 
Mayor of Burlington and other key dignitaries attend 
celebration for the open-air development.

September
The 294,000-square-foot shopping center, York Town 
Center, opens in York, PA. Adjacent to the York Galleria 
Mall, the Center adds a great mix of stores to the area. 

October
Expanding the dominant mall strategy in the St. Louis 
metro-area, CBL closes on a $1.03 billion deal with the 
Westfield Group for four malls in the market. 

November
CBL acquires The Friendly Center and Shops at Friendly 
Center in Greensboro, NC. On the other side of the 
equator, CBL invests in a Brazilian partnership with 
Tenco Realty.

December 
CBL’s shareholders of record as of December 28, 2007 
 receive benefit of 7.9% increase in CBL’s quarterly 
common dividend. The increase represents CBL’s 15th 
consecutive dividend increase.

2007 HIGHLIGHTS

10.6%
COMPOUND ANNUAL FFO 

GROWTH RATE SINCE IPO

SQUARE FEET OF NEW DEVELOPMENTS  
AND EXPANSIONS OPENED IN 2007

It was a year of setting goals, breaking records and forming new partnerships. For the past 

30 years we have honed our expertise in property development and management to deliver 

the best shopping experience for our shoppers, retailers and communities. In 2007, we broke 

our own records by signing 6.6 million square feet of leases and completing $1.4 billion in 

acquisitions. Despite a challenging environment in our industry, we were also able to grow 

our same center net operating income, excluding lease termination fees, by 1.7%. At CBL, 

we are delivering results. 
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RESULTS
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THE SHOPPES AT ST. CLAIR SQUARE, FAIRVIEW HEIGHTS, IL

CBL brings a time-tested approach and its team  
of experts to the task of unlocking the value of 
our more than 160 properties. At our newest proper-
ties in St. Louis, each department in the company 
is working to maximize future growth. When CBL 
recently expanded to five malls in the St. Louis area, 
it advanced our strategy to control market-dominant 
assets that are both immediately accretive and offer 
long-term growth. CBL already owned a presence 
in the St. Louis metro-area with the St. Clair Square 
regional mall, and the acquisition allowed us to 

strengthen our position. Concentrating assets in a 
market yields economies of scale in management, 
advertising and other support services. As we look for 
ways to enhance the properties, we use the power of 
our portfolio to drive down costs, from roofing to paving.

While we combine resources when it is appropriate, 
CBL’s experts know that there is more than one kind 
of retailer. We are always looking for opportunities to 
match entrepreneurs with a place to put their wares on 
display in new and exciting ways. Specialty leasing, in 

DELIVERING FOR THE LONG TERM

12 CBL & ASSOCIATES PROPERTIES, INC.
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kiosks or storefronts, gives national chains, seasonal 
retailers and new entrepreneurs a place to showcase 
a product. Through specialty leasing, we can react 
very quickly to trends and get new products on 
shelves quickly.

When it is time to freshen up the look of one of our 
shopping centers or malls, we consider various possi-
bilities. During renovations at our shopping centers we 
expand walkways to create more room for kiosks. We 
recently added Carrabas, Abuelo’s and Panera Bread 

at The District at Valley View in Roanoke, VA, a lifestyle 
addition to Valley View Mall. As part of the addition, 
we reworked the front of the mall to better connect 
shoppers to the shops.

Whether the opportunity is the redevelopment of 
an existing mall to give it a new level of excitement  
or to bring a new shopping destination out of the 
ground, CBL has the team to do the job right.

MILFORD MARkETPLACE, MILFORD, CT
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DELIVERING ConneCtions

CHERRYVALE MALL, ROCkFORD, IL

WEST COUNTY CENTER, ST. LOUIS (DES PERES), MO
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Among the technological initiatives CBL is introducing 
is a method for shoppers to determine what is on our 
retailer’s shelves before they visit. Called NearbyNow, 
the Internet-based connection permits a shopper to 
place an order from a cell phone or personal digital 
assistant. Retailers are responding positively to 
NearbyNow because it provides a new connection 
to customers. We are still finding new ways to use the 
information we learn from NearbyNow to enhance the 
shopping experience. For example, we are studying 
the most popular searches for items not found at our 
properties to learn which retailers we should target to 
best answer an unmet demand.

Our strong connection with top retailers, combined 
with a strategy of owning the dominant mall in a 
 community, creates new opportunities. Most of CBL’s 
malls serve a wide trade area that typically was under-
stored before our retailers opened. Upscale retailers 
and restaurants want to move where their customers 
are. We make sure to create a mix of retailers that 
complement each other, such as a Barnes & Noble 
bookstore where our customers tend to linger.

Last year, CBL opened a new lifestyle center in 
Rockford, IL, providing a perfect illustration of our 
ability to make connections work to produce great 
results. The District at CherryVale lifestyle center is 
built on land that was once excess parking for our 
CherryVale Mall. Through our network of retailers, 
we brought in Barnes & Noble, Chico’s, Granite City 
Food & Brewery and Asha SalonSpa. The opening 
of the District at CherryVale will connect a new wave 
of customers to our mall retailers, creating cross-
shopping opportunities.

When CBL purchased CherryVale Mall in 2001, 
our team identified new opportunities to make con-
nections inside and out. Our specialty leasing and 
sponsorship divisions since have helped create a new 
energy. CherryVale, as with a growing number of CBL’s 
malls, now features digital displays alerting shoppers 
to retailer messages such as the top ten best deals 
of the day offered by our stores. These messages are 
advertising for our retailers and also add value for our 
customers. Our specialty leasing team found highly 
visible but underused spaces perfect for a kiosk where 
local entrepreneurs can now incubate a business. 
Specialty leasing also brings in seasonal retailers, who 
create a festive atmosphere with costume shops at 
Halloween or candy and balloons for Valentine’s Day.

We believe in promoting our individual properties 
and we emphasize our individual retailers. We promote 
our stores through email and online through our Web 
sites. This provides our customers with information to 
enhance their shopping experience and brand new 
ways to interact with our retailers. We focus on commu-
nity ties because we are leaders in our communities. 
We make connections with our shoppers by installing 
play areas in our malls. In many communities we call 
home, CBL sponsors youth league sports teams and 
adopts local schools. Our properties are built through 
our industry connections and they thrive through  
community connections. 
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DELIVERING PartnershiPs

CBL grew strong over the years by nurturing relation-
ships. Through the many partnerships we have forged, 
we can combine the country’s top retailers and restau-
rants with top shopping and dining destinations. 

We have development partners who want to own 
the land under our projects, others that focus on pre-
development work and still others that want an equity 
position. In Fort Myers, FL, we teamed up with The 
Richard E. Jacobs Group of Cleveland, Ohio to create 
1.7 million square feet of retailing and restaurants 
called Gulf Coast Town Center. Our joint venture is 
in its third phase, adding a Dick’s Sporting Goods  
and other shops to a tropical setting.

In the past year we forged several new partnerships, 
joining with the Teachers’ Retirement System of The 
State of Illinois to purchase the Friendly Center and 
Shops at Friendly Center in Greensboro, NC. We 
formed a joint venture with the Benchmark Group of 
Amherst, NY to develop The Pavilion at Port Orange, 
a 550,000-square-foot dining and entertainment des-
tination set to open in 2009 near Daytona Beach, FL. 
In 2008 we will again join with the Benchmark Group 
to build Hammock Landing, a 750,000-square-foot, 
open-air shopping center in West Melbourne, FL. We 
also teamed up with Faison Enterprises of Charlotte, 
NC for a joint venture to develop the Settler’s Ridge 
lifestyle center in suburban Pittsburgh.

In 2007 CBL expanded its network of partners to 
China and Brazil, taking steps to expand beyond our 
domestic base to these growing  consumer economies.

With the help of Bain Capital, we made our first  
international investment in February 2007, investing 
in  subsidiaries of Jinsheng Group, a Nanjing, China-
based mall operator and development company. In 
October, we secured our first investment in Brazil by 
partnering with Tenco Realty, an owner, operator and 
developer based in Belo Horizonte. Our first project 
is a new 220,000-square-foot center, Plaza Macaé, 
located in the fast-growing coastal town of Macaé. 
We are preparing to tap into new possibilities as 
we venture – with the help of a strong partner – into 
these exciting markets.

Partnerships result in more than expanding geography 
for CBL. They create relationships in which we intro-
duce retailers to new markets, and our retailers, in 
turn, introduce new concepts and products to our 
malls. By listening to our existing retailers, we learn 
about new opportunities for complementary tenants, 
or possible new locations for a CBL center. We are 
always attuned to how our retailers relate to each 
other, as evidenced by the marquis shops and restau-
rants that can be found at our centers. We know that 
when we set aside space for Coldwater Creek, Lane 
Bryant or Talbots, it is important to provide a restau-
rant or coffee shop nearby, and our relationships 
deliver top names like Fleming’s Prime Steakhouse 
and BRAVO!. Whether it’s helping a longtime partner 
like Abercrombie & Fitch find a match for its sister 
store Hollister, or helping a new entrepreneur on the 
way to becoming the next Abercrombie & Fitch, CBL 
understands the value of having a good partner – and 
how important it is to be one.
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GULF COAST TOWN CENTER, FT. MYERS, FL
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With more than three decades in the retail development 
and management business, CBL’s senior management 
team is well acquainted with strategies that will be 
successful. Over 30 years CBL has honed in on the 
trends as times changed, always focusing on what the 
consumer wants and how best to deliver that. From 
the open-air shopping centers we built when CBL was 
in its nascent stage, to the enclosed malls developed 
in the 1980s, and on to the open-air mixed-use proj-
ects defining the new millennium, CBL has consistently 
delivered premier shopping environments.

We bring an integrated, experienced team to evaluate 
every opportunity. We regularly update our older 
properties inside and out so they’ll continue as top 
shopping destinations. At new developments, our 
team members gather market research and then bring 
their expertise together to make a successful project 
for the community.

A good example is The Pavilion at Port Orange, which 
will open in 2009 near Daytona Beach, FL. The open-air 
center will offer customers a unique shopping experi-
ence in an open-air pedestrian-friendly environment. 
A focal point of the development will be a seven-acre 
lake surrounded by upscale restaurants.

DELIVERING LeadershiP

THE PAVILION AT PORT ORANGE, PORT ORANGE, FL
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Park Plaza Mall, little rock, ar

 

When CBL identifies a development opportunity 
such as The Pavilion at Port Orange, our team begins 
a collaborative process. Our marketing experts study 
demographics, take helicopter tours of the area and 
monitor new school construction. Our development 
leasing team analyzes the market to determine which 
retailers and restaurants will make the best fit. Our 
specialty leasing team helps with the design to ensure 
the kiosks are within easy sight of shoppers. And 
our sponsorship team makes recommendations to 
 maximize use of the spaces we have created, even 
planning the location of an outdoor play area.

Once the opening day ribbon is cut, the mall manage-
ment team becomes the backbone of our successful 
centers. Our decentralized management model ensures 
that we are in touch with each of our communities.

The Pavilion at Port Orange will not look anything like 
shopping centers built in central Florida 30 years ago. 
But even as consumer tastes and development trends 
change, CBL’s team-oriented approach stands the test 
of time.
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DELIVERING ProPerties

FRIENDLY CENTER COMPLEX, GREENSBORO, NC

MALL DEL NORTE, LAREDO, TX
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  SqUARE FEET

Decatur
Hickory Point Mall 823,902
Fairview Heights
St. Clair Square 1,047,438
The Shoppes of St. Clair Square 84,055
Rockford
CherryVale Mall 862,102

InDIana

Terre Haute
Honey Creek Mall 680,890

Kansas

Kansas City (Overland Park)
Oak Park Mall 1,561,309

KenTuCKy

Lexington 
Fayette Mall 1,233,982 
The Plaza at Fayette Mall  190,164
Louisville
Jefferson Mall 923,762
Paducah
Kentucky Oaks Mall 1,013,822

LOuIsIana

Lafayette
Mall of Acadiana 997,275

MaRyLanD

Bel air
Harford Mall 493,099
Harford Annex 107,903

MICHIgan

adrian
Adrian Mall 337,005 
Detroit (Livonia)
Laurel Park Place 505,204
Lansing
Meridian Mall 977,085
Midland
Midland Mall 515,000
Muskegon
The Lakes Mall 593,487
saginaw
Fashion Square Mall 798,016

MInnesOTa

Minneapolis (Burnsville)
Burnsville Center 1,086,576

MIssIssIPPI   SqUARE FEET

Hattiesburg
Turtle Creek Mall 846,150
Meridian
Bonita Lakes Mall 633,685
Bonita Lakes Crossing 130,150
southaven
Southaven Towne Center 520,828
Vicksburg
Pemberton Square 351,920
Pemberton Plaza 77,893

MIssOuRI

Joplin
Northpark Mall 991,076
st. Louis
Chesterfield Mall 1,297,274
South County Center 1,019,482
West County Center 1,124,124
st. Peters
Mid Rivers Mall 1,049,419

nORTH CaROLIna

asheboro
Randolph Mall 350,035
asheville
Asheville Mall 931,262
Burlington
Alamance Crossing 717,006 
Cary
Cary Towne Center 1,004,210
Fayetteville
Cross Creek Mall 1,054,034
greensboro
706 Green Valley  139,060
Bank of America Building 49,327
Brassfield Square 194,520
Caldwell Court 13,899
First Citizens Bank Building 43,088
First National Bank Building 3,774
Friendly Center Complex 1,318,688
Friendly Center Office  
 Building 32,478
Garden Square 24,480
Green Valley Office Building 27,604
Hunt Village  31,268
New Garden Center 110,073
Northwest Center 85,856
Lake Point Office Building 88,088
Oak Branch Business Center 32,693
SunTrust Bank Building 106,968
Wachovia Office Building 12,000
Westridge Square 215,193
Westridge Suites 11,187

aLaBaMa  SqUARE FEET

Huntsville
Madison Square 932,452
Parkway Place 630,825
Madison Plaza 153,085

aRKansas

Fort smith
Massard Crossing 300,717
Little Rock
Park Plaza Mall 546,500

CaLIFORnIa

el Centro
Imperial Valley Mall 766,333

COnneCTICuT

Milford
Milford Marketplace 112,038

FLORIDa

Daytona Beach
Volusia Mall 1,064,768
Ft. Myers
Gulf Coast Town Center 1,151,507
Palm Coast
Cobblestone Village at 
 Palm Coast 227,770
Panama City
Panama City Mall 606,452
The Shoppes at  
 Panama City Mall 57,000
sebring
Lakeshore Mall 495,972

geORgIa

athens
Georgia Square 673,138
Georgia Square Plaza 15,393
atlanta (Douglasville)
Arbor Place 1,176,244
The Landing at Arbor Place 169,523
Dalton
Walnut Square 449,798
Walnut Crossing 128,465

ILLInOIs

Bloomington
Eastland Mall 755,788
Chicago
Ford City Mall 1,383,992 
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DELIVERING ProPerties

TRIANGLE TOWN CENTER, RALEIGH, NC 

THE PLAzA AT FAYETTE MALL, LEXINGTON, kY
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nORTH CaROLIna, cont. SqUARE FEET

High Point
Oak Hollow Mall 800,762
Oak Hollow Square 138,673
Raleigh
Triangle Town Center 1,279,228
Triangle Town Place 161,787
1500 Sunday Drive 61,227
Winston-salem
Hanes Mall 1,560,945

OKLaHOMa 

stillwater
Lakeview Pointe 207,415

OHIO 

akron
Chapel Hill Mall 861,653
Chapel Hill Suburban 117,088
Cincinnati
Eastgate Mall 1,066,654
Eastgate Crossing 195,112
Franklin
Towne Mall 465,451

PennsyLVanIa

Harrisburg
High Pointe Commons 296,434
Pittsburgh (greensburg)
Westmoreland Mall 1,017,114
Westmoreland South 277,303
Pittsburgh (Monroeville)
Monroeville Mall 1,128,747
Monroeville Annex 229,588
The District at Monroeville 75,832
stroudsburg
Stroud Mall 424,232
york
York Galleria 770,668
York Town Center 290,712

sOuTH CaROLIna

Charleston
Citadel Mall 1,112,491
Columbia
Columbia Place 1,042,404
Myrtle Beach
Coastal Grand – Myrtle Beach 929,868
Coastal Grand Crossing 34,967
north Charleston
Northwoods Mall 833,833

  SqUARE FEET

spartanburg
WestGate Mall 1,100,679
WestGate Crossing 157,247

Tennessee

athens
Eastside Shopping Center 79,330
Chattanooga
CBL Center 126,423
2034 CBL Center 76,000
Hamilton Place 1,145,335
Brainerd at Germantown 29,280
Hamilton Corner 83,857
Hamilton Crossing 185,370
Olde Brainerd Center 57,293
Gunbarrel Pointe 281,525
Soddy-Daisy Plaza 108,050
The Terrace 156,297
The Shoppes at Hamilton Place 109,937
Clarksville
Governor’s Square 718,786
Governor’s Square Plaza 187,599
Cleveland
Bi-Lo Plaza South 56,557
Bradley Commons 130,062
Jackson
Old Hickory Mall 544,668
Johnson City
Southside Plaza 54,295
Maryville
Foothills Mall 478,768
Foothills Plaza 191,216
Morristown
College Square 459,705
nashville
CoolSprings Galleria 1,125,914
Hickory Hollow Mall 1,088,280
Rivergate Mall 1,129,035
CoolSprings Crossing 364,526
The Courtyard at  
 Hickory Hollow Mall 77,460
The Village at Rivergate 166,366

Texas

Beaumont
Parkdale Mall 1,371,870
Parkdale Crossing 80,209
Brownsville
Sunrise Mall 739,996
Sunrise Commons 226,012
College station
Post Oak Mall 776,898

  SqUARE FEET

Del Rio
Plaza del Sol 261,586
Houston
Willowbrook Plaza 386,130
Laredo
Mall del Norte 1,198,199
Waco
Richland Mall 720,610

uTaH

salt Lake City (Layton)
Layton Hills Mall 660,728
Layton Hills  
 Convenience Center 93,892

VIRgInIa  

Lynchburg
River Ridge Mall 784,775
newport news
One Oyster Point 36,610
Pennisula Business Center I 21,923
Pennisula Business Center II 40,430
Two Oyster Point 39,049 
norfolk (Chesapeake)
840 Greenbrier Circle 48,756
850 Greenbrier Circle 81,318 
Greenbrier Mall 889,683
Richmond (Colonial Heights)
Southpark Mall 695,048
Roanoke
Valley View Mall 847,358

WIsCOnsIn 

Milwaukee (Brookfield)
Brookfield Square 1,099,345
Janesville
Janesville Mall 627,128
Madison
East Towne Mall 839,608
West Towne Mall 915,307
West Towne Crossing 429,768
Racine
Regency Mall 884,534
Wausau
Wausau Center 429,970

WyOMIng

Cheyenne
Frontier Mall 519,471
Frontier Square 161,615
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 Year Ended December 31,(1)

(In thousands, except per share data) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Total revenues  $ 1,040,627  $ 995,502  $ 900,419   $ 774,336  $ 683,358 
Total expenses    615,610   581,452   500,938    433,670   370,141 
Income from operations   425,017  414,050    399,481    340,666   313,217 
Interest and other income   10,923   9,084    6,831    3,355   2,485 
Interest expense   (287,884)  (257,067)   (208,183)   (177,219)  (153,321)
Loss on extinguishment of debt   (227)   (935)   (6,171)   –    (167)
Impairment of marketable securities  (18,456)  –   –   –   – 
Gain on sales of real estate assets   15,570   14,505    53,583   29,272   77,765 
Gain on sale of management contracts  –    –   21,619   –   – 
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates    3,502    5,295   8,495   10,308   4,941 
Income tax provision  (8,390)   (5,902)  –   –   – 
Minority interest in earnings:
 Operating partnership   (46,246)   (70,323)  (112,061)   (85,186)   (106,532)
 Shopping center properties   (12,215)   (4,136)  (4,879)   (5,365)  (2,758)
Income from continuing operations   81,594   104,571   158,715   115,831  135,630 
Discontinued operations   7,553   12,930   3,760  5,280   8,509 
Net income   89,147   117,501  162,475  121,111   144,139 
Preferred dividends   (29,775)  (30,568)   (30,568)  (18,309)   (19,633)
Net income available to common  
 shareholders  $ 59,372  $ 86,933  $ 131,907  $ 102,802  $ 124,506 

Basic earnings per common share: 
 Income from continuing operations,  
  net of preferred dividends  $ 0.79  $  1.16  $ 2.04  $ 1.58  $ 1.94 
Net income available to common  
 shareholders  $ 0.91  $  1.36  $ 2.10  $ 1.67  $ 2.08 
Weighted average shares outstanding    65,323   63,885    62,721    61,602    59,872 

Diluted earnings per common share: 
 Income from continuing operations,  
  net of preferred dividends  $ 0.79  $  1.13  $ 1.98  $ 1.52  $ 1.86 
Net income available to common  
 shareholders  $ 0.90  $  1.33  $ 2.03  $ 1.61  $ 2.00 
Weighted average shares and potential  
 dilutive common shares outstanding    65,913   65,269  64,880    64,004    62,386 
Dividends declared per common share  $ 2.06000  $  1.87750  $ 1.76625 $ 1.49375  $ 1.34500

Balance sheet data: 
Net investment in real estate assets  $ 7,402,278 $ 6,094,251  $ 5,944,428  $ 4,894,780  $ 3,912,220 
Total assets   8,105,047    6,518,810   6,352,322   5,204,500   4,264,310 
Total mortgage and other notes payable   5,869,318    4,564,535   4,341,055   3,371,679   2,738,102 
Minority interests    920,297    559,450    609,475    566,606    527,431 
Shareholders’ equity: 
Redeemable preferred stock  12    32   32   32   25 
Other shareholder’s equity  920,536    1,084,824   1,081,490   1,054,119    837,275 
Total shareholder’s equity  $ 920,548 $  1,084,856  $ 1,081,522  $ 1,054,151  $ 837,300 

Other data: 
Cash flows provided by (used in): 
 Operating activities  $ 470,278 $  388,911  $ 396,098  $ 337,489  $ 274,349 
 Investing activities    (1,103,121)   (347,239)   (714,680)   (612,892)   (333,378)
 Financing activities   669,969   (41,810)   321,654    280,837    66,007 
Funds from Operations (FFO) 
 of the Operating Partnership (2)   361,528    390,089    389,958    310,405    271,589 
FFO allocable to Company shareholders   203,613   215,797  213,736  169,725    146,552 

(1)  Please refer to Notes 3 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements for a description of acquisitions and joint venture transactions that have impacted the 
comparability of the financial information presented.

(2)  Please refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the definition of FFO, which does not represent 
cash flow from operations as defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and is not necessarily indicative of the cash available 
to fund all cash requirements.

Selected Financial data
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The following discussion and analysis of financial 
 condition and results of operations should be read in 
 conjunction with the consolidated financial statements 
and accompanying notes that are included in this annual 
report. Capitalized terms used, but not defined, in this 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations have the same meanings as 
defined in the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments. In this discussion, the terms “we,” “us,” “our” and 
the “Company” refer to CBL & Associates Properties, Inc. 
and its subsidiaries.

Executive Overview
We are a self-managed, self-administered, fully 

 integrated real estate investment trust (“REIT”) that is 
engaged in the ownership, development, acquisition, leas-
ing, management and operation of regional shopping malls 
and community centers. Our shopping centers are located 
in 27 states, but primarily in the southeastern and midwest-
ern United States.

As of December 31, 2007, we owned controlling inter-
ests in 75 regional malls/open-air centers, 28 associated 
centers (each adjacent to a regional shopping mall), 13 
community centers and 13 office buildings, including our 
corporate office building. We consolidate the financial state-
ments of all entities in which we have a controlling financial 
interest or where we are the primary beneficiary of a vari-
able interest entity. As of December 31, 2007, we owned 
non-controlling interests in nine regional malls, four associ-
ated centers, two community centers and six office buildings. 
Because one or more of the other partners have substantive 
participating rights, we do not control these partnerships 
and joint ventures and, accordingly, account for these 
investments using the equity method. At December 31, 
2007, we had four mall expansions, two associated/lifestyle 
centers, three community centers, a mixed-use center, and 
an office building under construction.

The year ended December 31, 2007, was an uncharacter-
istically disappointing year for us. After a nearly uninterrupted 
13-year track record of solid growth in Funds From Operations, 
we posted negative growth in 2007. Funds From Operations is 
a key performance measure for real estate companies. Please 
see the more detailed discussion of Funds From Operations 
on page 44.

ManageMent’S diScuSSion and analySiS OF FINANCIAl CONDITION AND RESulTS OF OPERATIONS

Our results for the year were impacted by a combina-
tion of factors. The contribution to 2007 results of operations 
from certain new development and redevelopment projects 
were negatively impacted by delays in getting certain ten-
ants open. We did not complete any acquisitions in 2006 
from which we could benefit. Same-store sales for mall ten-
ants of 10,000 square feet or less for stabilized malls were 
flat for the year as compared to the 3% to 4% increases we 
have experienced in recent years. We were also challenged 
by inflation, particularly as it relates to higher utility costs, 
as well as higher interest costs for a majority of the year.

The economy had an impact on consumer spending 
in 2007, and retailers are off to a slower start in 2008. As a 
result, some retailers have reduced their growth plans for 
2009. Therefore, we are taking a more guarded approach 
to our business. However, retailer growth plans and the 
retail real estate business have always had a long-term 
 perspective, and we as well continue to have a long-term 
perspective. Certain retailers have announced store closures 
or bankruptcy in 2008 and it is possible there may be addi-
tional announcements. Based on the announcements made 
to date, the impact on our portfolio is not expected to be 
significant. We believe that store closures and bankruptcies 
provide an opportunity to enhance the overall credit quality 
of our retailers and provide us with an opportunity to increase 
the productivity in our malls, both in terms of rents and sales. 
We see great opportunity when capital is constrained. The 
limit on capital availability also tends to reduce new devel-
opment competition in the marketplace. Because of our 
ability to access capital, we believe that we will have a com-
petitive advantage when retailers start to reallocate a larger 
portion of their open-to-buys to developers that are proven 
and have ready access to capital. 

We are cautiously optimistic going into 2008. Our 
results should benefit from the expansions and enhance-
ments that we made to our existing portfolio in 2007, as 
well as new development projects that are scheduled to 
open in 2008. Additionally, contributions from the proper-
ties that we acquired in the fourth quarter of 2007 should 
enhance the overall growth profile of our portfolio. While 
we are keeping a watchful eye on the state of the economy 
and health of retailers, we will continue our focus on execut-
ing our strategy to achieve long-term growth. 
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ManageMent’S diScuSSion and analySiS OF FINANCIAl CONDITION AND RESulTS OF OPERATIONS

    Date Acquired/ 
Property Location Opened

Acquisitions:
Chesterfield Mall St. Louis, MO October 2007
Friendly Center and The Shops at Friendly Center  
 (50/50 joint venture) (1) Greensboro, NC November 2007
Mid Rivers Mall St. Peters, MO October 2007
South County Center St. Louis, MO October 2007
West County Center  St. Louis, MO October 2007
Brassfield Square Greensboro, NC November 2007
Caldwell Court Greensboro, NC November 2007
Garden Square Greensboro, NC November 2007
Hunt Village Greensboro, NC November 2007
New Garden Center Greensboro, NC November 2007
Northwest Center Greensboro, NC November 2007
Oak Hollow Square High Point, NC November 2007
Westridge Square Greensboro, NC November 2007
1500 Sunday Drive Office Building Raleigh, NC November 2007
Portfolio of Five Office Buildings Greensboro, NC November 2007
Portfolio of Two Office Buildings Chesapeake, VA November 2007
Portfolio of Four Office Buildings Newport News, VA November 2007
Portfolio of Six Office Buildings (50/50 joint venture) (1) Greensboro, NC November 2007

New Developments:
The Plaza at Fayette Mall Lexington, KY October 2006
High Pointe Commons (50/50 joint venture) (1) Harrisburg, PA October 2006
Lakeview Pointe Stillwater, OK October 2006
The Shops at Pineda Ridge (2) Melbourne, FL November 2006
Alamance Crossing East Burlington, NC August 2007
York Town Center (50/50 joint venture) (1) York, PA September 2007
Cobblestone Village at Palm Coast Palm Coast, FL October 2007
The Shoppes at St. Clair Square Fairview Heights, IL March 2007
Milford Marketplace Milford, CT October 2007

(1)  These properties are held in entities that are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Therefore, the results 
of operations for these properties are included in Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations. 

(2)  The Shops at Pineda Ridge was sold in December 2007. The results of operations of this property are presented in  
Discontinued Operations for all periods presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2007 to the Year Ended December 31, 2006
The following significant transactions impacted the consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2007, 

compared to the year ended December 31, 2006:

n Since January 1, 2006, we have acquired or opened five malls and open-air centers, two associated centers, 15 community 
centers and 18 office buildings, as follows: 

The above properties, excluding those that are accounted for using the equity method of accounting or included in 
Discontinued Operations, are collectively referred to as the “2007 New Properties” in this section. Properties that were in 
operation for the entire period during 2007 and 2006 are referred to as the “2007 Comparable Properties.”
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Revenues
The $43.7 million increase in rental revenues and  tenant 

reimbursements was attributable to increases of $29.8 mil-
lion from the 2007 New Properties and $13.9 million from 
the 2007 Comparable Properties. The increase in revenues 
of the 2007 Comparable Properties was driven by our ability 
to achieve average gross rents that were higher as com-
pared to 2006 through our new and renewal leasing efforts, 
as well as an increase of $2.5 million in specialty leasing 
income. This was partially offset by the impact of a 90 basis 
points reduction in the occupancy of the 2007 Comparable 
Properties, a reduction of $1.5 million in percentage rents, 
and a reduction of $6.0 million in lease termination fees.

Our cost recovery ratio declined to 101.1% for 2007 
from 104.0% for 2006. The decline results primarily from 
increases of $2.0 million in snow removal expense and 
$2.6 million in bad debt expense. 

The increase in management, development and leasing 
fees of $2.9 million was primarily attributable to increases 
of $1.4 million in development fees related to joint venture 
developments, $0.8 million in commissions from outparcel 
sales at joint venture properties and $0.8 million in financing 
fees from joint venture properties, partially offset by a reduc-
tion of $0.2 million in management fees.

Other revenues decreased by $1.5 million primarily 
because our subsidiary that provides security and mainte-
nance services to third parties did not renew certain contracts. 
Accordingly, there is a corresponding decrease in other 
expenses that is discussed below.

Operating Expenses
Property operating expenses, including real estate 

taxes and maintenance and repairs, increased $21.1 million 
as a result of $7.6 million of expenses attributable to the 
2007 New Properties and $13.5 million related to the 2007 
Comparable Properties. The increase in property operating 
expenses of the 2007 Comparable Properties is attributable 
to increases in utility costs, annual compensation increases 
for property management personnel, bad debt expense and 
snow removal costs. Additionally, real estate tax expense 
was higher for the 2007 Comparable Properties as a result 
of prior year tax settlements and increased assessments on 
certain properties.

The increase in depreciation and amortization expense 
of $15.3 million resulted from increases of $12.8 million 
from the 2007 New Properties and $2.5 million from the 
2007 Comparable Properties. The increase attributable to 

the 2007 Comparable Properties is due to ongoing capital 
expenditures for renovations, expansions, tenant allowances 
and deferred maintenance and for the write-off of certain 
tenant allowances related to early lease terminations.

General and administrative expenses decreased 
$1.7 million primarily as a result of a reduction of $2.3 mil-
lion in reserves for non-income taxes. This was partially offset 
by increases related to additional salaries and benefits for 
the personnel added to manage the 2007 New Properties 
combined with annual compensation increases for existing 
personnel. As a percentage of revenues, general and 
administrative expenses decreased to 3.6% in 2007 com-
pared with 4.0% in 2006.

We recognized a loss on impairment of real estate 
assets of $0.5 million during 2006, which resulted from a 
loss of $0.3 million on the sale of two community centers 
in May 2006 and a loss of $0.2 million on the sale of land 
in December 2006. There was no loss on impairment of 
real estate assets during 2007.

Other Income and Expenses
Interest expense increased $30.8 million primarily due 

to the debt on the 2007 New Properties, the refinancings 
that were completed on the 2007 Comparable Properties 
and borrowings used to redeem our Series B preferred 
stock on June 28, 2007. While we experienced a decrease 
in the weighted average fixed and variable interest rates as 
compared to 2006, the total outstanding principal amounts 
have increased.

During 2007, we recorded an $18.5 million non-cash 
write-down related to an investment in marketable real 
estate securities. The impairment resulted from a significant 
and sustained decline in the market value of the securities. 
There were no realized investment losses in 2006.

During 2007, we recognized gain on sales of real estate 
assets of $15.6 million related to the sale of 14 parcels of 
land, while the gain of $14.5 million in 2006 related to the 
sale of 13 land parcels.

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 
decreased by $1.8 million in 2007, primarily due to our 
share of losses in Gulf Coast Town Center and High Pointe 
Commons. During the fourth quarter of 2007, we reconsid-
ered the variable interest entity status of the joint venture 
that owns Gulf Coast Town Center and determined that it 
should be accounted for as an unconsolidated affiliate using 
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the equity method of accounting. Therefore, we stopped 
accounting for it as a consolidated entity and began record-
ing our share of its results as equity in earnings. At High 
Pointe Commons, the anchors opened earlier in 2006, but 
many of the small shops did not take occupancy until later 
in the year. At December 31, 2007, High Point Commons 
was 89.2% leased and committed, but actual occupancy 
was 81.5%. The decrease described above was partially off-
set by continued growth in the operations of our remaining 
joint ventures.

The income tax provision of $8.4 million for 2007 
relates to the earnings of our taxable REIT subsidiary and 
consists of provisions for current and deferred income taxes 
of $6.0 million and $2.4 million, respectively. During 2006, 
we recorded an income tax provision of $5.9 million, con-
sisting of current and deferred income taxes of $5.7 million 
and $0.2 million, respectively. We have cumulative stock-
based compensation deductions that can be used to offset 
the current income tax payable; therefore, the payable for 
current income taxes has been reduced to zero by recogniz-
ing a portion of the benefit of the cumulative stock-based 
compensation deductions.

We recognized gain and income from discontinued 
operations of $7.6 million during 2007, which represents 
a decline of $5.3 million from the $12.9 million of gain and 
income from discontinued operations that we recognized 
during 2006. Discontinued operations in 2007 reflects the 
results of operations and gain on disposal of Twin Peaks 
Mall and The Shops at Pineda Ridge, plus the true up of 
estimated expenses to actual amounts for properties sold 
during previous years. Discontinued operations in 2006 
reflect the results of operations and gain on disposal of five 
community centers that were sold during May 2006 plus the 
results of operations of the mall and community center that 
were sold in 2007. 

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2006 to 
the Year Ended December 31, 2005

The following significant transactions impacted the con-
solidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 
2006, compared to the year ended December 31, 2005:

n	 Since January 1, 2005, we have acquired or opened eight 
malls, two open-air centers, three associated centers and 
three community centers as follows: 

    Date Acquired/ 
Property Location Opened

Acquisitions:
Laurel Park Place Livonia, MI June 2005
The Mall of Acadiana  Lafayette, LA July 2005
Layton Hills Mall Layton, UT November 2005
Layton Hills Convenience Center Layton, UT November 2005
Oak Park Mall Overland Park, KS November 2005
Eastland Mall Bloomington, IL November 2005
Hickory Point Mall Forsyth, IL November 2005
Triangle Town Center (50/50 joint venture) (1) Raleigh, NC November 2005
Triangle Town Place (50/50 joint venture) (1) Raleigh, NC November 2005

New Developments:
Imperial Valley Mall (60/40 joint venture) (1) El Centro, CA March 2005
Southaven Towne Center Southaven, MS October 2005
Gulf Coast Town Center – Phase I & II anchors Ft. Myers, FL November 2005/
 (50/50 joint venture)  November 2006
The Plaza at Fayette Mall Lexington, KY October 2006
High Pointe Commons (50/50 joint venture) (1) Harrisburg, PA October 2006
Lakeview Pointe Stillwater, OK October 2006
The Shops at Pineda Ridge (2) Melbourne, FL November 2006

(1)  These properties are held in entities that are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Therefore, the results 
of operations for these properties are included in Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations. 

(2)  The Shops at Pineda Ridge was sold in December 2007. The results of operations of this property are presented in 
 Discontinued Operations for all periods presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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n  In August 2005, Galileo America LLC (“Galileo America”) 
redeemed our 8.4% ownership interest by distributing 
two community centers to us and we sold our manage-
ment and advisory contracts with Galileo America to New 
Plan Excel Realty Trust, Inc. (“New Plan”). See Note 5 to 
the consolidated financial statements for a more thorough 
discussion of these transactions.

The above properties, excluding those that are 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting or 
included in Discontinued Operations, are collectively referred 
to as the “2006 New Properties” in this section. Properties 
that were in operation for the entire period during 2006 and 
2005 are referred to as the “2006 Comparable Properties.”

Revenues
The $106.6 million increase in rental revenues and 

 tenant reimbursements was primarily attributable to 
increases of $91.2 million from the 2006 New Properties 
and $15.4 million from the 2006 Comparable Properties. 
These increases included $4.6 million and $2.8 million of 
lease termination fees for the 2006 New Properties and 
the 2006 Comparable Properties, respectively.

The increase in revenues of the 2006 Comparable 
Properties was driven by our ability to maintain high occu-
pancy levels while achieving a weighted average increase 
of 8.5% in rents from both new leases and lease renewals 
for comparable small shop spaces, as well as an increase in 
percentage rents. These increases were muted by the con-
tinued loss of rental income from the store closures and 
bankruptcies that occurred in the first quarter of 2006, which 
also negatively impacted our occupancy. Our cost recovery 
ratio improved to 104.0% for 2006 from 103.2% for 2005. 

The decrease in management, development and 
 leasing fees of $15.5 million was primarily attributable to 
the prior year amount including management and leasing 
fees received from Galileo America prior to the redemption 
of our interest in Galileo America in August 2005, plus an 
$8.0 million acquisition fee received from Galileo America 
that was related to Galileo America’s acquisition of an 
approximately $1.0 billion portfolio of shopping center 
properties from New Plan.

Other revenues increased by $3.9 million due to growth 
of our subsidiary that provides security and maintenance 
services to third parties.

Operating Expenses
Property operating expenses, including real estate 

taxes and maintenance and repairs, increased $27.5 million 
as a result of $28.3 million of expenses attributable to the 
2006 New Properties and a reduction of $0.8 million related 
to the 2006 Comparable Properties.

The increase in depreciation and amortization expense 
of $50.4 million resulted from increases of $39.7 million 
from the 2006 New Properties and $10.8 million from the 
2006 Comparable Properties. The increase attributable to 
the 2006 Comparable Properties is due to ongoing capital 
expenditures for renovations, expansions, tenant allowances 
and deferred maintenance. 

General and administrative expenses increased 
$0.3 million during 2006. Increases related to additional 
salaries and benefits for the personnel added to manage the 
2006 New Properties combined with annual compensation 
increases for existing personnel were offset by a reduction 
in expenses related to individuals that were terminated in 
connection with the sale of our management and advisory 
contracts with Galileo America in August 2005. Additionally, 
our investment in developments in progress increased as 
compared to the same period a year ago, which has resulted 
in a larger amount of overhead expense being capitalized 
than compared to the same period a year ago. As a per-
centage of revenues, general and administrative expenses 
decreased to 4.0% in 2006 compared with 4.4% in 2005. 

We recognized a loss on impairment of real estate 
assets of $0.5 million during 2006, which resulted from a 
loss of $0.3 million on the sale of two community centers 
in May 2006 and a loss of $0.2 million on the sale of land 
in December 2006. During 2005, we recognized a loss 
on impairment of real estate assets of $1.3 million, which 
resulted from a $1.0 million reduction in the carrying value 
of assets identified as held for sale at December 31, 2005 
and an additional loss of $0.3 million related to the proper-
ties that were sold to Galileo America in January 2005 to 
true up the estimated losses to actual.
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Other Income and Expenses
Interest expense increased $48.9 million primarily due 

to the debt on the 2006 New Properties, the refinancings 
that were completed on the 2006 Comparable Properties 
and an increase in variable interest rates as compared 
to 2005. 

Gain on sales of real estate assets of $14.5 million in 
2006 represents gains on the sales of 13 land parcels. 
Gain on sales of real estate assets of $53.6 million in 2005 
includes $44.2 million of gains related to the redemption 
of our ownership interest in Galileo America, $1.0 million 
from the recognition of deferred gain on properties that 
had been previously sold to Galileo America and $8.4 mil-
lion of gains on the sales of 11 outparcels.

The gain on sales of management contracts of 
$21.6 million in 2005 represents the gain on the sale of our 
management and advisory contracts with Galileo America 
to New Plan in August 2005.

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 
decreased by $3.2 million in 2006 because of reductions 
of $1.3 million related to the disposition of our ownership 
interest in Galileo America in August 2005, a full year of loss 
of $3.3 million incurred at Triangle Town Center, in which 
our ownership interest was not acquired until November 
2005, and a decrease of $1.1 million in gains on outparcel 
sales at Imperial Valley Mall as compared to the prior year. 
These reductions were partially offset by increases of 
$2.5 million in our equity in the earnings of our other 
unconsolidated affiliates.

In 2006, we recorded an income tax provision of 
$5.9 million as a result of taxable income that was gener-
ated by our management company, which is a taxable 
REIT subsidiary.

Discontinued operations in 2006 are related to five 
community centers that were sold during May 2006 plus 
the results of operations of the mall and community center 
that were sold in 2007. Discontinued operations in 2005 
are related to five community centers located throughout 
Michigan that were sold in March 2005 plus the operations 
of the mall and community centers that were sold in 2007 
and 2006.

Operational Review
The shopping center business is, to some extent, 

 seasonal in nature with tenants achieving the highest levels 
of sales during the fourth quarter because of the holiday 
season, which generally results in higher percentage rent 
income in the fourth quarter. Additionally, the malls earn 
most of their “temporary” rents (rents from short-term ten-
ants) during the holiday period. Thus, occupancy levels and 
revenue production are generally the highest in the fourth 
quarter of each year. Results of operations realized in any 
one quarter may not be indicative of the results likely to be 
experienced over the course of the fiscal year.

We classify our regional malls into two categories – 
malls that have completed their initial lease-up are referred 
to as stabilized malls and malls that are in their initial lease-
up phase and have not been open for three calendar years 
are referred to as non-stabilized malls. The non-stabilized 
malls currently include Coastal Grand – Myrtle Beach in 
Myrtle Beach, SC, which opened in March 2004; Imperial 
Valley Mall in El Centro, CA, which opened in March 2005; 
Southaven Towne Center in Southaven, MS, which opened 
in October 2005; Gulf Coast Town Center in Ft. Myers, FL, 
which opened in November 2005; and Alamance Crossing 
East in Burlington, NC, which opened in August 2007.

We derive a significant amount of our revenues from 
the mall properties. The sources of our revenues by prop-
erty type were as follows: 

 Year Ended December 31,

  2007 2006

Malls   91.9 % 92.6 %
Associated centers   4.2 % 3.9 %
Community centers   0.9 % 0.7 %
Mortgages, office buildings and other  3.0 % 2.8 %

Sales and Occupancy Costs
Mall store sales (for those tenants who occupy 10,000 

square feet or less and have reported sales) in the stabilized 
malls were flat on a comparable per square foot basis at 
$346 per square foot for 2007 and 2006.

Occupancy costs as a percentage of sales for the 
 stabilized malls were 12.2% and 12.1% for 2007 and 
2006, respectively.
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Occupancy
Our portfolio occupancy is summarized in the follow-

ing table: 
 December 31,

  2007 2006

Total portfolio    94.0 % 94.1 %
Total mall portfolio   94.0 % 94.4 %
 Stabilized malls    94.2 % 94.5 %
 Non-stabilized malls    90.0 % 91.7 %
Associated centers   95.9 % 93.6 %
Community centers   87.5 % 85.6 %

The occupancy rates as of December 31, 2007 exclude 
any newly-acquired properties. Our actual portfolio occu-
pancy was negatively impacted by the properties that were 
acquired during the fourth quarter of 2007, which had an 
overall occupancy less than our existing portfolio. 

In October 2007, Bombay announced that it would 
be entering Chapter 11 and closing its stores. We currently 
have 14 Bombay locations, representing 59,000 square feet 
and $2.1 million in annual gross rents. We currently are in 
negotiations with replacement tenants for over a third of 
this space.

Several retailers have announced bankruptcies and 
store closures subsequent to December 31, 2007. Ann 
Taylor announced that it would be closing over 100 under-
performing stores over the next three years as their leases 

come up for renewal. Currently, we are aware of only one 
store in our portfolio that will be impacted. 

Talbots announced that it will be closing its Kids 
and Mens divisions. We have two Talbots Kids stores in 
our portfolio and are currently in negotiations with replace-
ment tenants. Friedman’s Jewelers has filed for bankruptcy. 
We have 23 stores representing 34,000 square feet and 
$1.75 million in annual base rent. Average occupancy cost 
for the Friedman’s stores is approximately 12.0%, therefore, 
we do not anticipate that a significant number of these 
stores will be impacted.

leasing
Average annual base rents per square foot were as fol-

lows for each property type: 

   December 31,

  2007 2006

Stabilized malls   $ 29.20  $ 28.03
Non-stabilized malls    26.70   27.77
Associated centers    11.78   11.32
Community centers    11.76   14.21
Other    16.97   19.48

During 2007, we achieved positive results from new 
and renewal leasing of comparable small shop space for 
spaces that were previously occupied as summarized in the 
following table:

   New Initial 
  Prior Base Base Rent % Change New Average % Change 
Property Type  Square Feet  Rent PSF PSF Initial Base Rent PSF Average 

All Property Types (1)  2,857,412 $ 34.23  $ 36.77   7.4% $ 37.52   9.6%
Stabilized Malls  2,674,937  35.33  38.01  7.6%  38.76  9.7%
 New leases  972,808  37.58  44.27  17.8%  45.56  21.2%
 Renewal leases  1,702,129  34.05  34.44  1.1%  34.88  2.4%

(1) Includes stabilized malls, associated centers, community centers and other.
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liquidity and Capital Resources
We had $65.8 million of unrestricted cash and cash 

equivalents as of December 31, 2007, an increase of 
$37.1 million from December 31, 2006. Cash flows from 
operations are used to fund short-term liquidity and capital 
needs such as tenant construction allowances, capital 
expenditures and payments of dividends and distributions. 
For longer-term liquidity needs such as acquisitions, new 
developments, renovations and expansions, we typically rely 
on property-specific mortgages (which are generally non-
recourse), construction and term loans, revolving lines of 
credit, common stock, preferred stock, joint venture invest-
ments and a minority interest in the Operating Partnership.

Cash provided by operating activities increased $81.4 mil-
lion to $470.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. 
The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in our 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities as compared to the 
corresponding amounts at December 31, 2006. 

Debt
Our $560.0 million unsecured credit facility matures 

during 2008. Additionally, $193.0 million of the unsecured 
credit facility that was used to fund our acquisition of the 
Starmount Properties matures in 2008. We have extension 
options that are available to us on each of these credit facili-

ties. Our remaining secured credit facilities mature in 2009 
and 2010 and each has extension options that are available 
to us. After considering the extension options we have 
 available on our credit facilities, we have approximately 
$380.0 million of non-recourse debt maturing in 2008. We 
are currently working with lenders on refinancing opportuni-
ties for each of these loans and anticipate that we will be 
able to successfully refinance or extend each of these loans. 

We completed certain financings and refinancings prior 
to the tightening of the capital markets during the latter 
part of 2007. During 2007, we borrowed $1.4 billion under 
mortgage and other notes payable and paid $305.4 million to 
reduce outstanding borrowings. We also assumed $458.2 mil- 
lion of mortgage notes payable in connection with acquisitions 
of properties. We paid $0.2 million in prepayment fees in con-
nection with the retirement of a loan before its scheduled 
maturity date during 2007 and paid $8.6 million in financing 
costs in connection with the new borrowings.

The following tables summarize debt based on our pro 
rata ownership share, including our pro rata share of uncon-
solidated affiliates and excluding minority investors’ share of 
consolidated Properties, because we believe this provides 
investors and lenders a clearer understanding of our total 
debt obligations and liquidity (in thousands): 

      Weighted 
   Minority Unconsolidated Total Pro Average
  Consolidated Interests  Affiliates Rata Share  Interest Rate (1)

December 31, 2007:
Fixed-rate debt:
 Non-recourse loans on operating properties  $ 4,543,515 $ (24,236) $ 335,903 $ 4,855,182   5.79%
Variable-rate debt:
 Recourse term loans on operating properties   81,767  –  44,104   125,871   6.19%
 Construction loans    79,004   (2,517)  5,371   81,858  6.28%
 Lines of credit (2)    1,165,032   –  –  1,165,032   6.12%
 Total variable-rate debt    1,325,803   (2,517)  49,475   1,372,761   6.14%
Total    $  5,869,318  $ (26,753) $ 385,378 $ 6,227,943  5. 87%

December 31, 2006:
Fixed-rate debt:
 Non-recourse loans on operating properties  $ 3,517,710 $ (56,612) $ 218,203   $ 3,679,301   5.97%
Variable-rate debt:
 Recourse term loans on operating properties   101,464   –  27,816   129,280   6.46%
 Construction loans    114,429  –  –  114,429   6.61%
 Lines of credit (2)    830,932  –  –  830,932   6.19%
 Total variable-rate debt    1,046,825   –  27,816   1,074,641   6.27%
Total    $ 4,564,535  $ (56,612) $ 246,019   $ 4,753,942   6.03%

(1) Weighted average interest rate including the effect of debt premiums and discounts, but excluding amortization of deferred financing costs. 

(2)  The Company has entered into an interest rate swap on a notional amount of $250,000 related to its largest secured credit facility to effectively fix the interest 
on that portion of the line of credit. Therefore, this amount is currently reflected in fixed-rate debt.
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We have four secured credit facilities with total 
 availability of $662.2 million, of which $576.0 million was 
outstanding as of December 31, 2007. The secured credit 
facilities bear interest at a rate of LIBOR plus a margin rang-
ing from 0.80% to 0.90%. Borrowings under the secured 
lines of credit had a weighted average interest rate of 5.70% 
at December 31, 2007. 

In September 2007, we amended the largest secured 
credit facility to increase the maximum availability from 
$476.0 million to $525.0 million and to substitute certain 
collateral under the facility. We also pay a fee based on the 
amount of unused availability under this secured credit facil-
ity at a rate of 0.125% or 0.250%, depending on the level of 
unused availability.

We have an unsecured credit facility with total availabil-
ity of $560.0 million, of which $490.2 million was outstanding 
as of December 31, 2007. The unsecured credit facility 
bears interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 0.75% to 1.20% 
based on our leverage, as defined in the agreement. 
Additionally, we pay an annual fee equal to 0.1% of the 
amount of total availability under the unsecured credit facil-
ity. The credit facility matures in August 2008 and has three 
one-year extension options, which are at our election. At 
December 31, 2007, the outstanding borrowings under the 
unsecured credit facility had a weighted average interest 
rate of 5.98%. 

On December 31, 2007, we entered into a $250.0 mil-
lion pay fixed/receive variable interest rate swap agreement 
with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, to hedge the 
interest rate risk exposure on an amount of borrowings on 
our largest secured credit facility equal to the swap notional 
amount. This interest rate swap hedges the risk of changes 
in cash flows on our designated forecasted interest pay-
ments attributable to changes in 1-month LIBOR, the 
designated benchmark interest rate being hedged, thereby 
reducing exposure to variability in cash flows relating to 
interest payments on the variable-rate debt. The interest 
rate swap will effectively fix the interest payments on the 
portion of debt principal corresponding to the swap 
notional amount at 4.605%. The swap had no value as of 
December 31, 2007, and it matures on December 30, 2009. 

In November 2007, in conjunction with the acquisition 
of certain properties from the Starmount Company or its 
affiliates (the “Starmount Properties”), we entered into an 
Unsecured Credit Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, 

U.S. Bank National Association, Bank of America, N.A., 
and Aareal Bank AG. Under the terms of the Agreement, we 
may borrow up to a total of $459.1 million through a series 
of up to three separate advances. The proceeds received 
from the advances may only be used to fund the acquisition 
of the Starmount Properties. Borrowings of up to $193.0 mil- 
lion and $266.1 million mature on November 30, 2008 and 
November 30, 2010 (the “Maturity Dates”), respectively. We 
may extend each of the Maturity Dates by up to two periods 
of one year each and must pay an extension fee equal to 
0.15% of the then current outstanding amount. The advances 
bear interest at a rate of LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 
0.95% to 1.40% based on our leverage ratio, as defined 
in the Agreement. Accrued and unpaid interest on the 
 outstanding principal amount of each advance is payable 
monthly and we may make voluntary prepayments prior to 
the Maturity Dates without penalty. Net proceeds from a 
sale, of any of the properties originally purchased with bor-
rowings from this unsecured credit agreement, or our share 
of excess proceeds from any refinancings must be used 
to pay down any remaining outstanding balance. The 
Agreement contains default provisions customary for 
 transactions of this nature and also contains cross-default 
provisions for defaults of our $560.0 million unsecured facil-
ity and $525.0 million unsecured facility. At December 31, 
2007, the outstanding borrowings under this unsecured 
credit agreement totaled $348.8 million and had a weighted 
average interest rate of 5.95%.

We also have secured and unsecured lines of credit 
with total availability of $42.7 million that are used only to 
issue letters of credit. There was $18.4 million outstanding 
under these lines at December 31, 2007.

During the second quarter of 2007, we obtained two 
separate ten-year, non-recourse loans totaling $207.5 mil-
lion that bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 5.60% to 
5.66%, with a weighted average of 5.61%. The loans are 
secured by Gulf Coast Town Center and Eastgate Crossing. 
The proceeds were used to retire two variable-rate loans 
totaling $143.3 million and to reduce outstanding balances 
on our credit facilities. 

During the first quarter of 2007, we obtained six sepa-
rate ten-year, non-recourse loans totaling $417.0 million that 
bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 5.67% to 5.68%, 
with a weighted average of 5.67%. The loans are secured 
by Mall of Acadiana, Citadel Mall, The Plaza at Fayette Mall, 
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Layton Hills Mall and its associated center, Hamilton Corner 
and The Shoppes at St. Clair Square. The proceeds were 
used to retire $92.1 million of mortgage notes payable that 
were scheduled to mature during the next 12 months and 
to pay outstanding balances on our credit facilities. The 
mortgage notes payable that were retired consisted of 
two variable-rate term loans totaling $51.8 million and three 
fixed-rate loans totaling $40.3 million. We recorded a loss 
on extinguishment of debt of $0.2 million related to prepay-
ment fees and the write-off of unamortized deferred 
financing costs associated with the loans that were retired.

As of December 31, 2007, our share of consolidated 
and unconsolidated variable-rate debt represented 22.0% 
of our total share of debt, as compared to 22.6% as of 
December 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2007, our share 
of consolidated and unconsolidated variable-rate debt rep-
resented 14.7% of our total market capitalization (see Equity 
below) as compared to 10.6% as of December 31, 2006.

The secured and unsecured credit facilities contain, 
among other restrictions, certain financial covenants 
including the maintenance of certain coverage ratios, 
 minimum net worth requirements, and limitations on cash 
flow distributions. We were in compliance with all financial 
covenants and restrictions under our credit facilities at 
December 31, 2007. 

Equity
On August 2, 2007, our Board of Directors approved 

a $100.0 million common stock repurchase plan effective 
for 12 months. Under the August 2007 plan, we may 
 purchase shares of our common stock from time to time, 
subject to market conditions and at prevailing market 
prices, through open market purchases. Any stock repur-
chases are to be funded through our available cash and 
credit facilities. We are not obligated to repurchase any 
shares of stock under the plan and we may terminate the 
plan at any time. Repurchased shares are deemed retired 
and are, accordingly, cancelled and no longer considered 
issued. As of December 31, 2007, we had repurchased 
148,500 shares under the August 2007 plan at a cost of 
approximately $5.2 million. The cost of repurchased shares 
is recorded as a reduction in the respective components 
of shareholders’ equity.

On June 28, 2007, we redeemed the 2,000,000 
 outstanding shares of our 8.75% Series B Cumulative 
Redeemable Stock (the “Series B Preferred Stock”) for 
$100.0 million, representing a liquidation preference of 
$50.00 per share, plus accrued and unpaid dividends of 
$2.1 million. In connection with the redemption of the 
Series B Preferred Stock, we recorded a charge of $3.6 mil-
lion to write off direct issuance costs that were recorded as 
a reduction of additional paid-in capital when the Series B 
Preferred Stock was issued. The charge is included in 
 preferred dividends in the accompanying consolidated state-
ments of operations for the year ended December 31, 2007.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we 
received $11.7 million in proceeds from issuances of com-
mon stock related to exercises of employee stock options 
and from our dividend reinvestment plan. In addition, we 
paid dividends of $158.7 million to holders of our common 
stock and our preferred stock, as well as $111.9 million in 
distributions to the minority interest investors in our Operating 
Partnership and certain shopping center properties.

During 2007, holders of 220,670 special common units 
and 2,848 common units of limited partnership interest in 
the Operating Partnership exercised their conversion rights. 
We elected to pay cash of $9.5 million in exchange for 
these units.

As a publicly traded company, we have access to capi-
tal through both the public equity and debt markets. We 
currently have a shelf registration statement on file with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission authorizing us to 
publicly issue shares of preferred stock, common stock and 
warrants to purchase shares of common stock. There is no 
limit to the offering price or number of shares that we may 
issue under this shelf registration statement.

We anticipate that the combination of equity and debt 
sources will, for the foreseeable future, provide adequate 
liquidity to continue our capital programs substantially as 
in the past and make distributions to our shareholders in 
accordance with the requirements applicable to real estate 
investment trusts.  Our strategy is to maintain a conservative 
debt-to-total-market capitalization ratio in order to enhance 
our access to the broadest range of capital markets, both 
public and private. However, the ratio had increased as of 
December 31, 2007 due to a decline in the market price of 
our common stock. Based on our share of total consolidated 
and unconsolidated debt and the market value of equity, 
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our debt-to-total-market capitalization (debt plus market value equity) ratio was as follows at December 31, 2007  
(in thousands, except stock prices):
 
 Shares   
 Outstanding Stock Price (1) Value

Common stock and operating partnership units       116,814 $ 23.91  $ 2,793,023 
7.75% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock     460  250.00  115,000 
7.375% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock     700  250.00  175,000 
Total market equity            3,083,023 
Our share of total debt            6,227,943 
Total market capitalization           $ 9,310,966 
Debt-to-total-market capitalization ratio           66.9%

(1)  Stock price for common stock and operating partnership units equals the closing price of our common stock on December 31, 2007. The stock price for the 
preferred stock represents the liquidation preference of each respective series of preferred stock.

Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands): 

 Payments Due by Period

   Less Than  3–5 More Than 
  Total 1 Year 1–3 Years Years 5 Years

long-term debt:
 Total consolidated debt service (1)  $ 7,277,813  $ 1,447,038  $ 2,208,558  $ 1,170,964  $ 2,451,253 
 Minority investors’ share in shopping  
  center properties    (33,852)  (11,232)  (4,827)  (3,054)  (14,739)
 Our share of unconsolidated affiliates  
  debt service (2)    539,778    52,024  55,539   65,094   367,121 
 Our share of total debt service obligations   7,783,739  1,487,830   2,259,270   1,233,004   2,803,635

Operating leases: (3)

 Ground leases on consolidated properties   99,032   2,258   4,580  4,751    87,443 
 Minority investors’ share in shopping  
  center properties    (2,310)  (35)  (73)  (79)  (2,123)
 Our share of total ground lease obligations   96,722   2,223   4,507  4,672    85,320 

Purchase obligations: (4)

 Construction contracts on consolidated  
  properties    122,993   102,787    20,206  –  –
 Our share of construction contracts on  
  unconsolidated properties    401   401  –  –  –
 Our share of total purchase obligations    123,394   103,188    20,206   –  –
Total contractual obligations    $  8,003,855   $  1,593,241  $  2,283,983  $ 1,237,676  $ 2,888,955 

(1)  Represents principal and interest payments due under terms of mortgage and other notes payable and includes $1,575,803 of variable-rate debt on two  
operating Properties, six construction loans, four secured credit facilities and two unsecured credit facilities. The variable-rate loans on the operating Properties call 
for payments of interest only with the total principal due at maturity. The construction loans and credit facilities do not require scheduled principal payments. 
The future contractual obligations for all variable-rate indebtedness reflect payments of interest only throughout the term of the debt with the total outstanding 
principal at December 31, 2007 due at maturity. The future interest payments are projected based on the interest rates that were in effect at December 31, 2007. 
See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding the terms of long-term debt.

(2)  Includes $49,475 of variable-rate indebtedness. Future contractual obligations have been projected using the same assumptions as used in (1) above.

(3)  Obligations where we own the buildings and improvements, but lease the underlying land under long-term ground leases. The maturities of these leases 
range from 2010 to 2089 and generally provide for renewal options. Renewal options have not been included in the future contractual obligations.

(4)  Represents the remaining balance to be incurred under construction contracts that had been entered into as of December 31, 2007, but were not complete. 
The contracts are primarily for development, renovation and expansion of Properties. 
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Capital Expenditures
We expect to continue to have access to the capital 

resources necessary to expand and develop our business. 
Future development and acquisition activities will be under-
taken as suitable opportunities arise. We do not expect to 
pursue these activities unless adequate sources of financing 
are available and a satisfactory budget with targeted returns 
on investment has been internally approved.

An annual capital expenditures budget is prepared 
for each property that is intended to provide for all neces-
sary recurring and non-recurring capital expenditures. We 
believe that property operating cash flows, which include 
reimbursements from tenants for certain expenses, will pro-
vide the necessary funding for these expenditures.

Developments and Expansions
The following tables summarize our development proj-

ects as of December 31, 2007: 

Properties Opened Year to Date
(Dollars in thousands)   CBL’s Share of  

  Total Project Total Cost 
Property Location Square Feet Cost  To Date Date Opened Initial Yield (a)

Mall Expansions:
Brookfield Square –  
 Mitchell’s Fish Market Brookfield, WI 7,500  $  3,044  $ 3,044  April 2007 8.4%
Southpark Mall – Regal Cinema  Colonial Heights, VA 68,242   11,322   11,322  July 2007 11.0%
The District at Valley View – Shops Roanoke, VA 61,200   18,026   17,227  July 2007 7.6%
Brookfield Square – Fresh Market Brookfield, WI 22,400   4,960   4,960  August 2007 7.6%
Harford Mall – Lifestyle Expansion Bel Air, MD 39,222 (b)   9,736   8,269  September 2007 6.1%
The District at CherryVale Rockford, IL 84,541   21,099   19,537  Fall 2007 7.4%
Coastal Grand – Old Navy Myrtle Beach, SC 23,269   1,813   1,763  October 2007 7.9%

Community/Open-Air Centers:
Alamance Crossing East Burlington, NC 571,700   79,300 (g)   82,605  August 2007 8.4%
York Town Center (d) York, PA 274,495   21,085   19,511  September 2007 9.8%
Cobblestone Village at Palm Coast Palm Coast, FL 277,770   10,520 (g)  17,324  October 2007 7.7%

Open-Air Center Expansion:
Gulf Coast Town Center – 
 Phase II – Shops/Costco (f) Ft. Myers, FL 595,990   83,286   83,286  Spring 2007 9.2%

Associated/Lifestyle Centers:
The Shoppes at St. Clair Square Fairview Heights, IL 84,080   27,487 (g)  31,964  March 2007 7.0%
Milford Marketplace Milford, CT 105,638   25,729   22,567 October 2007 8.3%

Mall Renovations:
Mall del Norte Laredo, TX 1,207,687   20,400  20,400  Fall 2007 NA
Honey Creek Mall Terre Haute, IN 678,763   5,600   4,842  Fall 2007 NA

Associated Center Renovation:
Madison Plaza Huntsville, AL 153,085   1,320   1,320  June 2007 NA

Redevelopments:
Mall del Norte – Theater  Laredo, TX 82,500   14,403   11,379  Spring 2007 7.4%
Westgate Mall – Costco Spartanburg, SC 153,000    NA    NA  August 2007 NA
Northpark Mall – Steve and Barry’s/ 
 TJ Maxx Joplin, MO 90,688   9,750   7,900 October 2007 7.8%
Columbia Place – Steve and Barry’s/ 
 Burlington Coat Columbia, SC 124,819   12,831   11,604  October 2007 7.0%
    4,706,589   $  381,711  $ 380,824   
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Announced Property Renovations and Redevelopments 

(Dollars in thousands)   CBL’s Share of  

  Total Project Total Cost 
Property Location Square Feet Cost  To Date Date Opened Initial Yield (a)

Mall Renovations:
Brookfield Square Brookfield, WI 1,132,984  $ 18,100  $ 6,068  Fall 2008 NA
Georgia Square Athens, GA 674,738   16,900   9,060  Spring 2008 NA

Redevelopment:
Parkdale Mall – Former Dillard’s 
 (Phases I & II) Beaumont, TX 50,720   14,679   9,612  Fall 2008 6.6%
    1,858,442  $ 49,679  $ 24,740  

Properties under Development at December 31, 2007 

(Dollars in thousands)   CBL’s Share of  

  Total Project Total Cost 
Property Location Square Feet Cost  To Date Date Opened Initial Yield (a)

Mall Expansions: 
Southpark Mall – Foodcourt Colonial Heights, VA 17,150  $ 4,188  $ 939  Spring 2008 11.0%
Coastal Grand – JCPenney Myrtle Beach, SC 103,395   NA  NA Spring 2008 NA
Coastal Grand – Ulta Cosmetics Myrtle Beach, SC 10,000   1,449   1,498  Spring 2008 8.7%
Cary Towne Center – Mimi’s Café Cary, NC 6,674   2,243   948  Spring 2008 15.0%
Brookfield Square – Claim Jumpers Brookfield, WI 12,000   3,430   707  Fall 2008 11.9%

Associated/Lifestyle Centers:
Brookfield Square –  
 Corner Development Brookfield, WI 19,745   8,372   1,478  Fall 2008 8.0%
Imperial Valley Commons (Phase I) (e) El Centro, CA 610,966   11,471   19,802  Fall 2008/  8.1% 
         Summer 2009

Office:
CBL Center II Chattanooga, TN 74,598   17,120   10,711  January 2008 8.6%

Mixed-Use Center:
Pearland Town Center (Retail Portion) Pearland, TX 694,417   160,248   95,842  Fall 2008 7.4%
Pearland Town Center (Hotel Portion) Pearland, TX 72,500   17,886   2,882  Fall 2008 8.3%
Pearland Town Center  
 (Residential Portion) Pearland, TX 68,110   11,312   958  Fall 2008 8.4%
Pearland Town Center (Office Portion) Pearland, TX 51,560   9,385   316  Fall 2008 8.7%

Community/Open-Air Centers:
Alamance Crossing – Theater/Shops Burlington, NC 82,997   18,882   2,669  Spring 2008 8.4%
Statesboro Crossing (d) Statesboro, GA 162,450  20,465   4,956  Fall 2008 8.2%
Summit Fair (c) Lee’s Summit, MO 512,551   22,000   22,000  Fall 2008/ 9.6%  
         Summer 2009
Settlers Ridge (e) Robinson  
   Township, PA 515,444   119,146   31,137  Summer 2009 8.6%
    3,014,557  $ 427,597  $ 196,843 

(a)  Pro forma initial yields represented here may be lower than actual initial returns as they are reduced for management and development fees.

(b)  Total square footage includes redevelopment and expansion of 2,641 square feet.

(c)  CBL’s interest represents 27% of project cost.

(d)  50/50 joint venture.

(e)  60/40 joint venture. Amounts shown are 100% of total costs and cost to date as CBL has funded all costs to date. Costs to date are gross of applicable 
reimbursements.

(f)  50/50 joint venture. Amounts shown are 100% of total costs and cost to date as CBL has funded all costs to date.

(g)  Cost to date higher than total cost due to pending reimbursements for development costs from owned anchors and for outparcel sales.

(Dollars in thousands)

(Dollars in thousands)
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As of December 31, 2007, there were construction loans 
in place for the development costs of Milford Marketplace, 
Pearland Town Center, Settlers Ridge and CBL Center II. 
The remaining development costs will be funded with oper-
ating cash flows and the credit facilities.

We have entered into a number of option agreements 
for the development of future open-air centers, lifestyle 
 centers and community centers. In addition to the capital 
commitments to the projects listed above, subsequent to 
December 31, 2007, we entered into 50/50 joint venture 
agreements with The Benchmark Group of Amherst, NY, 
for the development of two open-air projects. The first is 
Hammock Landing, a 750,000-square-foot center in West 
Melbourne, FL. The second is The Pavilion at Port Orange, 
a 550,000-square-foot development in Port Orange, FL. 
Total development costs for both projects are estimated 
to be $294.1 million, and both developments are scheduled 
to open in 2009. We expect to fund the majority of the 
development costs for these projects through construction 
financing that is currently being negotiated.

Dispositions
We received a total of $69.0 million in net cash 

 proceeds from the sales of real estate assets during 2007, 
including the sales of Twin Peaks Mall and The Shops at 
Pineda Ridge, which are reported as discontinued opera-
tions, and the sales of 14 parcels of land.

Other Capital Expenditures
Including our share of unconsolidated affiliates’ capital 

expenditures, we spent $65.1 million in 2007 for tenant 
allowances, which will generate increased rents from ten-
ants over the terms of their leases. Deferred maintenance 
expenditures were $38.1 million for 2007 and included 
$7.9 million for resurfacing and improved lighting of parking 
lots, $22.0 million for roof repairs and replacements and 
$8.2 million for various other capital expenditures. 
Renovation expenditures were $41.4 million in 2007.

Deferred maintenance expenditures are billed to ten-
ants as common area maintenance expense, and most are 
recovered over a 5- to 15-year period. Renovation expendi-
tures are primarily for remodeling and upgrades of malls, of 
which approximately 30% is recovered from tenants over a 
5- to 15-year period. We are recovering these costs through 
fixed amounts with annual increases or pro rata cost reim-
bursements based on the tenant’s occupied space.

We expect to complete the renovation of two malls 
for a total estimated cost of $35.0 million and to redevelop 
space at an additional mall during 2008 at a total estimated 
cost of $14.7 million, which will be funded from operating 
cash flows and availability under our credit facilities. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

unconsolidated Affiliates
We have ownership interests in 15 unconsolidated 

 affiliates that are described in Note 5 to the consolidated 
financial statements. The unconsolidated affiliates are 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting 
and are reflected in the consolidated balance sheets as 
“Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates.” The following 
are circumstances when we may consider entering into a 
joint venture with a third party:

n Third parties may approach us with opportunities in 
which they have obtained land and performed some pre-
development activities, but they may not have sufficient 
access to the capital resources or the development and 
leasing expertise to bring the project to fruition. We enter 
into such arrangements when we determine such a proj-
ect is viable and we can achieve a satisfactory return on 
our investment. We typically earn development fees from 
the joint venture and provide management and leasing 
services to the property for a fee once the property is 
placed in operation.

n We determine that we may have the opportunity to 
 capitalize on the value we have created in a property by 
selling an interest in the property to a third party. This 
provides us with an additional source of capital that 
can be used to develop or acquire additional real estate 
assets that we believe will provide greater potential for 
growth. When we retain an interest in an asset rather than 
selling a 100% interest, it is typically because this allows 
us to continue to manage the property, which provides us 
the ability to earn fees for management, leasing, develop-
ment and financing services provided to the joint venture.

Guarantees
We may guarantee the debt of a joint venture primarily 

because it allows the joint venture to obtain funding at a 
lower cost than could be obtained otherwise. This results in 
a higher return for the joint venture on its investment, and a 
higher return on our investment in the joint venture. We 
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may receive a fee from the joint venture for providing the 
guaranty. Additionally, when we issue a guaranty, the terms 
of the joint venture agreement typically provide that we may 
receive indemnification from the joint venture.

We own a parcel of land that we are ground leasing 
to a third-party developer for the purpose of developing a 
shopping center. We have guaranteed 27% of the third par-
ty’s construction loan and bond line of credit (the “loans”) of 
which the maximum guaranteed amount is $31.6 million. The 
total amount outstanding at December 31, 2007 on the loans 
was $19.9 million of which we have guaranteed $5.4 million. 
We recorded an obligation of $0.3 million in our consoli-
dated balance sheet as of December 31, 2007 to reflect the 
estimated fair value of the guaranty.

We have guaranteed 50% of the debt of Parkway Place 
L.P., an unconsolidated affiliate in which we own a 45% inter-
est, which owns Parkway Place in Huntsville, AL. The total 
amount outstanding at December 31, 2007 was $53.2 million 
of which we have guaranteed $26.6 million. The guaranty 
will expire when the related debt matures in June 2008. 
However, there are extension options available on the debt 
and, if exercised, would extend the guaranty. We did not 
record an obligation for this guaranty because we deter-
mined that the fair value of the guaranty is not material.

We have guaranteed the performance of York Town 
Center, LP (“YTC”), an unconsolidated affiliate in which we 
own a 50% interest, under the terms of an agreement with 
a third party that owns property as part of York Town Center. 
Under the terms of that agreement, YTC is obligated to 
cause performance of the third party’s obligations as land-
lord under its lease with its sole tenant, including, but not 
limited to, provisions such as co-tenancy and exclusivity 
requirements. Should YTC fail to cause performance, then 
the tenant under the third-party landlord’s lease may pursue 
certain remedies ranging from rights to terminate its lease 
to receiving reductions in rent. We have guaranteed YTC’s 
performance under this agreement up to a maximum of 
$22.0 million, which decreases by $0.8 million annually 
until the guaranteed amount is reduced to $10.0 million. 
The guaranty expires on December 31, 2020. The maximum 
guaranteed obligation was $21.2 million as of December 31, 
2007. We entered into an agreement with our joint  venture 
partner under which the joint venture partner has agreed to 
reimburse us 50% of any amounts we are obligated to fund 

under the guaranty. We did not record an obligation for this 
guaranty because we determined that the fair value of the 
guaranty is not material.

Our guarantees and the related accounting are more fully 
described in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies
Our significant accounting policies are disclosed in 

Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The follow-
ing discussion describes our most critical accounting policies, 
which are those that are both important to the presentation 
of our financial condition and results of operations and that 
require significant judgment or use of complex estimates.

Revenue Recognition
Minimum rental revenue from operating leases is rec-

ognized on a straight-line basis over the initial terms of the 
related leases. Certain tenants are required to pay percent-
age rent if their sales volumes exceed thresholds specified 
in their lease agreements. Percentage rent is recognized as 
revenue when the thresholds are achieved and the amounts 
become determinable.

We receive reimbursements from tenants for real 
estate taxes, insurance, common area maintenance and 
other recoverable operating expenses as provided in the 
lease agreements. Tenant reimbursements are recognized 
as  revenue in the period the related operating expenses are 
incurred. Tenant reimbursements related to certain capital 
expenditures are billed to tenants over periods of 5 to 15 
years and are recognized as revenue when billed.

We receive management, leasing and development 
fees from third parties and unconsolidated affiliates. 
Management fees are charged as a percentage of revenues 
(as defined in the management agreement) and are recog-
nized as revenue when earned. Development fees are 
recognized as revenue on a pro rata basis over the develop-
ment period. Leasing fees are charged for newly executed 
leases and lease renewals and are recognized as revenue 
when earned. Development and leasing fees received from 
unconsolidated affiliates during the development period are 
recognized as revenue to the extent of the third-party part-
ners’ ownership interest. Fees to the extent of our ownership 
interest are recorded as a reduction to our investment in the 
unconsolidated affiliate.
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Gains on sales of real estate assets are recognized 
when it is determined that the sale has been consummated, 
the buyer’s initial and continuing investment is adequate, 
our receivable, if any, is not subject to future subordination 
and the buyer has assumed the usual risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset. When we have an ownership inter-
est in the buyer, gain is recognized to the extent of the 
third-party partner’s ownership interest and the portion of 
the gain attributable to our ownership interest is deferred.

Real Estate Assets
We capitalize predevelopment project costs paid to 

third parties. All previously capitalized predevelopment 
costs are expensed when it is no longer probable that the 
project will be completed. Once development of a project 
commences, all direct costs incurred to construct the proj-
ect, including interest and real estate taxes, are capitalized. 
Additionally, certain general and administrative expenses 
are allocated to the projects and capitalized based on the 
amount of time applicable personnel work on the develop-
ment project. Ordinary repairs and maintenance are expensed 
as incurred. Major replacements and improvements are capi-
talized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

All acquired real estate assets are accounted for using 
the purchase method of accounting and accordingly, the 
results of operations are included in the consolidated state-
ments of operations from the respective dates of 
acquisition. The purchase price is allocated to (i) tangible 
assets, consisting of land, buildings and improvements, as if 
vacant, and tenant improvements and (ii) identifiable intan-
gible assets and liabilities generally consisting of above- and 
below-market leases and in-place leases. We use estimates 
of fair value based on estimated cash flows, using appropri-
ate discount rates, and other valuation methods to allocate 
the purchase price to the acquired tangible and intangible 
assets. Liabilities assumed generally consist of mortgage 
debt on the real estate assets acquired. Assumed debt with 
a stated interest rate that is significantly different from mar-
ket interest rates is recorded at its fair value based on 
estimated market interest rates at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over 
estimated lives of 40 years for buildings, 10 to 20 years for 
certain improvements and 7 to 10 years for equipment and 
fixtures. Tenant improvements are capitalized and depreci-
ated on a straight-line basis over the term of the related 

lease. Lease-related intangibles from acquisitions of real 
estate assets are amortized over the remaining terms of the 
related leases. The amortization of above- and below-mar-
ket leases is recorded as an adjustment to minimum rental 
revenue, while the amortization of all other lease-related 
intangibles is recorded as amortization expense. Any differ-
ence between the face value of the debt assumed and its 
fair value is amortized to interest expense over the remain-
ing term of the debt using the effective interest method.

Carrying Value of long-lived Assets
We periodically evaluate long-lived assets to determine 

if there has been any impairment in their carrying values 
and record impairment losses if the undiscounted cash flows 
estimated to be generated by those assets are less than 
their carrying amounts or if there are other indicators of  
impairment. If it is determined that an impairment has 
occurred, the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its 
estimated fair value is charged to operations. We recorded 
losses on the impairment of real estate assets of $0.5 million 
and $1.3 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively, which are 
discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial state-
ments. No impairments were incurred during 2007.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards 

Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting 
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN 48”), which is effective 
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. FIN 48 
clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes rec-
ognized in the financial statements in accordance with FASB 
Statement No.109, Accounting for Income Taxes, by pre-
scribing the minimum recognition threshold a tax position 
is required to meet before being recognized in the financial 
statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecogni-
tion, measurement, classification, interest and penalties, 
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.

We adopted FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007 and have 
analyzed our various federal and state filing positions. Based 
on this evaluation, we believe that our accruals for income 
tax liabilities are adequate and, therefore, no reserves for 
uncertain income tax positions have been recorded pursu-
ant to FIN 48. Additionally, we did not record a cumulative 
effect adjustment related to the adoption of FIN 48.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157, Fair 
Value Measurements. SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, 
establishes a framework that clarifies the fair value measure-
ment objective within GAAP and its application under the 
various pronouncements that require or permit fair value 
measurements, and expands disclosures about fair value 
measurements. It is intended to increase consistency and 
comparability among fair value estimates used in financial 
reporting. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements 
issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, 
and interim periods within those fiscal years. The transition 
adjustment, which is measured as the difference between 
the carrying amount and the fair value of those financial 
instruments at the date SFAS No. 157 is initially applied, 
should be recognized as a cumulative effect adjustment to 
the opening balance of retained earnings for the fiscal year 
in which SFAS No. 157 is initially applied. We are currently 
evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 157 on our 
financial position and results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, 
The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities. SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to mea-
sure many financial instruments and certain other items at 
fair value that are not currently required to be measured at 
fair value. SFAS No. 109 also establishes presentation and 
disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons 
between entities that choose different measurement attri-
butes for similar types of assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 
is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2007, although early applica-
tion is allowed. We are currently evaluating the impact of 
adopting SFAS No. 159 on our financial position and results 
of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), 
Business Combinations, which changes certain aspects of 
current business combination accounting. SFAS No. 141(R) 
requires, among other things, that entities generally recog-
nize 100% of the fair values of assets acquired, liabilities 
assumed, and noncontrolling interests in acquisitions of 
less than a 100% controlling interest when the acquisition 
constitutes a change in control of the acquired entity. Shares 
issued as consideration for a business combination are to 
be measured at fair value on the acquisition date and con-
tingent consideration arrangements are to be recognized at 

their fair values on the date of acquisition, with subsequent 
changes in fair value generally reflected in earnings. 
Preacquisition gain and loss contingencies are to generally 
be recognized at their fair values on the acquisition date 
and any acquisition-related transaction costs are to be 
expensed as incurred. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for busi-
ness combination transactions for which the acquisition date 
is in a fiscal year beginning on or after December 15, 2008. 
The adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) is not expected to have a 
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, 
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial State-
ments, an Amendment of ARB No. 51, which requires that 
a noncontrolling interest in a consolidated subsidiary be 
 displayed in the consolidated statement of financial position 
as a separate component of equity. After control is obtained, 
a change in ownership interests that does not result in a loss 
of control should be accounted for as an equity transaction. 
A change in ownership of a consolidated subsidiary that 
results in a loss of control and deconsolidation is a signifi-
cant event that triggers gain or loss recognition, with the 
establishment of a new fair value basis in any remaining 
ownership interests. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We are currently 
evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 160 on our 
financial position and results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133 
Implementation Issue No. E23 (“Issue No. E23”), which pro-
vides further clarification for determining when the use of 
the short-cut method is appropriate. The implementation 
guidance in this issue is effective for hedging relationships 
designated on or after January 1, 2008. The adoption of 
Issue No. E23 is not expected to have a material impact on 
our consolidated financial statements.

Impact of Inflation
During 2007, the inflation rate rose to 4.1%, primarily 

related to increases in food and energy costs. Substantially 
all tenant leases do, however, contain provisions designed 
to protect us from the impact of inflation. These provisions 
include clauses enabling us to receive percentage rent 
based on tenants’ gross sales, which generally increase 
as prices rise, and/or escalation clauses, which generally 
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increase rental rates during the terms of the leases. In addi-
tion, many of the leases are for terms of less than ten years 
which may provide us the opportunity to replace existing 
leases with new leases at higher base and/or percentage 
rent if rents of the existing leases are below the then exist-
ing market rate. Most of the leases require the tenants 
to pay their share of, or a fixed amount subject to annual 
increases for, operating expenses, including common area 
maintenance, real estate taxes, insurance and certain capital 
expenditures, which reduces our exposure to increases in 
costs and operating expenses resulting from inflation.

Funds From Operations
Funds From Operations (“FFO”) is a widely used mea-

sure of the operating performance of real estate companies 
that supplements net income determined in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). 
The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts 
(“NAREIT”) defines FFO as net income (computed in accor-
dance with GAAP) excluding gains or losses on sales of 
operating properties, plus depreciation and amortization, 
and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships 
and joint ventures and minority interests. Adjustments for 
unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures and minority 
interests are calculated on the same basis. We define FFO 
allocable to common shareholders as defined above by 
NAREIT less dividends on preferred stock. Our method of 
calculating FFO allocable to common shareholders may be 
different from methods used by other REITs and, accord-
ingly, may not be comparable to such other REITs.

We believe that FFO provides an additional indicator of 
the operating performance of our Properties without giving 
effect to real estate depreciation and amortization, which 
assumes the value of real estate assets declines predictably 
over time. Since values of well-maintained real estate assets 
have historically risen with market conditions, we believe 
that FFO enhances investors’ understanding of our operating 
performance. The use of FFO as an indicator of financial per-
formance is influenced not only by the operations of our 
Properties and interest rates, but also by our capital structure. 

We present both FFO of our operating partnership and 
FFO allocable to common shareholders, as we believe that 

both are useful performance measures. We believe FFO of 
our operating partnership is a useful performance measure 
since we conduct substantially all of our business through 
our operating partnership and, therefore, it reflects the per-
formance of the Properties in absolute terms regardless of 
the ratio of ownership interests of our common shareholders 
and the minority interest in our operating partnership. We 
believe FFO allocable to common shareholders is a useful 
performance measure because it is the performance mea-
sure that is most directly comparable to net income 
available to common shareholders.

In our reconciliation of net income available to common 
shareholders to FFO allocable to common shareholders 
that is presented below, we make an adjustment to add 
back minority interest in earnings of our operating partner-
ship in order to arrive at FFO of our operating partnership. 
We then apply a percentage to FFO of our operating part-
nership to arrive at FFO allocable to common shareholders. 
The percentage is computed by taking the weighted aver-
age number of common shares outstanding for the period 
and dividing it by the sum of the weighted average number 
of common shares and the weighted average number of 
operating partnership units outstanding during the period.

FFO does not represent cash flows from operations as 
defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States, is not necessarily indicative of cash available 
to fund all cash flow needs and should not be considered 
as an alternative to net income for purposes of evaluating 
our operating performance or to cash flow as a measure 
of liquidity.

FFO of the Operating Partnership decreased to 
$361.5 million in 2007 compared to $390.1 million in 
2006. FFO of the Operating Partnership in 2007 included 
an $18.5 million write-down for marketable real estate 
 securities. The decline in FFO for the year was primarily the 
result of the $18.5 million securities write-down, lower gains 
from outparcel sales and lower lease termination fees. The 
write-off of the direct issuance costs during the year related 
to the redemption of our Series B preferred stock also 
impacted FFO. No comparable charges were incurred in 
the prior year.
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The reconciliation of FFO to net income available to common shareholders is as follows (in thousands): 
 Year Ended December 31,

    2007 2006 2005

Net income available to common shareholders      $ 59,372  $ 86,933  $ 131,907 
Minority interest in earnings of operating partnership      46,246   70,323   112,061 
Depreciation and amortization expense of:
 Consolidated properties         243,790   228,531   178,163 
 Unconsolidated affiliates         17,326   13,405   9,210 
 Discontinued operations         1,029   2,307   3,348 
 Non-real estate assets         (919)   (851)   (861)
Minority investors’ share of depreciation and amortization      (132)   (2,286)   (1,390)
(Gain) loss on:
 Sales of operating real estate assets        –   119    (42,562)
 Discontinued operations          (6,056)   (8,392)  82 
Income tax provision on disposal of discontinued operations     872   –   – 
Funds from operations of the operating partnership      361,528   390,089   389,958 
Percentage allocable to Company shareholders (1)      56.32%  55.32%  54.81%
Funds from operations allocable to Company shareholders    $ 203,613  $  215,797  $  213,736 

(1)  Represents the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period divided by the sum of the weighted average number of common 
shares and the weighted average number of operating partnership units outstanding during the period. 
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Management of CBL & Associates Properties, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company”) is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting is a process designed under the supervision of the Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial 
statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

Management recognizes that there are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of internal control over financial report-
ing, including the potential for human error or the circumvention or overriding of internal controls. Accordingly, even effective 
internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance with respect to financial statement preparation. 
Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis 
by internal control over financial reporting. In addition, any projection of the evaluation of effectiveness to future periods is 
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the polices or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
based on the framework established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and concluded that, as of December 31, 2007, the Company maintained effec-
tive internal control over financial reporting. 

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, has issued their attestation report, 
which is included below, on our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. 
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
CBL & Associates Properties, Inc.:

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of CBL & Associates Properties, Inc. (the “Company”) as 
of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, 
included in the accompanying Report of Management on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understand-
ing of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as 
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s 
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s 
board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to 
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures 
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and 
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition 
of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or  -
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected 
on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to 
future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007 of the Company and our 
report dated February 28, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and includes explanatory 
paragraphs regarding the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, on 
January 1, 2006 and the adoption of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year 
Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, on December 31, 2006.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 28, 2008

RepoRt oF independent RegiSteRed public accounting FiRM
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
CBL & Associates Properties, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CBL & Associates Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries 
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ 
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These financial statements are  
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements  
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe 
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
CBL & Associates Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting  principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

As described in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, effective January 1, 2006, utilizing the modified prospective appli-
cation transition method.

As described in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 
108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, 
effective December 31, 2006, and recorded a cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2006. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the 
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission and our report dated February 28, 2008, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 28, 2008



2007 ANNUAL REPORT 49

 December 31, 

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2007 2006

ASSETS

Real estate assets: 

 Land    $ 917,578 $ 779,727

 Buildings and improvements     7,263,907  5,944,476

       8,181,485  6,724,203

 Accumulated depreciation     (1,102,767)  (924,297)

       7,078,718  5,799,906

 Developments in progress     323,560  294,345

   Net investment in real estate assets    7,402,278  6,094,251

Cash and cash equivalents     65,826  28,700

Receivables: 

 Tenant, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,126 in 2007 and $1,128 in 2006   72,570  71,573

 Other     10,257  9,656

Mortgage notes receivable     135,137  21,559

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates     142,550  78,826

Intangible lease assets and other assets     276,429  214,245

      $ 8,105,047 $ 6,518,810

lIABIlITIES AND ShAREhOlDERS’ EquITY 

Mortgage and other notes payable    $ 5,869,318 $ 4,564,535

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     394,884  309,969

  Total liabilities     6,264,202  4,874,504

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3, 5 and 15)

Minority interests     920,297  559,450

Shareholders’ equity: 

 Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 15,000,000 shares authorized: 

  8.75% Series B cumulative redeemable preferred stock,  
   2,000,000 shares outstanding in 2006     –   20

  7.75% Series C cumulative redeemable preferred stock,  
   460,000 shares outstanding in 2007 and 2006     5  5

  7.375% Series D cumulative redeemable preferred stock,  
   700,000 shares outstanding in 2007 and 2006    7  7

 Common stock, $.01 par value, 180,000,000 shares authorized,  
  66,179,747 and 65,421,311 shares issued and outstanding in 2007  
  and 2006, respectively    662  654

Additional paid-in capital     990,048  1,074,450

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    (20)  19

Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)    (70,154)  9,701

  Total shareholders’ equity     920,548  1,084,856

      $ 8,105,047 $ 6,518,810

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these balance sheets.

conSolidated balance SheetS
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 Year Ended December 31, 

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2007 2006 2005

REVENuES: 

 Minimum rents  $ 646,383 $ 616,147 $ 544,321

 Percentage rents   22,472   23,825    22,846 

 Other rents   23,121   20,061    17,387 

 Tenant reimbursements   318,808   307,037  275,868 

 Management, development and leasing fees   7,983  5,067   20,521 

 Other   21,860   23,365   19,476 

  Total revenues    1,040,627   995,502  900,419 

ExPENSES: 

 Property operating    169,688   159,827  149,507 

 Depreciation and amortization   243,790    228,531  178,163 

 Real estate taxes   87,610   80,316    67,341 

 Maintenance and repairs   58,145   54,153    49,952 

 General and administrative   37,852   39,522    39,197 

 Impairment of real estate assets  –    480   1,334 

 Other   18,525   18,623    15,444 

  Total expenses   615,610    581,452  500,938 

Income from operations    425,017    414,050  399,481 

Interest and other income   10,923  9,084   6,831 

Interest expense   (287,884)  (257,067)  (208,183)

Loss on extinguishment of debt   (227)   (935)   (6,171)

Impairment of marketable securities  (18,456)  –  – 

Gain on sales of real estate assets   15,570   14,505    53,583 

Gain on sale of management contracts  –    –    21,619 

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates    3,502  5,295   8,495 

Income tax provision   (8,390)  (5,902)  – 

Minority interest in earnings:

 Operating Partnership   (46,246)   (70,323)  (112,061)

 Shopping center properties  (12,215)  (4,136)   (4,879)

Income from continuing operations   81,594    104,571  158,715 

Operating income of discontinued operations   1,497  4,538   3,842 

Gain (loss) on discontinued operations    6,056  8,392    (82)

Net income   89,147    117,501  162,475 

Preferred dividends   (29,775)   (30,568)  (30,568)

Net income available to common shareholders  $ 59,372 $ 86,933 $ 131,907

Basic per share data: 

 Income from continuing operations, net of preferred dividends  $ 0.79 $ 1.16 $ 2.04

 Discontinued operations   0.12  0.20  0.06

 Net income available to common shareholders  $ 0.91 $ 1.36 $ 2.10

 Weighted average common shares outstanding   65,323  63,885  62,721

Diluted per share data: 

 Income from continuing operations, net of preferred dividends  $ 0.79 $ 1.13 $ 1.98

 Discontinued operations   0.11  0.20  0.05

 Net income available to common shareholders  $ 0.90 $ 1.33 $ 2.03

 Weighted average common and potential dilutive  
  common shares outstanding   65,913  65,269  64,880

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

conSolidated StateMentS oF opeRationS
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     Accumulated Retained   
   Additional  Other Earnings 
 Preferred Common Paid-in Deferred Comprehensive (Accumulated 
(In thousands, except share data) Stock Stock Capital Compensation Income (Loss) Deficit) Total

Balance, December 31, 2004  $ 32 $ 627 $ 1,025,478  ($3,081) $ –  $ 31,095 $ 1,054,151
 Net income  –   –   –  –  –  162,475    162,475 
 Net unrealized gain on  
  available-for-sale securities  –  –   –  –  288   –   288 
   Total comprehensive income              162,763 
 Dividends declared – common stock   –  –  –  –  –   (111,294)   (111,294)
 Dividends declared – preferred stock   –  –   –  –  –   (30,568)   (30,568)
 Additional costs of issuing 700,000 shares of  
  Series D preferred stock  –  –   (193)  –  –  –   (193)
 Issuance of 230,041 shares of common stock  
  and restricted common stock  –  2    9,011    (7,896)  –  –  1,117 
 Repurchase of 1,371,034 shares of  
  common stock  –  (14)   (54,984)  –  –  –   (54,998)
 Exercise of stock options  –   8   9,733   –  –  –  9,741 
 Accelerated vesting of share-based  
  compensation  –  –   480   256   –  –   736 
 Accrual under deferred compensation  
  arrangements  –  –   780   –  –  –   780 
 Issuance of stock under deferred  
  compensation arrangement  –   2   (2)  –  –  –  –
 Amortization of deferred compensation  –  –  –  1,826   –  –  1,826 
 Conversion of Operating Partnership units  
  into 52,136 shares of common stock  –  –   10,304   –  –  –   10,304 
 Adjustment for minority interest in  
  Operating Partnership  –  –   37,157   –  –  –   37,157 
Balance, December 31, 2005 –  
 as previously reported   32    625    1,037,764    (8,895)  288   51,708   1,081,522 
  Cumulative effect of adjustments resulting  
   from the adoption of SAB No. 108  –  –  9,696   –  –   (7,262)  2,434 
  Adjustments for minority interest in  
   Operating Partnership  –  –   (2,036)  –  –  –   (2,036)
Balance, January 1, 2006 – as adjusted   32    625    1,045,424    (8,895)  288   44,446   1,081,920 
 Net income  –  –  –  –  –  117,501    117,501 
 Realized gain on available-for-sale securities  –  –  –  –   (1,073)  –   (1,073)
 Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities  –  –  –  –  804   –   804 
   Total comprehensive income               117,232 
 Dividends declared – common stock   –  –  –  –  –   (121,678)  (121,678)
 Dividends declared – preferred stock   –  –  –  –  –   (30,568)   (30,568)
 Reclassification of deferred compensation  
  upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)  –  –   (8,895)  8,895   –  –  –
 Issuance of 244,472 shares of common stock  
  and restricted common stock  –   2   2,721   –  –  –  2,723 
 Cancellation of 34,741 shares of restricted  
  common stock  –  –  (1,154)  –  –  –  (1,154)
 Exercise of stock options  –   7   8,915   –  –  –  8,922 
 Accrual under deferred compensation  
  arrangements  –  –  93   –  –  –  93 
 Amortization of deferred compensation  –  –  3,987   –  –  –  3,987 
 Income tax benefit from stock-based  
  compensation  –  –   3,181   –  –  –   3,181 
 Conversion of Operating Partnership units into 
   1,979,644 shares of common stock  –  20   21,963  –  –  –  21,983 
 Adjustment for minority interest in  
  Operating Partnership  –  –   (1,785)  –  –  –   (1,785)
Balance, December 31, 2006 $ 32  $ 654 $ 1,074,450 $ – $ 19 $ 9,701 $ 1,084,856 

Table continued on page 52.

conSolidated StateMentS oF ShaReholdeRS’ equity
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conSolidated StateMentS oF ShaReholdeRS’ equity (continued)

     Accumulated Retained   
   Additional  Other Earnings 
 Preferred Common Paid-in Deferred Comprehensive (Accumulated 
(In thousands, except share data) Stock Stock Capital Compensation Income (Loss) Deficit) Total

Balance, December 31, 2006 $ 32 $ 654   $1,074,450  $ – $ 19  $ 9,701  $1,084,856 
 Net income  –  –  –  –  –  89,147   89,147 
 Net unrealized loss on available-for-sale  
  securities  –  –  –  –  (18,495)  –  (18,495)
 Impairment of marketable securities  –  –  –  –  18,456  –  18,456 
   Total comprehensive income              89,108 
 Dividends declared – common stock   –  –  –  –  –   (135,672)  (135,672)
 Dividends declared – preferred stock   –  –  –  –  –  (26,145)  (26,145)
 Repurchase of 148,500 shares of  
  common stock  –  (1)  (1,612)  –  –  (3,555)  (5,168)
 Redemption of 8.75% Series B Cumulative  
  Redeemable Stock  (20)  –  (96,350)  –  –  (3,630)  (100,000)
 Issuance of 98,349 shares of common stock  
  and restricted common stock  –   1   3,486   –  –  –  3,487 
 Cancellation of 42,611 shares of  
  restricted common stock  –  –   (1,245)  –  –  –  (1,245)
 Exercise of stock options  –  8   11,359   –  –  –  11,367 
 Accrual under deferred compensation  
  arrangements  –  –  51   –  –  –   51 
 Amortization of deferred compensation  –  –  3,639   –  –  –  3,639 
 Income tax benefit from stock-based  
  compensation  –  –  5,631   –  –  –   5,631 
 Adjustment for minority interest in  
  Operating Partnership  –  –   (9,361)  –  –  –  (9,361)

Balance, December 31, 2007 $ 12  $ 662   $ 990,048  $ – $  (20) $ (70,154) $ 920,548 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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conSolidated StateMentS oF caSh FlowS

 Year Ended December 31, 

(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005

CASh FlOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
Net income  $ 89,147  $  117,501  $  162,475 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
 Minority interest in earnings   58,461  74,459  116,940 
 Depreciation   159,823   141,750   133,834 
 Amortization   92,266   96,111   55,381 
 Net amortization of above and below market leases  (10,584)  (12,581)  (6,434)
 Amortization of debt premiums  (7,714)  (7,501)  (7,347)
 Gain on sales of real estate assets    (15,570)   (14,505)   (53,583)
 Impairment of marketable securities  18,456  –  –
 Realized gain on available-for-sale securities  –  (1,073)  –
 (Gain) loss on discontinued operations  (6,056)  (8,392)  82 
 Gain on sale of management contracts  –  –   (21,619)
 Share-based compensation expense  6,862  6,190   3,951 
 Income tax benefit from share-based compensation  9,104  5,750   –
 Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates  (3,502)  (5,295)  (8,495)
 Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated affiliates  9,450   12,285  7,347 
 Write-off of development projects   2,216  923  560 
 Loss on extinguishment of debt   227  935  6,171 
 Impairment of real estate assets  –  480  1,334 
 Changes in: 
  Tenant and other receivables  (3,827)  (20,083)  (9,879)
  Other assets   (1,787)  (2,788)  (1,116)
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   73,307  4,745   16,496 
   Net cash provided by operating activities   470,279  388,911    396,098 

CASh FlOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
Additions to real estate assets   (556,600)  (452,383)  (361,285)
Acquisitions of real estate assets and intangible lease assets  (376,444)  –  (426,537)
Proceeds from sales of real estate assets   68,620  127,117   64,350 
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities  –  2,507  –
Purchases of available-for-sale securities   (24,325)   (15,464)  –
Proceeds from sale of management contracts  –  –  22,000 
Costs related to sale of management contracts  –  –  (381)
Additions to mortgage notes receivable    (102,933)  (300)  (859)
Payments received on mortgage notes receivable    4,617   224   13,173 
Distributions in excess of equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates  18,519  16,852   15,523 
Additional investments in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates    (112,274)  (18,046)  (27,840)
Purchase of minority interests in shopping center properties  (8,007)  –  –
Purchase of minority interests in the Operating Partnership  (9,502)  (3,610)  (2,172)
Changes in other assets   (4,792)  (4,136)   (10,652)
   Net cash used in investing activities   (1,103,121)   (347,239)   (714,680)

CASh FlOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
Proceeds from mortgage and other notes payable   1,354,516   1,007,073    946,825 
Principal payments on mortgage and other notes payable   (305,356)  (776,092)   (353,806)
Additions to deferred financing costs   (8,579)  (5,588)  (3,407)
Prepayment fees to extinguish debt  (227)  (557)  (6,524)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock   315   361   508 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   11,367   8,922   9,741 
Income tax benefit from share-based compensation  (9,104)  (5,750)  –
Additional costs of preferred stock offerings  –  –  (193)
Repurchase of common stock  (5,168)  (6,706)  (48,292)
Redemption of preferred stock  (100,000)  –  –
Contributions from minority partners  5,493  –  –
Distributions to minority interests   (114,583)  (110,037)  (89,459)
Dividends paid to holders of preferred stock  (26,145)  (30,568)  (31,214)
Dividends paid to common shareholders  (132,561)  (122,868)  (102,525)
   Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   669,968  (41,810)  321,654 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   37,126  (138)  3,072 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   28,700  28,838   25,766 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 65,826 $ 28,700 $  28,838 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTE 1  |  ORGANIZATION

CBL & Associates Properties, Inc. (“CBL”), a Delaware corporation, is a self-managed, self-administered, fully-integrated 
real estate investment trust (“REIT”) that is engaged in the ownership, development, acquisition, leasing, management and 
operation of regional shopping malls, open-air centers and community shopping centers. CBL’s shopping center properties 
are located in 27 states, but are primarily in the southeastern and midwestern United States.

CBL conducts substantially all of its business through CBL & Associates Limited Partnership (the “Operating 
Partnership”). As of December 31, 2007, the Operating Partnership owned controlling interests in 75 regional malls/open-air 
centers, 28 associated centers (each located adjacent to a regional mall), 13 community centers and 13 office buildings, 
including CBL’s corporate office building. The Operating Partnership consolidates the financial statements of all entities in 
which it has a controlling financial interest or where it is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity. The Operating 
Partnership owned non-controlling interests in nine regional malls, four associated centers, two community centers and six 
office buildings. Because one or more of the other partners have substantive participating rights, the Operating Partnership 
does not control these partnerships and joint ventures and, accordingly, accounts for these investments using the equity 
method. The Operating Partnership had four mall expansions, two associated/lifestyle centers, three community centers, 
a mixed-use center and an office building under construction as of December 31, 2007. The Operating Partnership also 
holds options to acquire certain development properties owned by third parties.

CBL is the 100% owner of two qualified REIT subsidiaries, CBL Holdings I, Inc. and CBL Holdings II, Inc. At December 31, 
2007, CBL Holdings I, Inc., the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership, owned a 1.6% general partnership interest 
in the Operating Partnership and CBL Holdings II, Inc. owned a 55.1% limited partnership interest for a combined interest 
held by CBL of 56.7%.

The minority interest in the Operating Partnership is held primarily by CBL & Associates, Inc. and its affiliates (collectively 
“CBL’s Predecessor”) and by affiliates of The Richard E. Jacobs Group, Inc. (“Jacobs”). CBL’s Predecessor contributed their 
interests in certain real estate properties and joint ventures to the Operating Partnership in exchange for a limited partnership 
interest when the Operating Partnership was formed in November 1993. Jacobs contributed their interests in certain real 
estate properties and joint ventures to the Operating Partnership in exchange for limited partner interests when the Operating 
Partnership acquired the majority of Jacobs’ interests in 23 properties in January 2001 and the balance of such interests in 
February 2002. At December 31, 2007, CBL’s Predecessor owned a 15.0% limited partner interest, Jacobs owned a 19.6% 
limited partner interest and various third parties owned an 8.7% limited partner interest in the Operating Partnership. CBL’s 
Predecessor also owned 6.5 million shares of CBL’s common stock at December 31, 2007, for a combined effective interest 
of 20.5% in the Operating Partnership.

The Operating Partnership conducts CBL’s property management and development activities through CBL & Associates 
Management, Inc. (the “Management Company”) to comply with certain requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 
as amended (the “Code”). The Operating Partnership owns 100% of both of the Management Company’s preferred stock 
and common stock. 

CBL, the Operating Partnership and the Management Company are collectively referred to herein as “the Company.” 

noteS TO CONSOlIDATED FINANCIAl STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)
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NOTE 2  |  SuMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOuNTING POlICIES

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Material intercompany transactions 
have been eliminated. 

Certain historical amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. The financial results of 
certain properties are reported as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements. Except where noted, 
the information presented in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements excludes discontinued operations. See 
Note 4 for further discussion.

Real Estate Assets
The Company capitalizes predevelopment project costs paid to third parties. All previously capitalized predevelopment 

costs are expensed when it is no longer probable that the project will be completed. Once development of a project com-
mences, all direct costs incurred to construct the project, including interest and real estate taxes, are capitalized. Additionally, 
certain general and administrative expenses are allocated to the projects and capitalized based on the amount of time appli-
cable personnel work on the development project. Ordinary repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Major 
replacements and improvements are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

All acquired real estate assets have been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and accordingly, 
the results of operations are included in the consolidated statements of operations from the respective dates of acquisition. 
The Company allocates the purchase price to (i) tangible assets, consisting of land, buildings and improvements, as if vacant, 
and tenant improvements, and (ii) identifiable intangible assets and liabilities, generally consisting of above-market leases,   
in-place leases and tenant relationships, which are included in other assets, and below-market leases, which are included 
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The Company uses estimates of fair value based on estimated cash flows, using 
appropriate discount rates, and other valuation techniques to allocate the purchase price to the acquired tangible and intan-
gible assets. Liabilities assumed generally consist of mortgage debt on the real estate assets acquired. Assumed debt is 
recorded at its fair value based on estimated market interest rates at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over estimated lives of 40 years for buildings, 10 to 20 years for cer-
tain improvements and 7 to 10 years for equipment and fixtures. Tenant improvements are capitalized and depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the related lease. Lease-related intangibles from acquisitions of real estate assets are 
amortized over the remaining terms of the related leases. The amortization of above- and below-market leases is recorded as 
an adjustment to minimum rental revenue, while the amortization of all other lease-related intangibles is recorded as amorti-
zation expense. Any difference between the face value of the debt assumed and its fair value is amortized to interest expense 
over the remaining term of the debt using the effective interest method.

The Company’s acquired intangibles and their balance sheet classifications as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, are sum-
marized as follows: 

 December 31, 2007  December 31, 2006

  Accumulated  Accumulated 
 Cost Amortization Cost Amortization

Other assets: 
 Above-market leases $ 79,566  $ (18,337) $ 40,509  $ (11,579)
 In-place leases  98,315  (38,725)  69,615  (28,941)
 Tenant relationships  49,796  (4,462)  49,796  (2,320)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
 Below-market leases  122,367  (42,751)  86,736  (31,386)
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These intangible assets are related to specific tenant leases. Should a termination occur earlier than the date indicated 
in the lease, the related intangible assets or liabilities, if any, related to the lease are recorded as expense or income, as appli-
cable. The total net amortization expense of the above acquired intangibles was $4,387, $6,570 and $3,630 in 2007, 2006 
and 2005, respectively. The estimated total net amortization expense for the next five succeeding years is $9,538 in 2008, 
$7,195 in 2009, $6,666 in 2010, $5,685 in 2011 and $5,355 in 2012.

Total interest expense capitalized was $15,414, $11,504 and $8,385 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Carrying Value of long-lived Assets
The Company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used when events or changes in circum-

stances warrant such a review. The carrying value of a long-lived asset is considered impaired when its estimated future 
undiscounted cash flows are less than its carrying value. If it is determined that an impairment has occurred, the excess of 
the asset’s carrying value over its estimated fair value is charged to operations. 

During 2006, the Company recognized a loss of $274 on the sale of two community centers and a loss of $206 on the 
sale of land. The aggregate loss of $480 was recorded as a loss on impairment of real estate assets.

The Company determined that two community centers met the criteria to be reflected as held for sale as of December 31, 
2005 and recognized a loss on impairment of $1,029. 

In January 2005, the Company completed the third phase of the Galileo America joint venture transaction discussed 
in Note 5. A loss had been recorded in 2004 to reduce the carrying value of the related assets to their estimated fair values. 
The Company recognized an additional impairment loss on this transaction of $262 in the first quarter of 2005 when the esti-
mated amounts from 2004 were adjusted to actual.

The Company sold a community center in October 2005 and recorded a loss on impairment of $43.
There were no impairment losses on real estate assets during 2007.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less as cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash
Restricted cash of $35,370 and $34,814 was included in other assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Restricted cash consists primarily of cash held in escrow accounts for debt service, insurance, real estate taxes, capital 
improvements and deferred maintenance as required by the terms of certain mortgage notes payable, as well as contribu-
tions from tenants to be used for future marketing activities.

Joint Ventures
Initial investments in joint ventures that are in economic substance a capital contribution to the joint venture are 

recorded in an amount equal to the Company’s historical carryover basis in the real estate contributed. Initial investments in 
joint ventures that are in economic substance the sale of a portion of the Company’s interest in the real estate are accounted 
for as a contribution of real estate recorded in an amount equal to the Company’s historical carryover basis in the ownership 
percentage retained and as a sale of real estate with profit recognized to the extent of the other joint venturers’ interests in 
the joint venture. Profit recognition assumes the Company has no commitment to reinvest with respect to the percentage 
of the real estate sold and the accounting requirements of the full accrual method under Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate, are met. 

The Company accounts for its investment in joint ventures where it owns a non-controlling interest or where it is not 
the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the 
Company’s cost of investment is adjusted for its share of equity in the earnings of the unconsolidated affiliate and reduced by 
distributions received. Generally, distributions of cash flows from operations and capital events are first made to partners to 
pay cumulative unpaid preferences on unreturned capital balances and then to the partners in accordance with the terms of 
the joint venture agreements. 
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Any differences between the cost of the Company’s investment in an unconsolidated affiliate and its underlying equity 
as reflected in the unconsolidated affiliate’s financial statements generally result from costs of the Company’s investment 
that are not reflected on the unconsolidated affiliate’s financial statements, capitalized interest on its investment and the 
Company’s share of development and leasing fees that are paid by the unconsolidated affiliate to the Company for develop-
ment and leasing services provided to the unconsolidated affiliate during any development periods. At December 31, 2007 
and 2006, the net difference between the Company’s investment in unconsolidated affiliates and the underlying equity of 
unconsolidated affiliates was $1,126 and $1,587, respectively, which is generally amortized over a period of 40 years.

Deferred Financing Costs
Net deferred financing costs of $14,989 and $11,881 were included in other assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 

respectively. Deferred financing costs include fees and costs incurred to obtain financing and are amortized on a straight-line 
basis to interest expense over the terms of the related notes payable. Amortization expense was $4,188, $4,178, and $5,031 
in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Accumulated amortization was $11,719 and $10,385 as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively.

Marketable Securities
Other assets include marketable securities consisting of corporate equity securities that are classified as available for sale. 

Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities that are deemed to be temporary in nature are recorded as a com-
ponent of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses are included in 
other income. Gains or losses on securities sold are based on the specific identification method. 

If a decline in the value of an investment is deemed to be other than temporary, the investment is written down to fair 
value and an impairment loss is recognized in the current period to the extent of the decline in value. In determining when 
a decline in fair value below cost of an investment in marketable securities is other than temporary, the following factors, 
among others, are evaluated: 

n  The probability of recovery.
n  The Company’s ability and intent to retain the security for a sufficient period of time for it to recover.
n  The significance of the decline in value.
n  The time period during which there has been a significant decline in value.
n  Current and future business prospects and trends of earnings.
n  Relevant industry conditions and trends relative to their historical cycles.
n  Market conditions.

During 2007, the Company recognized an other-than-temporary impairment of certain marketable real estate securities 
in the amount of $18,456 to write down the carrying value of the Company’s investment to its fair value of $21,333.

The following is a summary of the equity securities held by the Company as of December 31, 2007 and 2006: 

 Gross Unrealized

 Adjusted Cost Gains Losses Fair Value 

December 31, 2007 $ 21,388 $ 9 $  (29) $ 21,368 

December 31, 2006  16,597  24  (4)  16,617 
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Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company recognizes its derivative financial instruments as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance 

sheets and measures those instruments at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value (i.e., gain or loss) of a 
 derivative depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship, and further, on 
the type of hedging relationship. To qualify as a hedging instrument, a derivative must pass prescribed effectiveness tests, 
performed quarterly using both qualitative and quantitative methods. The Company entered into a derivative agreement 
effective December 31, 2007, that qualified as a hedging instrument and was designated, based upon the exposure being 
hedged, as a cash flow hedge. The fair value of the cash flow hedge as of December 31, 2007 was $0. To the extent it is 
effective, changes in the fair value of a cash flow hedge are reported in other comprehensive income (loss) and reclassified 
into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged item affects earnings. The ineffective portion of the 
hedge, if any, is recognized in current earnings during the period of change in fair value. The gain or loss on the termination 
of an effective cash flow hedge is reported in other comprehensive income (loss) and reclassified into earnings in the same 
period or periods during which the hedged item affects earnings. 

Revenue Recognition
Minimum rental revenue from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the initial terms of the related 

leases. Certain tenants are required to pay percentage rent if their sales volumes exceed thresholds specified in their lease 
agreements. Percentage rent is recognized as revenue when the thresholds are achieved and the amounts become determinable.

The Company receives reimbursements from tenants for real estate taxes, insurance, common area maintenance and 
other recoverable operating expenses as provided in the lease agreements. Tenant reimbursements are recognized as rev-
enue in the period the related operating expenses are incurred. Tenant reimbursements related to certain capital expenditures 
are billed to tenants over periods of 5 to 15 years and are recognized as revenue when billed.

The Company receives management, leasing and development fees from third parties and unconsolidated affiliates. 
Management fees are charged as a percentage of revenues (as defined in the management agreement) and are recognized 
as revenue when earned. Development fees are recognized as revenue on a pro rata basis over the development period. 
Leasing fees are charged for newly executed leases and lease renewals and are recognized as revenue when earned. 
Development and leasing fees received from unconsolidated affiliates during the development period are recognized as 
 revenue only to the extent of the third-party partners’ ownership interest. Development and leasing fees during the develop-
ment period to the extent of the Company’s ownership interest are recorded as a reduction to the Company’s investment 
in the unconsolidated affiliate.

Gain on Sales of Real Estate Assets
Gains on sales of real estate assets are recognized when it is determined that the sale has been consummated, the buy-

er’s initial and continuing investment is adequate, the Company’s receivable, if any, is not subject to future subordination and 
the buyer has assumed the usual risks and rewards of ownership of the asset. When the Company has an ownership interest 
in the buyer, gain is recognized to the extent of the third-party partner’s ownership interest and the portion of the gain attrib-
utable to the Company’s ownership interest is deferred.

Income Taxes
The Company is qualified as a REIT under the provisions of the Code. To maintain qualification as a REIT, the Company 

is required to distribute at least 90% of its taxable income to shareholders and meet certain other requirements.
As a REIT, the Company is generally not liable for federal corporate income taxes. If the Company fails to qualify as a 

REIT in any taxable year, the Company will be subject to federal and state income taxes on its taxable income at regular cor-
porate tax rates. Even if the Company maintains its qualification as a REIT, the Company may be subject to certain state and 
local taxes on its income and property, and to federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income. State income 
taxes were not material in 2007, 2006 and 2005.
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The Company has also elected taxable REIT subsidiary status for some of its subsidiaries. This enables the Company to 
receive income and provide services that would otherwise be impermissible for REITs. For these entities, deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are established for temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of assets and 
liabilities at the enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences reverse. A valuation allowance 
for deferred tax assets is provided if the Company believes all or some portion of the deferred tax asset may not be realized. 
An increase or decrease in the valuation allowance that results from the change in circumstances that causes a change in 
our judgment about the realizability of the related deferred tax asset is included in income or expense, as applicable. The 
Company recorded an income tax provision of $8,390, $5,902 and $0 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The income tax 
provision in 2007 and 2006 consisted of a current income tax provision of $9,099 and $5,751, respectively, and a deferred 
income tax provision (benefit) of $(709) and $151, respectively.

The Company had a net deferred tax asset of $4,332 and $4,291 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The net 
deferred tax asset at December 31, 2007 and 2006 is included in other assets and primarily consisted of operating expense 
accruals and differences between book and tax depreciation. 

Concentration of Credit Risk
The Company’s tenants include national, regional and local retailers. Financial instruments that subject the Company 

to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of tenant receivables. The Company generally does not obtain collateral 
or other security to support financial instruments subject to credit risk, but monitors the credit standing of tenants.

The Company derives a substantial portion of its rental income from various national and regional retail companies; 
 however, no single tenant collectively accounted for more than 5.0% of the Company’s total revenues in 2007, 2006 or 2005.

Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted 

average number of unrestricted common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS assumes the issuance of common 
stock for all potential dilutive common shares outstanding. The limited partners’ rights to convert their minority interest in the 
Operating Partnership into shares of common stock are not dilutive (Note 9). The following summarizes the impact of poten-
tial dilutive common shares on the denominator used to compute earnings per share: 

 Year Ended December 31,  

 2007 2006 2005 

Weighted average common shares  65,713   64,225  63,004
Effect of nonvested stock awards   (390)  (340)  (283)
Denominator – basic earnings per share  65,323   63,885  62,721 
Dilutive effect of:  
 Stock options  456  1,189  1,741 
 Nonvested stock awards  94  138  223 
 Deemed shares related to deferred  
  compensation arrangements  40  57  195 
Denominator – diluted earnings per share  65,913   65,269  64,880 

Comprehensive Income (loss)
Comprehensive income includes all changes in shareholders’ equity during the period, except those resulting from 

investments by shareholders and distributions to shareholders. Other comprehensive income (loss) for all periods presented 
represents unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities.
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use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assump-

tions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty 

in Income Taxes (“FIN 48”), which was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. FIN 48 clarifies the 
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement 
No.109, Accounting for Income Taxes, by prescribing the minimum recognition threshold a tax position is required to meet 
before being recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classifi-
cation, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.

The Company adopted FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007 and has analyzed its various federal and state filing positions. Based 
on this evaluation, the Company believes that its accruals for income tax liabilities are adequate and, therefore, no reserves 
for uncertain income tax positions have been recorded pursuant to FIN 48. Additionally, the Company did not record a cumu-
lative effect adjustment related to the adoption of FIN 48.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, estab-
lishes a framework that clarifies the fair value measurement objective within GAAP and its application under the various 
pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. 
It is intended to increase consistency and comparability among fair value estimates used in financial reporting. SFAS No. 157 
is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within 
those fiscal years. The transition adjustment, which is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the fair 
value of those financial instruments at the date SFAS No. 157 is initially applied, should be recognized as a cumulative effect 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings for the fiscal year in which SFAS No. 157 is initially applied. The 
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 157 on its financial position and results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. 
SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are 
not currently required to be measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements 
designed to facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets 
and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, 
although early application is allowed. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 159 on its finan-
cial position and results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations, which changes certain aspects of current 
business combination accounting. SFAS No. 141(R) requires, among other things, that entities generally recognize 100 percent 
of the fair values of assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and non-controlling interests in acquisitions of less than a 100 percent 
controlling interest when the acquisition constitutes a change in control of the acquired entity. Shares issued as consideration 
for a business combination are to be measured at fair value on the acquisition date and contingent consideration arrangements 
are to be recognized at their fair values on the date of acquisition, with subsequent changes in fair value generally reflected in 
earnings. Pre-acquisition gain and loss contingencies are to generally be recognized at their fair values on the acquisition date 
and any acquisition-related transaction costs are to be expensed as incurred. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for business combina-
tion transactions for which the acquisition date is in a fiscal year beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The adoption of 
SFAS No. 141(R) is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an 
Amendment of ARB No. 51, which requires that a noncontrolling interest in a consolidated subsidiary be displayed in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as a separate component of equity. After control is obtained, a change in owner-
ship interests that does not result in a loss of control should be accounted for as an equity transaction. A change in ownership 
of a consolidated subsidiary that results in a loss of control and deconsolidation is a significant event that triggers gain or loss 
recognition, with the establishment of a new fair value basis in any remaining ownership interests. SFAS No. 160 is effective 
for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 
No. 160 on its financial position and results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133 Implementation Issue No. E23 (“Issue No. E23”), which provides 
 further clarification for determining when the use of the short-cut method is appropriate. The implementation guidance in 
this issue is effective for hedging relationships designated on or after January 1, 2008. The adoption of Issue No. E23 is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission’s staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 108, 
Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements. 
SAB No. 108 requires companies to evaluate the materiality of identified unadjusted errors on each financial statement and 
related financial statement disclosure using both the rollover approach and the iron curtain approach, as those terms are 
defined in SAB No. 108. The rollover approach quantifies misstatements based on the amount of the error in the current 
year financial statements, whereas the iron curtain approach quantifies misstatements based on the effects of correcting the 
misstatement existing in the balance sheet at the end of the current year, irrespective of the misstatement’s year(s) of origin. 
Financial statements would require adjustment when either approach results in quantifying a misstatement that is material. 
Correcting prior year financial statements for immaterial errors would not require previously filed reports to be amended. 
If a company determines that an adjustment to prior year financial statements is required upon adoption of SAB No. 108 
and does not elect to restate its previous financial statements, then it must recognize the cumulative effect of applying SAB 
No. 108 in fiscal 2006 beginning balances of the affected assets and liabilities with a corresponding adjustment to the fiscal 
2006 opening balance in retained earnings. SAB No. 108 is effective for interim periods of the first fiscal year ending after 
November 15, 2006. The Company adopted SAB No. 108 on December 31, 2006 and, in accordance with the initial applica-
tion provisions of SAB No. 108, adjusted retained earnings as of January 1, 2006. This adjustment was considered to be 
immaterial individually and in the aggregate in prior years based on the Company’s historical method of assessing materiality. 
See Note 19 for further discussion.

NOTE 3  |  ACquISITIONS
The Company includes the results of operations of real estate assets acquired in the consolidated statements of opera-

tions from the date of the related acquisition.

2007 Acquisitions

Westfield Acquisition
The Company closed on two separate transactions with the Westfield Group (“Westfield”) on October 16, 2007, involving 

four malls located in the St. Louis, MO area. In the first transaction, Westfield contributed three malls to CW Joint Venture, 
LLC, a Company-controlled entity (“CWJV”), and the Company contributed six malls and three associated centers. Because 
the terms of CWJV provide for the Company to control CWJV and to receive all of CWJV’s net cash flows after payment of 
operating expenses, debt service payments and perpetual preferred joint venture unit distributions, described below, the 
Company has accounted for the three malls contributed by Westfield as an acquisition. In the second transaction, the 
Company directly acquired the fourth mall from Westfield. 
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The purchase price of the three malls contributed to CWJV by Westfield plus the mall that was directly acquired by the 
Company was $1,035,325. The total purchase price consisted of $164,055 of cash, including transaction costs, the assump-
tion of $458,182 of non-recourse debt that bears interest at a weighted-average fixed interest rate of 5.73% and matures at 
various dates from July 2011 to September 2016, and the issuance of $404,113 of perpetual preferred joint venture units 
(“PJV units”) of CWJV, which is net of a reduction for working capital adjustments of $8,975. The Company recorded a total 
net discount of $4,045, computed using a weighted average interest rate of 5.78%, since the debt assumed was at a weighted- 
average below-market interest rate compared to similar debt instruments at the date of acquisition. 

In November 2007, Westfield contributed a vacant anchor location at one of the malls to CWJV in exchange for $12,000 
of additional PJV units. The Company has also accounted for this transaction as an acquisition.

The PJV units of CWJV pay an annual preferred distribution at a rate of 5.0%. The Company will have the right, but not 
the obligation, to purchase the PJV units after October 16, 2012 at their liquidation value, plus accrued and unpaid distribu-
tions. The Company is responsible for management and leasing of CWJV’s properties and owns all of the common units of 
CWJV, entitling it to receive 100% of CWJV’s cash flow after operating expenses, debt service payments and PJV unit distri-
butions. Westfield’s preferred interest in CWJV is included in minority interest in the consolidated balance sheet.

Other Acquisitions
On November 30, 2007, the Company acquired a portfolio of eight community centers located in Greensboro and 

High Point, NC, and 12 office buildings located in Greensboro and Raleigh, NC and Newport News, VA from the Starmount 
Company for a total cash purchase price of $183,928. 

The Company also entered into a 50/50 joint venture that purchased a portfolio of additional retail and office buildings 
in North Carolina from the Starmount Company on November 30, 2007. See Note 5 for additional information.

The results of operations of the acquired properties from Westfield and the Starmount Company have been included 
in the consolidated financial statements since their respective dates of acquisition. The following table summarizes the esti-
mated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the respective acquisition dates during the year ended 
December 31, 2007:

Land       $ 99,609 
Buildings and improvements      1,098,404 
Above-market leases      39,572 
In-place leases      31,745 
 Total assets      1,269,330 
Mortgage notes payable assumed      (458,182)
Net discount on mortgage notes payable assumed    4,045 
Below-market leases      (42,122)
 Net assets acquired     $ 773,071 

The following unaudited pro forma financial information is for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. It presents 
the results of the Company as if each of the 2007 acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of each period presented. 
However, the unaudited pro forma financial information does not represent what the consolidated results of operations or 
financial condition actually would have been if the acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of each of these periods. The 
pro forma financial information also does not project the consolidated results of operations for any future period. The pro 
forma results for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:
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  2007 2006

Total revenues   $ 1,129,089 $ 1,105,632
Total expenses    (682,392)  (663,415)
Income from operations   $ 446,697 $ 442,217
Income from continuing operations   $ 147,721 $ 186,392
Net income available to common shareholders  $ 125,499 $ 168,754
Basic per share data: 
 Income from continuing operations,  
  net of preferred dividends   $ 1.80 $ 2.44
 Net income available to common shareholders  $ 1.92 $ 2.64
Diluted per share data:
 Income from continuing operations,  
  net of preferred dividends   $ 1.79 $ 2.39
 Net income available to common shareholders  $ 1.90 $ 2.59

2006 Acquisitions
The Company did not complete any acquisitions in 2006.

2005 Acquisitions
Effective June 1, 2005, the Company acquired a 70% interest in Laurel Park Place, a regional mall in Livonia, MI, for 

a purchase price of $80,363. The purchase price consisted of $2,828 in cash, the assumption of $50,654 of non-recourse debt 
that bears interest at a stated rate of 8.50% and matures in December 2012 and the issuance of 571,700 Series L special com-
mon units (the “L-SCUs”) in the Operating Partnership with a fair value of $26,881. The Company recorded a debt premium of 
$10,552, computed using an estimated market interest rate of 5.00%, since the debt assumed was at an above-market interest 
rate compared to similar debt instruments at the date of acquisition. The terms of the L-SCUs are described in Note 9.

The Company may elect to acquire the remaining 30% ownership interest in Laurel Park Place, or a portion thereof, at 
any time following the acquisition date for a purchase price of $14,000, which will be paid either through the issuance of 
common units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership or with cash, at the Company’s election. If the 
Company exercises its right to acquire the remaining 30% interest, or a portion thereof, prior to December 2012 through the 
issuance of common units, the common units issued will not be entitled to receive distributions until after December 2012. If 
the Company does not exercise its right to acquire the remaining 30% interest by December 2012, then the partner owning 
that interest will thereafter receive a preferred return equal to the greater of 12% or the ten-year treasury rate plus 800 basis 
points on the portion of its joint venture interest that has not yet been acquired by the Company. The Company receives all 
of the profits and losses of Laurel Park Place and is responsible for all of its debt. The $14,000 value of the minority partner’s 
interest has been recorded in Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities.

On July 14, 2005, the Company acquired The Mall of Acadiana, a super-regional mall in Lafayette, LA, for a cash 
 purchase price, including transaction costs, of $175,204. The Company also entered into ten-year lease agreements for 
13.4 acres of land adjacent to The Mall of Acadiana, which provide the Company the right to purchase the land for a cash 
purchase price of $3,327 during the first year of the lease term, $3,510 during the second year and amounts increasing by 
10% per year for each year of the lease term thereafter. After the first year, the seller may put the land to the Company for 
a price equal to the amounts set forth in the previous sentence. The Company also obtained a ten-year option to acquire 
another adjacent 14.9 acre tract of land for a cash purchase price of $3,245 during the first six months of the option, which 
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increases to $3,407 during the second six months of the option and to $3,570 during the remaining nine years of the option. 
The Company acquired the 13.4 acre tract of land in 2006.

On November 7, 2005, the Company acquired Layton Hills Mall in Salt Lake City, UT, for a cash purchase price, including 
transaction costs, of $120,926. The Company funded a portion of the purchase price with a new, short-term loan of $102,850 that 
bore interest at the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 95 basis points. The Company retired this loan in May 2006.

On November 16, 2005, the Company acquired Oak Park Mall in Overland, KS, Hickory Point Mall in Forsyth, IL, and 
Eastland Mall in Bloomington, IL, for a purchase price, including transaction costs, of $508,180, which consisted of $127,111 in 
cash, the assumption of $335,100 of interest-only, non-recourse loans that bear interest at a stated rate of 5.85% and mature 
in November 2015 and the issuance of 1,144,924 Series K special common units (the “K-SCUs”) of limited partnership interest 
in the Operating Partnership with a fair value of $45,969. The Company funded part of the cash portion of the purchase price 
with a new, non-recourse loan of $33,150 that bears interest at 5.85% and matures in November 2015. The terms of the K-
SCUs are described in Note 9.

The results of operations of the acquired properties have been included in the consolidated financial statements since 
their respective dates of acquisition. The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and lia-
bilities assumed as of the respective acquisition dates during the year ended December 31, 2005:

Land       $ 95,863
Buildings and improvements      763,523
Above-market leases      30,759
Tenant relationships      49,796
In-place leases      24,021
 Total assets      963,962
Mortgage notes payable assumed      (385,754)
Premiums on mortgage notes payable assumed     (10,552)
Below-market leases      (54,263)
Other long-term liabilities      (14,474)
 Net assets acquired     $ 498,919

The following unaudited pro forma financial information is for the year ended December 31, 2005. It presents the results 
of the Company as if each of the 2005 acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2005. However, the unaudited pro forma 
financial information does not represent what the consolidated results of operations or financial condition actually would have 
been if the acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2005. The pro forma financial information also does not project the consoli-
dated results of operations for any future period. The pro forma results for the year ended December 31, 2005 are as follows:

   2005

Total revenues     $ 971,647
Total expenses      (549,938)
Income from operations     $ 421,709
Income from continuing operations     $ 153,319
Net income available to common shareholders    $ 123,526

Basic per share data: 
 Income from continuing operations, net of preferred dividends  $ 1.96
 Net income available to common shareholders    $ 1.96
Diluted per share data:
 Income from continuing operations, net of preferred dividends  $ 1.89
 Net income available to common shareholders    $ 1.90
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NOTE 4  |  DISCONTINuED OPERATIONS 
During August 2007, the Company sold Twin Peaks Mall in Longmont, CO to a third party for an aggregate sales price of 

$33,600 and recognized a gain on the sale of $3,971. During December 2007, the Company sold The Shops at Pineda Ridge 
in Melbourne, FL to a third party for an aggregate sales price of $8,500 and recognized a gain on the sale of $2,294. 

During May 2006, the Company sold three community centers for an aggregate sales price of $42,280 and recognized a 
gain of $7,215. The Company also sold two community centers in May 2006 for an aggregate sales price of $63,000 and rec-
ognized a loss on impairment of real estate assets of $274. All five of these community centers were sold to Galileo America 
LLC (“Galileo America”) in connection with a put right the Company had previously entered into with Galileo America. The 
Company, as tenant, entered into separate master lease agreements with Galileo America, as landlord, covering a total of 
three spaces in the properties sold to Galileo America. Under each master lease agreement, the Company is obligated to pay 
Galileo America an agreed-upon minimum annual rent, plus a pro rata share of common area maintenance expenses and real 
estate taxes, for each designated space for a term of two years from the closing date. The Company had a liability of $56 and 
$252 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, for the amounts to be paid over the remaining terms of the master lease 
obligations. To the extent the Company is relieved of its obligations under the master lease agreements as a result of leasing 
the spaces to third parties, the Company will recognize additional gain on sale of real estate assets.

During 2005, the Company sold six community centers for an aggregate sales price of $12,600. Additionally, the 
Company determined that two community centers met the criteria to be reflected as held for sale as of December 31, 2005 
and recognized a loss on impairment of $1,029. 

Total revenues of the centers described above that are included in discontinued operations were $4,851, $11,322 and 
$11,837 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. All periods presented have been adjusted to reflect the operations of the centers 
described above as discontinued operations.

NOTE 5  |  JOINT VENTuRES

unconsolidated Affiliates
At December 31, 2007, the Company had investments in the following 15 entities, which are accounted for using the 

equity method of accounting: 

   Company’s 
Joint Venture  Property Name Interest

Governor’s Square IB  Governor’s Plaza 50.00%
Governor’s Square Company Governor’s Square Mall 47.50%
High Pointe Commons, LP High Pointe Commons 50.00%
Imperial Valley Mall L.P. Imperial Valley Mall 60.00%
Imperial Valley Peripheral L.P. Imperial Valley Mall (vacant land) 60.00%
Kentucky Oaks Mall Company Kentucky Oaks Mall 50.00%
Mall of South Carolina L.P. Coastal Grand – Myrtle Beach 50.00%
Mall of South Carolina Outparcel L.P. Coastal Grand – Myrtle Beach (vacant land) 50.00%
Mall Shopping Center Company Plaza del Sol 50.60%
Parkway Place L.P. Parkway Place 45.00%
Triangle Town Member LLC  Triangle Town Center, Triangle Town  
   Commons and Triangle Town Place 50.00%
York Town Center, LP York Town Center 50.00%
JG Gulf Coast Town Center Gulf Coast Town Center 50.00%
CBL Brazil Plaza Macae 60.00%
CBL-TRS Joint Venture, LLC Friendly Center, The Shops at Friendly Center 
   and a portfolio of six office buildings 50.00%
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Condensed combined financial statement information of these unconsolidated affiliates is presented as follows: 

   December 31,

  2007 2006

ASSETS: 
Net investment in real estate assets   $ 1,020,068 $ 588,300
Other assets     86,367  37,047
 Total assets    $ 1,106,435 $ 625,347
lIABIlITIES:   
Mortgage and other notes payable    $ 875,387 $ 489,810
Other liabilities     36,376  18,526
 Total liabilities     911,763  508,336
OWNERS’ EquITY:  
 The Company    126,071  80,414
 Other investors    68,601  36,596
 Total owners’ equity    194,672  117,010
Total liabilities and owners’ equity   $ 1,106,435 $ 625,346
 

  Year Ended December 31,

 2007 2006 2005 

Total revenues  $ 105,256 $ 94,785 $ 118,823
Depreciation and amortization  (31,177)  (26,488)  (30,273)
Other operating expenses  (32,579)  (28,514)  (32,738)
Income from operations  41,500  39,783  55,812
Interest income  283  176  246
Interest expense  (36,850)  (34,731)  (35,083)
Gain on sales of real estate assets   3,118  5,244  6,717
Discontinued operations  –  –  55
Net income  $ 8,051 $ 10,472 $ 27,747

Debt on these properties is non-recourse, excluding Parkway Place. See Note 15 for a description of guarantees the 
Company has issued related to certain unconsolidated affiliates.

In June 2007, JG Gulf Coast Town Center LLC obtained a ten-year, non-recourse mortgage note payable of $190,800 
that has a fixed interest rate of 5.601% and matures on July 2017. The net proceeds were used to retire the outstanding bor-
rowings of $143,023 under the construction loan that was incurred to develop Phase I and Phase II of Gulf Coast Town Center.

In December 2006, Kentucky Oaks Mall Company obtained a ten-year, non-recourse mortgage note payable of $30,000 
that has a fixed interest rate of 5.27% and matures in January 2017. The net proceeds were used to retire the outstanding 
borrowings of $29,684 under the previous mortgage loan.

In September 2005, Imperial Valley Mall L.P. obtained a ten-year, non-recourse mortgage note payable of $60,000 that 
has a fixed interest rate of 4.985% and matures in September 2015. The proceeds of the loan were used to retire the out-
standing borrowings of $58,265 under the construction loan that was incurred to develop Imperial Valley Mall.

CBl-TRS Joint Venture
Effective November 30, 2007, the Company entered into a 50/50 joint venture, CBL-TRS Joint Venture, LLC (“CBL-TRS”), 

with Teachers’ Retirement System of The State of Illinois (“TRS”). CBL-TRS acquired a portfolio of retail and office buildings 
in North Carolina including Friendly Center and The Shops at Friendly Center in Greensboro and six office buildings located 
adjacent to Friendly Center. The portfolio was acquired from the Starmount Company. The total purchase price paid by  
CBL-TRS was $260,679, which consisted of $216,146 in cash, including transaction costs, and the assumption of $44,533 
of non-recourse debt at a fixed interest rate of 5.90% that matures in January 2017. 
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The Company and TRS each contributed cash of $58,045 to CBL-TRS. The Company also made a short-term loan of 
$100,000 to CBL-TRS that is to be repaid through financing to be obtained independently by CBL-TRS. The financing is 
expected to close in March 2008. 

Under the terms of the joint venture agreement, neither member is required to make additional capital contributions, 
except as specifically stated in the agreement governing the joint venture. CBL-TRS’ profits and distributions of cash flows 
are allocated 50/50 to TRS and the Company. 

CBl Brazil
In October 2007, the Company entered into a condominium partnership agreement with several individual investors 

and a former land owner, to acquire a 60% interest in a new retail development in Macaé, Brazil. The Company’s total share 
of the development costs is capped at R$31,207 (Reas), or using the exchange rate as of December 31, 2007 of 0.562114, 
$17,542 USD. At December 31, 2007, the Company had incurred total funding of $9,813 USD. Tenco Realty (“Tenco”), a 
retail owner, operator and developer based in Belo Horizonte, Brazil, will develop and manage the center. Cash flows will be 
distributed on a pari passu basis among the partners. In November 2007, the Company announced that it has agreed to form 
a joint venture with Tenco. CBL will have the opportunity to purchase a minimum 51% interest in any future Tenco developments.

Triangle Town Member llC Joint Venture
On November 16, 2005, the Company formed a 50/50 joint venture Triangle Town Member LLC, with Jacobs to own 

Triangle Town Center and its associated and lifestyle centers, Triangle Town Place and Triangle Town Commons, in Raleigh, 
NC. The Company assumed management, leasing and any future development responsibilities of the properties. 

Jacobs’ initial contribution consisted of the three shopping centers, and the Company made an initial cash contribution 
of $1,560. Concurrent with its formation, the joint venture entered into a new ten-year, fixed-rate non-recourse loan of 
$200,000, secured by the collective centers. The proceeds from the loan were used to retire an existing construction loan 
totaling $121,828, and the balance was paid to Jacobs as a partial return of Jacobs’ equity. The joint venture equity will 
be equalized between Jacobs and the Company through future contributions by the Company and through property cash 
flow distributions.

Under the terms of the joint venture agreement, the Company is required to fund any additional equity necessary for 
capital expenditures, including future development or expansion of the property, and any operating deficits of the joint ven-
ture. The Company has guaranteed funding of such items up to a maximum of $50,000. The joint venture’s profits and losses 
are allocated 50/50 to Jacobs and the Company. The Company receives a preferred return on its invested capital in the joint 
venture and will, after payment of such preferred return and repayment of the Company’s invested capital, and repayment 
of the balance of Jacobs’ equity, share equally with Jacobs in the joint venture’s cash flows.

Galileo America Joint Venture
On September 24, 2003, the Company formed Galileo America, a joint venture with Galileo America, Inc., the U.S. 

 affiliate of Australia-based Galileo America Shopping Trust, to invest in community centers throughout the United States. 
The arrangement provided for the Company to sell, in three phases, its interests in 51 community centers for a total price 
of $516,000 plus a 10% interest in Galileo America. The three phases had been closed on by January 5, 2005. The Company 
recognized a loss on impairment of real estate assets of $262 during the year ended December 31, 2005 related to the prop-
erties included in the third phase.

The Company, as tenant, entered into separate master lease agreements with Galileo America, as landlord, covering 
certain spaces in certain of the properties sold to the joint venture. Under each master lease agreement, the Company was 
obligated to pay Galileo America an agreed-upon minimum annual rent, plus a pro rata share of common area maintenance 
expenses and real estate taxes, for each designated space for a term of five years from the applicable property’s closing date. 
Two properties in the first phase and one in the second phase were subject to master lease agreements. During 2005, the 
Company recognized a gain of $2,505 as a result of being relieved of its obligation under the master lease arrangements as 
spaces were leased to third parties.
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On August 10, 2005, the Company transferred all of its 8.4% ownership interest in Galileo America to Galileo America 
in exchange for Galileo America’s interest in two community centers: Springdale Center in Mobile, AL, and Wilkes-Barre 
Township Marketplace in Wilkes-Barre Township, PA. The two properties had a fair value of $60,000. The Company recog-
nized a gain of $42,022, in accordance with SFAS No. 153, on the redemption of its interest in Galileo America, which 
represents the excess of the fair value of the two properties over the carrying amount of the Company’s investment in Galileo 
America of $17,978. The Company had the right to put the two properties to Galileo America for $60,000 in cash at any time 
for one year following the redemption, as well as additional property at Springdale Center that the Company held in a ground 
lease for $3,000 in cash. As discussed in Note 4, the Company exercised its put right and sold these properties to Galileo 
America in May 2006. The Company also entered into an agreement to provide advisory services to Galileo America for a 
period of three years in exchange for $1,000 per year. The Company recorded a loss on impairment during 2005 related to 
these properties, which is discussed in Note 4. 

The Company sold its management and advisory contracts with Galileo America to New Plan Excel Realty Trust, Inc. 
(“New Plan”) for $22,000 in cash and, after reductions for closing costs, recognized a gain of $21,619 during 2005. The 
Company also transferred its remaining obligations of $3,818 under the master lease agreement to New Plan by paying 
New Plan a cash payment of $1,925. The Company recognized a gain of $1,893 during 2005 as a result of the settlement 
of the remaining master lease liability. 

New Plan retained the Company to manage nine properties that Galileo America had recently acquired from a third 
party for a term of 17 years beginning on the third anniversary of the closing and will pay the Company a management fee 
of $1,000 per year. At any time after November 22, 2007, New Plan could terminate the agreement by paying the Company 
a termination fee of $7,000. 

In October 2007, the Company received notification that New Plan had determined to exercise its right to terminate 
the management agreement by paying the Company a termination fee of $7,000, payable on August 10, 2008. However, the 
Company has not recognized the $7,000 as income in the consolidated financial statements due to uncertainty regarding the 
collectibility of the fee. The Company will recognize the $7,000 as gain in the period that it determines collectibility is reason-
ably assured.

Separately, Galileo America entered into an agreement to acquire New Plan’s interest in a portfolio of properties. Under 
the terms of its agreement with Galileo America, the Company received an acquisition fee of $8,000 related to that transac-
tion, which was recognized as management fee revenues during 2005.

As a result of the disposition of its ownership interest in Galileo America and the sale of the related management and 
advisory contracts, the Company recorded additional compensation expense of $1,301 in 2005 related to the severance of 
affected personnel, including $736 related to the accelerated vesting of stock-based compensation awards for certain of the 
affected personnel.

Cost Method Investments
In February 2007, the Company acquired a 6.2% minority interest in subsidiaries of Jinsheng Group (“Jinsheng”), an 

established mall operating and real estate development company located in Nanjing, China, for $10,125. As of December 31, 
2007, Jinsheng owns controlling interests in four home decor shopping malls and two general retail shopping centers.

Jinsheng also issued to the Company a secured convertible promissory note in exchange for cash of $4,875. The note is 
secured by 16,565,534 Series 2 Ordinary Shares of Jinsheng. The secured note is non-interest bearing and matures upon the 
earlier to occur of (i) January 22, 2012, (ii) the closing of the sale, transfer or other disposition of substantially all of Jinsheng’s 
assets, (iii) the closing of a merger or consolidation of Jinsheng or (iv) an event of default, as defined in the secured note. In 
lieu of the Company’s right to demand payment on the maturity date, at any time commencing upon the earlier to occur of 
January 22, 2010 or the occurrence of a Final Trigger Event, as defined in the secured note, the Company may, at its sole 
option, convert the outstanding amount of the secured note into 16,565,534 Series A-2 Preferred Shares of Jinsheng (which 
equates to a 2.275% ownership interest). 
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Jinsheng also granted the Company a warrant to acquire 5,461,165 Series A-3 Preferred Shares for $1,875. The warrant 
expires upon the earlier of January 22, 2010 or the date that Jinsheng distributes, as a dividend, shares of Jinsheng’s successor 
should Jinsheng complete an initial public offering.

The Company accounts for its minority interest in Jinsheng using the cost method because the Company does not 
 exercise significant influence over Jinsheng and there is no readily determinable market value of Jinsheng’s shares since they 
are not publicly traded. The Company recorded the secured note at its estimated fair value of $4,513, which reflects a dis-
count of $362 due to the fact that it is non-interest bearing. The discount is amortized to interest income over the term of 
the secured note using the effective interest method. The minority interest and the secured note are reflected as investment 
in unconsolidated affiliates in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The Company recorded the warrant at its esti-
mated fair value of $362, which is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. There have been 
no significant changes to the fair values of the secured note and warrant.

Variable Interest Entities
In August 2007, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with a third party to develop and operate 

Statesboro Crossing, an open-air shopping center in Statesboro, GA. The Company holds a 50% ownership interest in the 
joint venture. The Company determined that its investment represents a variable interest in a variable interest entity and that 
the Company is the primary beneficiary. As a result, the joint venture is presented in the accompanying financial statements 
as of December 31, 2007 on a consolidated basis, with the interests of the third party reflected as minority interest. At 
December 31, 2007, this joint venture had total assets of $4,921.

In May 2007, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with certain third parties to develop and operate The 
Village at Orchard Hills, a lifestyle center in Grand Rapids Township, MI. The Company holds a 50% ownership interest in the 
joint venture. The Company determined that its investment represents a variable interest in a variable interest entity and that 
the Company is the primary beneficiary. As a result, the joint venture is presented in the accompanying financial statements 
as of December 31, 2007 on a consolidated basis, with the interests of the third parties reflected as minority interest. At 
December 31, 2007, this joint venture had total assets of $5,169.

In March 2007, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with a third party to develop and operate Settlers 
Ridge, an open-air shopping center in Robinson Township, PA. The Company holds a 60% ownership interest in the joint 
 venture. The Company determined that its investment represents a variable interest in a variable interest entity and that the 
Company is the primary beneficiary. The joint venture is presented in the accompanying financial statements on a consoli-
dated basis, with the interests of the third party reflected as minority interest. At December 31, 2007, this joint venture had 
total assets of $31,549.

The Company has a 10% ownership interest and is the primary beneficiary in a joint venture that owns and operates 
Willowbrook Plaza in Houston, TX, Massard Crossing in Ft. Smith, AR and Pemberton Plaza in Vicksburg, MS. At December 31, 
2007 and 2006, this joint venture had total assets of $53,727 and $54,516, respectively, and a mortgage note payable 
of $36,535 and $36,987, respectively.

In April 2005, the Company formed JG Gulf Coast Town Center LLC, a joint venture with Jacobs to develop Gulf Coast 
Town Center in Lee County (Ft. Myers/Naples), Florida. Under the terms of the joint venture agreement, the Company initially 
contributed $40,335 for a 50% interest in the joint venture, the proceeds of which were used to refund the aggregate acquisi-
tion and development costs incurred with respect to the project that were previously paid by Jacobs. The Company must 
also provide any additional equity necessary to fund the development of the property, as well as to fund up to an aggregate 
of $30,000 of operating deficits of the joint venture. The Company receives a preferred return of 11% on its invested capital 
in the joint venture and will, after payment of such preferred return and repayment of the Company’s invested capital, share 
equally with Jacobs in the joint venture’s profits. 
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In 2007, JG Gulf Coast Town Center obtained a non-recourse mortgage note payable of $190,800, the proceeds of 
which were used to retire the outstanding borrowings of $143,023 on the construction loan that funded the construction of 
the property. The net proceeds of $47,777 were first distributed to CBL to the extent of its unreturned capital advances plus 
accrued and unpaid preferred returns, and then pro rata to the Company and Jacobs.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company determined that this joint venture was a variable interest entity in which it was 
the primary beneficiary in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities and con-
solidated the joint venture. During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company reconsidered whether or not this entity was a 
variable interest entity and determined that it was not. As a result, the Company ceased consolidating this variable interest 
entity and began accounting for it as an unconsolidated affiliate using the equity method of accounting during the fourth 
quarter of 2007. 

In October 2006, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a third party under which the Company would loan 
the third party up to $18,000 to fund land acquisition costs and certain predevelopment expenses for the purpose of devel-
oping a shopping center. The loan agreement provides that the Company may convert the loan to a 50% ownership interest 
in the third party at anytime. The Company determined that its loan to the third party represents a variable interest in a vari-
able interest entity and that the Company is the primary beneficiary. As a result, the Company consolidates this entity. At 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, this joint venture had total assets of $18,233 and $10,743, respectively. 

In October 2006, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a third party under which the Company would loan 
the third party up to $7,300 to fund land acquisition costs and certain predevelopment expenses for the purpose of develop-
ing a shopping center. The loan agreement provides that, in certain circumstances, the Company may convert the loan to a 
25% ownership interest in the third party. As of December 31, 2006, the Company determined that its loan to the third party 
was a variable interest in a variable interest entity and that the Company was the primary beneficiary. As a result, the Company 
consolidated this entity as of December 31, 2006. During 2007, the Company reconsidered its status as the primary benefi-
ciary of this variable interest entity and determined that it no longer was the primary beneficiary. Therefore, the Company 
ceased consolidating this variable interest entity and has recorded the loan as a mortgage note receivable. The loan bears 
interest at 9.0% and matures on October 31, 2008. 

NOTE 6  |  MORTGAGE AND OThER NOTES PAYABlE
Mortgage and other notes payable consisted of the following: 

 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006

   Weighted  Weighted  
  Average  Average
 Amount Interest Rate (1)  Amount Interest Rate (1)

Fixed-rate debt:
 Non-recourse loans on  
  operating properties $ 4,543,515  5.85% $ 3,517,710  5.99%
Variable-rate debt:
 Recourse term loans on  
  operating properties  81,767  6.15%  101,464  6.48%
 Lines of credit (2)  1,165,032  6.28%  830,932  6.19%
 Construction loans  79,004  6.20%  114,429  6.61%
 Total variable-rate debt  1,325,803  6.13%  1,046,825  6.26%
Total   $ 5,869,318  5.92% $ 4,564,535  6.06%

(1)  Weighted average interest rate including the effect of debt premiums and discounts, but excluding the amortization of 
deferred financing costs.

(2)  The Company has entered into an interest rate swap on a notional amount of $250,000 related to its largest secured 
credit facility to effectively fix the interest rate on that portion of the line of credit. Therefore, this amount is currently 
reflected in fixed-rate debt.
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Non-recourse and recourse term loans include loans that are secured by properties owned by the Company that have a 
net carrying value of $6,031,639 at December 31, 2007.

Fixed-Rate Debt
At December 31, 2007, fixed-rate loans bear interest at stated rates ranging from 4.52% to 8.42%. Outstanding borrowings 

under fixed-rate loans include net unamortized debt premiums of $22,927 that were recorded when the Company assumed debt 
to acquire real estate assets that was at a net above-market interest rate compared to similar debt instruments at the date of 
acquisition. Fixed-rate loans generally provide for monthly payments of principal and/or interest and mature at various dates 
from February 2008 through May 2017, with a weighted average maturity of 5.1 years.

During the second quarter of 2007, the Company obtained two separate ten-year, non-recourse loans totaling $207,520 
that bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 5.60% to 5.66%, with a weighted average of 5.61%. The loans are secured by 
Gulf Coast Town Center and Eastgate Crossing. The proceeds were used to retire two variable-rate loans totaling $143,258 
and to reduce outstanding balances on the Company’s credit facilities. 

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company obtained six separate ten-year, non-recourse loans totaling $417,040 
that bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 5.67% to 5.68%, with a weighted average of 5.67%. The loans are secured by 
Mall of Acadiana, Citadel Mall, The Plaza at Fayette Mall, Layton Hills Mall and its associated center, Hamilton Corner and 
The Shoppes at St. Clair Square. The proceeds were used to retire $92,050 of mortgage notes payable that were scheduled 
to mature during the succeeding 12 months and to reduce outstanding balances on the Company’s credit facilities. The mort-
gage notes payable that were retired consisted of two variable-rate term loans totaling $51,825 and three fixed-rate loans 
totaling $40,225. The Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of $227 related to prepayment fees and the write-
off of unamortized deferred financing costs associated with the loans that were retired.

During the third quarter of 2006, the Company obtained four separate ten-year, non-recourse loans totaling $317,000 
that bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 5.86% to 6.10%, with a weighted average rate of 5.96%. The proceeds were 
used to retire $249,752 of mortgage notes payable that were scheduled to mature during the succeeding 12 months and to 
pay outstanding balances on the Company’s credit facilities. The mortgage notes payable that were retired consisted of three 
variable-rate term loans totaling $189,150 and one fixed-rate loan of $60,602. The Company recorded a loss on extinguish-
ment of debt of $935 related to prepayment fees and the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs associated with 
the loans that were retired.

Variable-Rate Debt
Recourse term loans bear interest at variable interest rates indexed to the prime lending rate or LIBOR. At December 31, 

2007, interest rates on recourse loans varied from 5.54% to 6.49%. These loans mature at various dates from June 2008 to 
December 2010, with a weighted average maturity of 1.7 years. 

unsecured line of Credit
The Company has an unsecured credit facility that is used for construction, acquisition and working capital purposes, 

as well as issuances of letters of credit. The unsecured credit facility has total availability of $560,000 that bears interest at 
the LIBOR plus a margin of 0.75% to 1.20% based on the Company’s leverage, as defined in the agreement to the facility. 
Additionally, the Company pays an annual fee equal to 0.1% of the amount of total availability under the unsecured credit 
facility. The credit facility matures in August 2008 and has three one-year extension options, which are at the Company’s elec-
tion. At December 31, 2007, the outstanding borrowings of $490,232 under the unsecured credit facility had a weighted 
average interest rate of 5.98%. 

In November 2007, in conjunction with the acquisition of certain properties from the Starmount Company or its affiliates 
(the “Starmount Properties”), the Company entered into an Unsecured Credit Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, U.S. Bank National Association, Bank of America, N.A., and Aareal 
Bank AG. Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company may borrow up to a total of $459,140 through a series of up to 
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three separate advances. The proceeds received from the advances may only be used to fund the acquisition of the 
Starmount Properties. Borrowings of up to $193,000 and $266,140 mature on November 30, 2008 and November 30, 2010 
(the “Maturity Dates”), respectively. The Company may extend each of the Maturity Dates by up to two periods of one year 
each and must pay an extension fee equal to 0.15% of the then current outstanding amount. The advances bear interest at a 
rate of LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 0.95% to 1.40% based on the Company’s leverage ratio, as defined in the Agreement. 

Accrued and unpaid interest on the outstanding principal amount of each advance is payable monthly and the Company 
may make voluntary prepayments prior to the Maturity Dates without penalty. Net proceeds from a sale, or the Company’s 
share of excess proceeds from any refinancings, of any of the properties originally purchased with borrowings from this unse-
cured credit agreement must be used to pay down any remaining outstanding balance. The Agreement contains default 
provisions customary for transactions of this nature and also contains cross-default provisions for defaults of the Company’s 
$560,000 unsecured facility and $525,000 unsecured facility. At December 31, 2007, the outstanding borrowings under this 
unsecured credit agreement totaled $348,800 and had a weighted average interest rate of 5.95%.

Secured lines of Credit
The Company has four secured lines of credit that are used for construction, acquisition and working capital purposes, 

as well as issuances of letters of credit. Each of these lines is secured by mortgages on certain of the Company’s operating 
properties. Borrowings under the secured lines of credit bear interest at a rate of LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 0.80% to 
0.90% and had a weighted average interest rate of 5.70% at December 31, 2007. The Company also pays a fee based on the 
amount of unused availability under its largest secured credit facility at a rate of 0.125% or 0.250%, depending on the level of 
unused availability. The following summarizes certain information about the secured lines of credit as of December 31, 2007:

  Total Available Total Outstanding Maturity Date

 $ 525,000   $ 525,000 February 2009
  100,000    13,800 June 2009
  20,000    20,000 March 2010
  17,200    17,200 April 2010
 $ 662,200   $ 576,000

In September 2007, the Company amended its largest secured credit facility to increase the maximum availability from 
$476,000 to $525,000 and to substitute certain collateral under the facility. 

On December 31, 2007, the Company entered into a $250,000 pay fixed/receive variable interest rate swap agreement 
with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, to hedge the interest rate risk exposure on an amount of borrowings on the 
Company’s largest secured credit facility equal to the swap notional amount. This interest rate swap hedges the risk of 
changes in cash flows on the Company’s designated forecasted interest payments attributable to changes in 1-month LIBOR, 
the designated benchmark interest rate being hedged, thereby reducing exposure to variability in cash flows relating to inter-
est payments on the variable-rate debt. The interest rate swap will effectively fix the interest payments on the portion of debt 
principal corresponding to the swap notional amount at 4.605%. The swap had no value as of December 31, 2007, and 
matures on December 30, 2009. 

In May 2007, the Company amended its $100,000 secured credit facility to change the maturity date from June 1, 2008 
to June 1, 2009 and to revise the investment concentration covenant for consistency with the Company’s major credit facilities.

The secured lines of credit are secured by 22 of the Company’s properties, which had an aggregate net carrying value 
of $512,236 at December 31, 2007. 
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letters of Credit
At December 31, 2007, the Company had additional secured and unsecured lines of credit with a total commitment of 

$42,654 that are only used for issuing letters of credit. The letters of credit outstanding under these lines of credit totaled 
$18,362 at December 31, 2007.

Covenants and Restrictions
The secured and unsecured line of credit agreements contain, among other restrictions, certain financial covenants 

including the maintenance of certain financial coverage ratios, minimum net worth requirements, and limitations on cash flow 
distributions. Additionally, certain property-specific mortgage notes payable require the maintenance of debt service coverage 
ratios on their respective properties. The Company was in compliance with all covenants and restrictions at December 31, 2007.

Thirty-nine malls/open-air centers, nine associated centers, three community centers and the corporate office building 
are owned by special purpose entities that are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The sole busi-
ness purpose of the special purpose entities is to own and operate these properties, each of which is encumbered by a 
commercial-mortgage-backed-securities loan. The real estate and other assets owned by these special purpose entities are 
restricted under the loan agreements in that they are not available to settle other debts of the Company. However, so long 
as the loans are not under an event of default, as defined in the loan agreements, the cash flows from these properties, after 
payments of debt service, operating expenses and reserves, are available for distribution to the Company.

Debt Maturities
As of December 31, 2007, the scheduled principal payments on all mortgage and other notes payable, including con-

struction loans and lines of credit, are as follows: 

2008       $ 1,113,019
2009        974,443
2010        765,647
2011        314,081
2012        540,887
Thereafter      2,138,314
         5,846,391
Net unamortized premiums      22,927
        $ 5,869,318

Of the $1,113,019 of scheduled principal payments in 2008, $1,068,786 is related to eleven loans and three lines of 
credit that are scheduled to mature in 2008. The Company intends to extend, retire or refinance these loans.

NOTE 7  |  lOSS ON ExTINGuIShMENT OF DEBT
The losses on extinguishment of debt resulted from prepayment penalties, the write-off of unamortized deferred financ-

ing costs and unamortized debt premiums when notes payable were retired before their scheduled maturity dates as follows: 

 Year Ended December 31,

 2007 2006 2005

Prepayment fees $ 227 $ 557 $ 6,524
Unamortized deferred financing costs  –  378  976
Unamortized debt premiums  –  –  (1,329)
    $ 227 $ 935 $ 6,171
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NOTE 8  |  ShAREhOlDERS’ EquITY

Common Stock Repurchase Plan
On August 2, 2007, the Company’s board of directors approved a $100,000 common stock repurchase plan effective 

for 12 months. Under the August 2007 plan, purchases of shares of the Company’s common stock may be made from time 
to time, subject to market conditions and at prevailing market prices, through open market purchases. Any stock repurchases 
are to be funded through the Company’s available cash and credit facilities. The Company is not obligated to repurchase any 
shares of stock under the plan and the Company may terminate the plan at any time. Repurchased shares are deemed retired 
and are, accordingly, cancelled and no longer considered issued. As of December 31, 2007, the Company had repurchased 
148,500 shares at a cost of approximately $5,168. The cost of repurchased shares is recorded as a reduction in the respective 
components of shareholders’ equity.

In November 2005, the Company’s board of directors approved a plan to repurchase up to $60,000 of the Company’s 
common stock by December 31, 2006. The Company had repurchased 1,371,034 shares of its common stock as of 
December 31, 2005 for a total of $54,998. The Company did not repurchase any additional shares under this plan subse-
quent to December 31, 2005. 

Preferred Stock
On June 28, 2007, the Company redeemed its 2,000,000 outstanding shares of 8.75% Series B Cumulative Redeemable 

Stock (the “Series B Preferred Stock”) for $100,000, representing a liquidation preference of $50.00 per share, plus accrued 
and unpaid dividends of $2,139. In connection with the redemption of the Series B Preferred Stock, the Company incurred 
a charge of $3,630 to write off direct issuance costs that were recorded as a reduction of additional paid-in capital when the 
Series B Preferred Stock was issued. The charge is included in preferred dividends in the accompanying consolidated state-
ment of operations for the year ended December 31, 2007.

On August 22, 2003, the Company issued 4,600,000 depositary shares in a public offering, each representing one-tenth 
of a share of 7.75% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (the “Series C Preferred Stock”) with a par value of 
$0.01 per share. The Series C Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference of $250.00 per share ($25.00 per depositary share). 
The dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock are cumulative, accrue from the date of issuance and are payable quarterly in 
arrears at a rate of $19.375 per share ($1.9375 per depositary share) per annum. The Series C Preferred Stock has no stated 
maturity, is not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption, and is not convertible into any other securities of the 
Company. The Series C Preferred Stock cannot be redeemed by the Company prior to August 22, 2008. After that date, the 
Company may redeem shares, in whole or in part, at any time for a cash redemption price of $250.00 per share ($25.00 per 
depositary share) plus accrued and unpaid dividends. The net proceeds of $111,227 were used to partially fund certain 
acquisitions and to reduce outstanding borrowings on the Company’s credit facilities. 

On December 13, 2004, the Company issued 7,000,000 depositary shares in a public offering, each representing one-
tenth of a share of 7.375% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (the “Series D Preferred Stock”) with a par value 
of $0.01 per share. The Series D Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference of $250.00 per share ($25.00 per depositary 
share). The dividends on the Series D Preferred Stock are cumulative, accrue from the date of issuance and are payable quar-
terly in arrears at a rate of $18.4375 per share ($1.84375 per depositary share) per annum. The Series D Preferred Stock has 
no stated maturity, is not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption, and is not convertible into any other securi-
ties of the Company. The Series D Preferred Stock cannot be redeemed by the Company prior to December 13, 2009. After 
that date, the Company may redeem shares, in whole or in part, at any time for a cash redemption price of $250.00 per share 
($25.00 per depositary share) plus accrued and unpaid dividends. The net proceeds of $169,333 were used to reduce out-
standing borrowings on the Company’s credit facilities. 

Holders of each series of preferred stock will have limited voting rights if dividends are not paid for six or more quarterly 
periods and in certain other events.
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Dividends
On November 6, 2007, the Company declared a cash dividend of $0.5450 per share of common stock for the quarter 

ended December 31, 2007. The dividend was paid on January 15, 2008, to shareholders of record as of December 28, 2007. 
The total dividend of $36,149 is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2007. The total divi-
dend included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2006 was $33,038.

The allocations of dividends declared and paid for income tax purposes are as follows: 

 Year Ended December 31,

 2007 2006 2005

Dividends declared:
Common stock $ 2.06000 $ 1.87750 $ 1.76625
Series B preferred stock $ 1.09375 $ 4.37500 $ 4.37500
Series C preferred stock $ 19.375 $ 19.375 $ 19.375
Series D preferred stock $ 18.4375 $ 18.4375 $ 19.3594

Allocations: 
Common stock
 Ordinary income  77.86%  97.56%  100.00%
 Capital gains 15% rate  1.65%  2.22%  0.00%
 Capital gains 25% rate  0.00%  0.22%  0.00%
 Return of capital  20.49%  0.00%  0.00%
Total    100.00%  100.00%  100.00%

Preferred stock (1)

 Ordinary income  97.93%  97.56%  100.00%
 Capital gains 15% rate  2.07%  2.22%  0.00%
 Capital gains 25% rate  0.00%  0.22%  0.00%
Total    100.00%  100.00%  100.00%

(1)  The allocations for income tax purposes are the same for each series of preferred stock for each 
period presented.

NOTE 9  |  MINORITY INTERESTS
Minority interests represent (i) the aggregate partnership interest in the Operating Partnership that is not owned by 

the Company and (ii) the aggregate ownership interest in 22 of the Company’s shopping center properties that is held by 
third parties.

Minority Interest in Operating Partnership
The minority interest in the Operating Partnership is represented by common units and special common units of limited 

partnership interest in the Operating Partnership (the “Operating Partnership Units”) that the Company does not own.
The assets and liabilities allocated to the Operating Partnership’s minority interests are based on their ownership percent-

age of the Operating Partnership at December 31, 2007 and 2006. The ownership percentage is determined by dividing the 
number of Operating Partnership Units held by the minority interests at December 31, 2007 and 2006 by the total Operating 
Partnership Units outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The minority interest ownership percentage in 
assets and liabilities of the Operating Partnership was 43.3% and 43.7% at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Income is allocated to the Operating Partnership’s minority interests based on their weighted average ownership dur-
ing the year. The ownership percentage is determined by dividing the weighted average number of Operating Partnership 
Units held by the minority interests by the total weighted average number of Operating Partnership Units outstanding 
during the year.
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A change in the number of shares of common stock or Operating Partnership Units changes the percentage ownership 
of all partners of the Operating Partnership. An Operating Partnership Unit is considered to be equivalent to a share of com-
mon stock since it generally is redeemable for cash or shares of the Company’s common stock. As a result, an allocation is 
made between shareholders’ equity and minority interest in the Operating Partnership in the accompanying balance sheet 
to reflect the change in ownership of the Operating Partnership’s underlying equity when there is a change in the number of 
shares and/or Operating Partnership Units outstanding. During 2007 and 2006, the Company allocated $9,361 and $1,785, 
respectively, from shareholders’ equity to minority interest. In 2005, the Company allocated $37,157 from minority interest to 
shareholders’ equity. 

The total minority interest in the Operating Partnership was $493,515 and $550,905 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively.

On November 6, 2007, the Operating Partnership declared a distribution of $28,235 to the Operating Partnership’s lim-
ited partners. The distribution was paid on January 15, 2008. This distribution represented a distribution of $0.5450 per unit 
for each common unit and $0.7322 to $0.7572 per unit for certain special common units in the Operating Partnership. The 
total distribution is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2007.

On November 2, 2006, the Operating Partnership declared a distribution of $26,267 to the Operating Partnership’s 
 limited partners. The distribution was paid on January 16, 2007. This distribution represented a distribution of $0.5050 per 
unit for each common unit and $0.6346 to $0.7125 per unit for certain special common units in the Operating Partnership. 
The total distribution is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2006.

Minority Interest in Operating Partnership-Conversion Rights
Under the terms of the Operating Partnership’s limited partnership agreement, each of the limited partners has the 

right to exchange all or a portion of its partnership interests for shares of CBL’s common stock or, at CBL’s election, their cash 
equivalent. When an exchange occurs, CBL assumes the limited partner’s ownership interests in the Operating Partnership. 
The number of shares of common stock received by a limited partner of the Operating Partnership upon exercise of its 
exchange rights will be equal, on a one-for-one basis, to the number of Operating Partnership Units exchanged by the lim-
ited partner. The amount of cash received by the limited partner, if CBL elects to pay cash, will be based on the five-day 
trailing average of the trading price at the time of exercise of the shares of common stock that would otherwise have been 
received by the limited partner in the exchange. Neither the limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership nor 
the shares of common stock of CBL are subject to any right of mandatory redemption.

At December 31, 2007, holders of 22,937,764 Series J special common units (“J-SCUs”) are eligible to exchange their 
units for shares of common stock or cash. The J-SCUs receive a distribution equal to that paid on the common units.

In July 2004, the Company issued 1,560,940 S-SCUs, all of which are outstanding as of December 31, 2007, in connec-
tion with the acquisition of Monroeville Mall. The S-SCUs received a minimum distribution of $2.53825 per unit per year for 
the first three years, and receive a minimum distribution of $2.92875 per unit per year hereafter.

In June 2005, the Company issued 571,700 L-SCUs, all of which are outstanding as of December 31, 2007, in connection 
with the acquisition of Laurel Park Place, which is discussed in Note 3. The L-SCUs receive a minimum distribution of $0.7575 
per unit per quarter ($3.03 per unit per year). Upon the earlier to occur of June 1, 2020, or when the distribution on the com-
mon units exceeds $0.7575 per unit for four consecutive calendar quarters, the L-SCUs will thereafter receive a distribution 
equal to the amount paid on the common units.
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In November 2005, the Company issued 1,144,924 K-SCUs, all of which are outstanding as of December 31, 2007, 
in connection with the acquisition of Oak Park Mall, Eastland Mall and Hickory Point Mall, which is discussed in Note 3. 
The K-SCUs received a dividend at a rate of 6.0%, or $2.85 per K-SCU, for the first year following the close of the transaction 
and will receive a dividend at a rate of 6.25%, or $2.96875 per K-SCU, thereafter. When the quarterly distribution on the 
Operating Partnership’s common units exceeds the quarterly K-SCU distribution for four consecutive quarters, the K-SCUs 
will receive distributions at the rate equal to that paid on the Operating Partnership’s common units. At any time following 
the first anniversary of the closing date, the holders of the K-SCUs may exchange them, on a one-for-one basis, for shares 
of the Company’s common stock or, at the Company’s election, their cash equivalent.

The Company issued 237,390 common units in connection with the acquisition of Panama City Mall in 2002. These 
 common units receive a minimum annual dividend of $1.6875 per unit until May 2012. When the distribution on the common 
units exceeds $1.6875 per unit, these common units will receive a distribution equal to that paid on the common units. 
Additionally, if the annual distribution on the common units should ever be less than $1.11 per unit, the $1.6875 per-unit 
 dividend will be reduced by the amount that the per-unit distribution is less than $1.11 per unit. The annual distribution on 
the common units exceeded $1.6875 per unit during 2005.

During 2007, holders of 220,670 special common units and 2,848 common units of limited partnership interest in the 
Operating Partnership exercised their conversion rights. The Company elected to exchange cash of $9,502 in exchange for 
these units.

During 2006, holders elected to exchange 595,041 special common units and 1,480,066 common units. The Company 
elected to exchange $3,610 of cash and 1,979,644 shares of common stock for these units.

During 2005, holders elected to exchange 48,618 special common units and 3,518 common units and the Company 
elected to exchange $2,172 of cash for these units. 

Outstanding rights to convert minority interests in the Operating Partnership to common stock were held by the following 
parties at December 31, 2007 and 2006: 
 December 31,

  2007 2006

The Company    66,179,747  65,421,311
Jacobs     22,937,764  23,066,680
CBL’s Predecessor    17,493,676  17,493,676
Third parties    10,203,399  10,298,001
Total Operating Partnership Units    116,814,586  116,279,668

Minority Interest in Shopping Center Properties
The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of operations of 22 properties 

that the Company does not wholly own. The minority interests in shopping center properties represents the aggregate own-
ership interest of third parties in these properties. The total minority interests in shopping center properties was $426,782 
and $8,545 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The minority interest in shopping center properties as of 
December 31, 2007 reflects the issuance of PJV units to Westfield as more fully described in Note 3. 

The assets and liabilities allocated to the minority interests in shopping center properties are based on the third parties’ 
ownership percentages in each shopping center property at December 31, 2007 and 2006. Income is allocated to the minority 
interests in shopping center properties based on the third parties’ weighted average ownership in each shopping center 
property during the year.
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NOTE 10  |  MINIMuM RENTS
The Company receives rental income by leasing retail shopping center space under operating leases. Future minimum 

rents are scheduled to be received under noncancellable tenant leases at December 31, 2007, as follows: 

2008       $ 639,743
2009        554,842
2010        489,468
2011        421,787
2012        353,752
Thereafter      1,395,416
        $ 3,855,008

Future minimum rents do not include percentage rents or tenant reimbursements that may become due.

NOTE 11  |  MORTGAGE NOTES RECEIVABlE
Mortgage notes receivable are collateralized by first mortgages, wrap-around mortgages on the underlying real estate 

and related improvements or by assignment of 100% of the partnership interests that own the real estate assets. Interest 
rates on notes receivable range from 5.0% to 10.0%, with a weighted average interest rate of 5.93% and 7.33% at December 
31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Maturities of notes receivable range from February 2008 to January 2047.

NOTE 12  |  SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company measures performance and allocates resources according to property type, which is determined based on 

certain criteria such as type of tenants, capital requirements, economic risks, leasing terms, and short- and long-term returns 
on capital. Rental income and tenant reimbursements from tenant leases provide the majority of revenues from all segments. 
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 2. Information on the 
Company’s reportable segments is presented as follows: 

   Associated Community 
Year Ended December 31, 2007  Malls Centers Centers All Other (2) Total

Revenues    $ 956,742  $ 43,213 $ 9,511  $  31,161  $ 1,040,627 
Property operating expenses (1)     (331,476)  (10,184)  (3,500)  29,717   (315,443)
Interest expense     (235,162)  (8,790)  (3,500)  (40,432)  (287,884)
Other expense    –  –  –  (18,525)  (18,525)
Gain on sales of real estate assets     5,219  (11)  (2,425)  12,787  15,570
Segment profit and loss    $ 395,323 $ 24,228  $ 86 $ 14,708   434,345 
Depreciation and amortization expense           (243,790)
General and administrative expense           (37,852)
Interest and other income            10,923 
Impairment of marketable securities           (18,456)
Loss on extinguishment of debt            (227)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates           3,502
Income tax provision            (8,390)
Minority interest in earnings            (58,461)
Income from continuing operations          $ 81,594 
Total assets    $ 6,876,842  $ 351,003  $ 188,441 $  688,761 $  8,105,047 
Capital expenditures (3)   $ 1,355,257  $ 17,757 $ 133,253  $  390,208  $  1,896,475 
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   Associated Community 
Year Ended December 31, 2006  Malls Centers Centers All Other (2) Total

Revenues    $ 921,813  $ 38,659  $ 7,403  $ 27,627  $ 995,502 
Property operating expenses (1)     (311,094)  (9,228)  (2,356)  28,382   (294,296)
Interest expense     (214,709)  (4,681)  (2,826)  (34,851)  (257,067)
Other expense    –  –  –  (18,623)  (18,623)
Gain on sales of real estate assets     4,405   1,033   34  9,033  14,505 
Segment profit and loss    $ 400,415  $  25,783  $ 2,255  $ 11,568   440,021 
Depreciation and amortization expense           (228,531)
General and administrative expense            (39,522)
Interest and other income            9,084 
Loss on extinguishment of debt             (935)
Impairment of real estate assets             (480)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates           5,295 
Income tax provision             (5,902)
Minority interest in earnings            (74,459)
Income from continuing operations          $ 104,571 
Total assets    $ 5,823,890  $ 317,708  $  53,457  $ 323,755  $  6,518,810 
Capital expenditures (3)   $ 285,560  $ 42,952 $ 3,606  $ 157,399  $ 489,517 

   Associated Community 
Year Ended December 31, 2005  Malls Centers Centers All Other (2) Total

Revenues    $ 820,613  $ 34,293  $ 8,168  $ 37,345  $ 900,419 
Property operating expenses (1)     (277,339)   (8,833)  (2,192)  21,564   (266,800)
Interest expense     (183,120)   (4,674)   (2,872)   (17,517)   (208,183)
Other expense    –  –  –   (15,444)   (15,444)
Gain on sales of real estate assets     18   –  3,802   49,763   53,583 
Segment profit and loss    $ 360,172  $ 20,786  $ 6,906  $ 75,711   463,575
Depreciation and amortization expense           (178,163)
General and administrative expense           (39,197)
Interest and other income            6,831
Loss on extinguishment of debt             (6,171)
Gain on sale of management contracts           21,619 
Impairment of real estate assets            (1,334)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates           8,495
Minority interest in earnings            (116,940)
Income from continuing operations          $ 158,715 
Total assets   $  5,619,923  $ 317,708  $ 53,457  $ 308,065  $ 6,299,153 
Capital expenditures (3)   $ 1,182,349  $ 21,577  $ 77,026  $ 85,037  $  1,365,989 

(1)  Property operating expenses include property operating, real estate taxes and maintenance and repairs.

(2)  The All Other category includes mortgage notes receivable, Office Buildings, the Management Company and the Company’s subsidiary that provides  
security and maintenance services.

(3)  Amounts include acquisitions of real estate assets and investments in unconsolidated affiliates. Developments in progress are included in the All Other 
category.
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NOTE 13  |  SuPPlEMENTAl AND NONCASh INFORMATION
The Company paid cash for interest, net of amounts capitalized, in the amount of $285,811, $255,523 and $207,861 

 during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
The Company’s noncash investing and financing activities for 2007, 2006 and 2005 were as follows: 

  2007 2006 2005

Accrued dividends and distributions   $ 64,384  $ 59,305  $ 63,242 
Additions to real estate assets accrued but not yet paid  35,739  38,543   19,754 
Conversion of Operating Partnership units  
 into common stock    –  21,983  10,304 
Notes receivable from sale of real estate assets   8,735   3,366   2,627 
Payable related to acquired marketable securities   –  1,078  –
Debt assumed to acquire property interests    458,182  –  385,754 
Issuance of minority interest to acquire property interests  416,443  –  72,850 
Purchase obligation related to acquired property   –  –  14,000 
Net discount related to debt assumed to acquire  
 property interests    4,045  –  10,552 
Payable related to repurchased common stock   –  –  6,706 
Deconsolidation of Gulf Coast Town Centre:
 Decrease in mortgage notes payable    190,800  –  –
 Increase in minority interest    2,103  –  –
 Decrease in investment in unconsolidated affiliates   7,063  –  –
Consolidation of Imperial Valley Commons:
 Increase in real estate assets    17,892  –  –
 Decrease in investment in unconsolidated affiliates   17,892  –  –
Deconsolidation of loan to third party:
 Increase in mortgage notes receivable    6,527  –  –
 Decrease in real estate assets    6,527  –  –

NOTE 14  |  RElATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
CBL’s Predecessor and certain officers of the Company have a significant minority interest in the construction company 

that the Company engaged to build substantially all of the Company’s development properties. The Company paid approxi-
mately $235,539, $221,151 and $96,246 to the construction company in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, for construction 
and development activities. The Company had accounts payable to the construction company of $28,955 and $31,243 at 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The Management Company provides management, development and leasing services to the Company’s unconsolidated 
affiliates and other affiliated partnerships. Revenues recognized for these services amounted to $3,584, $3,219 and $14,290 
in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

NOTE 15  |  CONTINGENCIES
The Company is currently involved in certain litigation that arises in the ordinary course of business. It is management’s 

opinion that the pending litigation will not materially affect the financial position or results of operations of the Company. 
Additionally, management believes that, based on environmental studies completed to date, any exposure to environ-

mental cleanup will not materially affect the financial position and results of operations of the Company.
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Guarantees
The Company has guaranteed 50% of the debt of Parkway Place L.P., an unconsolidated affiliate in which the Company 

owns a 45% interest, which owns Parkway Place in Huntsville, AL. The total amount outstanding at both December 31, 2007 
and 2006 was $53,200, of which the Company had guaranteed $26,600. The guaranty will expire when the related debt 
matures in June 2008. However, there are extension options available on the debt and, if exercised, would extend the guar-
anty. The Company has not recorded an obligation for this guaranty because it has determined that the fair value of the 
guaranty is not material.

The Company has guaranteed the performance of York Town Center, LP (“YTC”), an unconsolidated affiliate in which the 
Company owns a 50% interest, under the terms of an agreement with a third party that will own property as part of YTC. 
Under the terms of that agreement, YTC is obligated to cause performance of the third party’s obligations as landlord under 
its lease with its sole tenant, including, but not limited to, provisions such as co-tenancy and exclusivity requirements. Should 
YTC fail to cause performance, then the tenant under the third party landlord’s lease may pursue certain remedies ranging 
from rights to terminate its lease to receiving reductions in rent. The Company has guaranteed YTC’s performance under this 
agreement up to a maximum of $22,000, which decreases by $800 annually until the guaranteed amount is reduced to 
$10,000. The guaranty expires on December 31, 2020. The maximum guaranteed obligation was $21,200 as of December 31, 
2007. The Company has entered into an agreement with its joint venture partner under which the joint venture partner has 
agreed to reimburse the Company 50% of any amounts the Company is obligated to fund under the guaranty. The Company 
has not recorded an obligation for this guaranty because it has determined that the fair value of the guaranty is not material.

The Company owns a parcel of land that it is ground leasing to a third party developer for the purpose of developing 
a shopping center. The Company has guaranteed 27% of the third party’s construction loan and bond line of credit (the 
“loans”) of which the maximum guaranteed amount is $31,554. The total amount outstanding at December 31, 2007 on the 
loans was $19,893 of which the Company has guaranteed $5,371. The Company has recorded an obligation of $315 in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2007 to reflect the estimated fair value of the guaranty.

Performance Bonds
The Company has issued various bonds that it would have to satisfy in the event of non-performance. The total amount 

outstanding on these bonds was $40,169 and $18,369 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Ground leases
The Company is the lessee of land at certain of its properties under long-term operating leases, which include scheduled 

increases in minimum rents. The Company recognizes these scheduled rent increases on a straight-line basis over the initial 
lease terms. Most leases have initial terms of at least 20 years and contain one or more renewal options, generally for a mini-
mum of five- or ten-year periods. Lease expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations for 2007, 2006 and 
2005 was $1,508, $1,323 and $864, respectively.

The future obligations under these operating leases at December 31, 2007, are as follows: 

2008       $ 2,258
2009        2,287
2010        2,293
2011        2,423
2012        2,328
Thereafter      87,443
        $  99,032
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NOTE 16  |  FAIR VAluE OF FINANCIAl INSTRuMENTS
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are reasonable 

estimates of their fair values because of the short maturity of these financial instruments. Based on the interest rates for 
similar financial instruments, the carrying value of mortgage notes receivable is a reasonable estimate of fair value. The 
Company entered into an interest rate swap on December 31, 2007, at which time its fair value was $0. The fair value of 
mortgage and other notes payable was $5,640,130 and $4,608,682 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The fair 
value was calculated by discounting future cash flows for the notes payable using estimated rates at which similar loans 
would be made currently. 

NOTE 17  |  ShARE-BASED COMPENSATION
The Company maintains the CBL & Associates Properties, Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, 

which permits the Company to issue stock options and common stock to selected officers, employees and directors of the 
Company up to a total of 10,400,000 shares. The compensation committee of the board of directors (the “Committee”) 
administers the plan. 

Historically, the Company accounted for its stock-based compensation plans under the recognition and measurement 
principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB No. 25”), and 
related interpretations. Effective January 1, 2003, the Company elected to begin recording the expense associated with 
stock options granted after January 1, 2003, on a prospective basis in accordance with the fair value and transition provisions 
of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation – Transition and Disclosure – An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123. 

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based 
Payment, using the modified-prospective-transition method. Under that transition method, compensation cost recognized 
during the year ended December 31, 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted prior to, but 
not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions 
of SFAS No. 123 and (b) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on 
the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Under SFAS No. 123(R), share-based 
payments are not recorded as shareholders’ equity until the related compensation expense is recognized. Accordingly, the 
Company reclassified $8,895 from the deferred compensation line item in shareholders’ equity to additional paid-in-capital as 
of January 1, 2006. Results for prior periods have not been restated.

As a result of adopting SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006, the Company’s net income available to common sharehold-
ers for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $302 lower than if it had continued to account for share-based compensation 
under SFAS No. 123. As a result, basic EPS and diluted EPS were each $0.01 per share lower.

The compensation cost that has been charged against income for the plan was $5,985, $5,632 and $4,775 for 2007, 
2006 and 2005, respectively. Compensation cost resulting from share-based awards is recorded at the Management Company, 
which is a taxable entity. The income tax benefit resulting from stock-based compensation of $9,104 and $5,750 in 2007 and 
2006, respectively, has been reflected as a financing cash flow in the consolidated statements of cash flows. As a result of 
recurring losses in 2005 and 2004, a full valuation allowance had been recorded against the Management Company’s net 
deferred tax asset. Accordingly, the recognition of compensation cost or the tax deduction received upon the exercise or 
vesting of share-based awards resulted in no tax benefits to the Company in those years. Compensation cost capitalized as 
part of real estate assets was $786, $947 and $535 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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Stock Options
Stock options issued under the plan allow for the purchase of common stock at the fair market value of the stock on the 

date of grant. Stock options granted to officers and employees vest and become exercisable in equal installments on each of 
the first five anniversaries of the date of grant and expire ten years after the date of grant. Stock options granted to indepen-
dent directors are fully vested upon grant; however, the independent directors may not sell, pledge or otherwise transfer 
their stock options during their board term or for one year thereafter. No stock options have been granted since 2002.

No stock-based compensation expense related to stock options granted prior to January 1, 2003, has been reflected in 
net income of periods ended prior to January 1, 2006, since these awards are being accounted for under APB No. 25 and all 
options granted had an exercise price equal to the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. For SFAS 
No. 123 pro forma disclosure purposes, the fair value of stock options was determined as of the date of grant using the 
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. 

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value 
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) to all outstanding and unvested awards in 2005: 

  Year Ended December 31, 2005

Net income available to common shareholders, as reported  $ 131,907 
Stock-based compensation expense included in reported  
 net income available to common shareholders     4,775
Total stock-based compensation expense determined under  
 fair value method      (5,186)
Pro forma net income available to common shareholders  $ 131,496 
Earnings per share: 
 Basic, as reported     $ 2.10 
 Basic, pro forma     $ 2.10 
 Diluted, as reported     $ 2.03 
 Diluted, pro forma     $ 2.03 

The Company’s stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2007 is summarized as follows: 

   Weighted 
  Weighted Average   
   Average Remaining 
  Exercise Contractual Aggregate 
 Shares Price Term Intrinsic Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2007  1,502,720 $ 14.40
Exercised  (848,690) $ 13.39 
Cancelled  (1,000) $ 18.27
Expired  (1,000) $ 12.81
Outstanding at December 31, 2007  652,030 $ 15.71   3.5 $ 5,357
Vested at December 31, 2007  652,030 $ 15.71   3.5 $ 5,357 
Options exercisable at December 31, 2007  652,030 $ 15.71   3.5 $ 5,357 

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $17,581, $19,898 and $23,055, respectively.
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Stock Awards
Under the plan, common stock may be awarded either alone, in addition to, or in tandem with other stock awards 

granted under the plan. The Committee has the authority to determine eligible persons to whom common stock will be 
awarded, the number of shares to be awarded and the duration of the vesting period, as defined. Generally, an award of 
common stock vests either immediately at grant, in equal installments over a period of five years or in one installment at 
the end of periods up to five years. The Committee may also provide for the issuance of common stock under the plan on 
a deferred basis pursuant to deferred compensation arrangements. The fair value of common stock awarded under the plan 
is determined based on the market price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date and the related compensation 
expense is recognized over the vesting period on a straight-line basis.

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock awards as of December 31, 2007, and changes during the year ended 
December 31, 2007, is presented below: 

  Weighted Average 
 Shares Grant-Date Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2007  457,344   $ 34.35 
Granted  106,047   $ 34.66 
Vested   (253,397)   $ 31.85 
Forfeited  (11,664)   $ 36.32 
Nonvested at December 31, 2007  298,330   $ 36.73 

The weighted average grant-date fair value of shares granted during 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $34.66, $39.73 and 
$38.24, respectively. The total fair value of shares vested during 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $6,064, $6,753 and $13,144, 
respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, there was $8,318 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock awards 
granted under the plan, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.8 years.

NOTE 18  |  EMPlOYEE BENEFIT PlANS

401(k) Plan
The Management Company maintains a 401(k) profit sharing plan, which is qualified under Section 401(a) and Section 

401(k) of the Code to cover employees of the Management Company. All employees who have attained the age of 21 and 
have completed at least 90 days of service are eligible to participate in the plan. The plan provides for employer matching 
contributions on behalf of each participant equal to 50% of the portion of such participant’s contribution that does not 
exceed 2.5% of such participant’s compensation for the plan year. Additionally, the Management Company has the discretion 
to make additional profit-sharing-type contributions not related to participant elective contributions. Total contributions by 
the Management Company were $1,172, $1,157 and $727 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company maintains an employee stock purchase plan that allows eligible employees to acquire shares of the 

Company’s common stock in the open market without incurring brokerage or transaction fees. Under the plan, eligible 
employees make payroll deductions that are used to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. The shares are 
 purchased by the fifth business day of the month following the month when the deductions were withheld. The shares 
are purchased at the prevailing market price of the stock at the time of purchase.

Deferred Compensation Arrangements
The Company has entered into agreements with certain of its officers that allow the officers to defer receipt of selected 

salary increases and/or bonus compensation for periods ranging from 5 to 10 years. For certain officers, the deferred com-
pensation arrangements provide that when the salary increase or bonus compensation is earned and deferred, shares of 
the Company’s common stock issuable under the Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan are deemed set aside for the 
amount deferred. The number of shares deemed set aside is determined by dividing the amount of compensation deferred 
by the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the deferral date, as defined in the arrangements. The shares set aside 
are deemed to receive dividends equivalent to those paid on the Company’s common stock, which are then deemed to be 
reinvested in the Company’s common stock in accordance with the Company’s dividend reinvestment plan. When an arrange-
ment terminates, the Company will issue shares of the Company’s common stock to the officer equivalent to the number of 
shares deemed to have accumulated under the officer’s arrangement. The Company accrues compensation expense related 
to these agreements as the compensation is earned during the term of the agreement.

In December 2007, the Company issued 2,683 shares of common stock to an officer as a result of the termination of 
that officer’s deferred compensation agreement.

In June 2006, the Company issued 13,974 shares of common stock to an officer, net of 5,026 shares surrendered to 
 satisfy withholding taxes, as a result of the termination of that officer’s deferred compensation agreement.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, there were 47,601 and 47,813 shares that were deemed set aside in 
accordance with these arrangements.

For other officers, the deferred compensation arrangements provide that their bonus compensation is deferred in the 
form of a note payable to the officer. Interest accumulates on these notes at 5.0%. When an arrangement terminates, the 
note payable plus accrued interest is paid to the officer in cash. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, the Company 
had notes payable, including accrued interest, of $224 and $165 related to these arrangements.
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NOTE 19  |  STAFF ACCOuNTING BullETIN NO. 108
As discussed in Note 2, the Company adopted SAB No. 108 on December 31, 2006.
In prior years, the Company incorrectly recorded the realized tax return benefits of excess stock compensation deduc-

tions as reductions to income tax expense rather than as increases to additional paid-in capital and minority interest liability 
in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Additionally, the Company improperly recorded deferred tax 
assets. These errors in accounting for income taxes resulted in an understatement of the Company’s provision for income taxes 
and an overstatement of net income and minority interest in earnings of the Operating Partnership for the affected years.

As permitted by the initial application provisions of SAB No. 108, the Company adjusted the affected balance sheet 
accounts and retained earnings as of January 1, 2006 for the cumulative effect of these errors. The impact of correcting these 
items as of January 1, 2006 is summarized as follows:

Deferred tax asset     $ 4,442 
Minority interest liability      (2,008)
Additional paid-in capital      (9,696)
Retained earnings     $  (7,262)

NOTE 20  |  SuBSEquENT EVENTS
On January 2, 2008, the Company entered into a $150,000 pay fixed/receive variable interest rate swap agreement with 

Key Bank National Association to hedge the interest rate risk exposure on an amount of borrowings on the Company’s largest 
secured credit facility equal to the swap notional amount. This interest rate swap hedges the risk of changes in cash flows on 
the Company’s designated forecasted interest payments attributable to changes in 1-month LIBOR, the designated bench-
mark interest rate being hedged, thereby reducing exposure to variability in cash flows relating to interest payments on the 
variable-rate debt. The interest rate swap will effectively fix the interest payments on the portion of debt principal corre-
sponding to the swap notional amount of 4.453%. The swap matures on December 30, 2009. 

In February 2008, the Company entered into 50/50 joint venture agreements with The Benchmark Group of Amherst, NY, 
for the development of two open-air projects. Total development costs for both projects is estimated to be $294,137 and 
both developments are scheduled to open in 2009.

CBL-TRS completed its acquisition of properties from the Starmount Company when it acquired an anchor parcel at 
Friendly Center for $5,000 in January 2008 and when it acquired Renaissance Center, located in Greensboro, NC, for $89,639 
in February 2008. The aggregate purchase price consisted of $58,121 in cash and the assumption of $36,518 of non-recourse 
debt that bears interest at a fixed interest rate of 5.61% and matures in July 2016. 
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NOTE 21  |  quARTERlY INFORMATION (uNAuDITED)
The following quarterly information differs from previously reported results since the results of operations of certain long-

lived assets disposed of subsequent to each quarter end in 2007 have been reclassified to discontinued operations for all 
periods presented. 
  
Year Ended December 31, 2007 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Total (1)

Total revenues   $ 249,018 $ 246,293 $ 251,017 $ 294,299 $ 1,040,627
Income from operations    99,573  97,779  101,139  126,526  425,017
Income from continuing operations    24,996  22,081  17,744  16,773  81,594
Discontinued operations    48  608  4,797  2,100  7,553
Net income available to common shareholders   17,401  11,465  17,088  13,418  59,372
Basic per share data: 
 Income from continuing operations,  
  net of preferred dividends   $ 0.27 $ 0.17 $ 0.19 $ 0.17 $ 0.79
 Net income available to common  
  shareholders   $ 0.27 $ 0.18 $ 0.26 $ 0.20 $ 0.91
Diluted per share data:
  Income from continuing operations,  
  net of preferred dividends   $ 0.26 $ 0.16 $ 0.19 $ 0.17 $ 0.79
 Net income available to common  
  shareholders   $ 0.26 $ 0.17 $ 0.26 $ 0.20 $ 0.90

Year Ended December 31, 2006 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter Total (1)

Total revenues   $ 243,861 $ 235,326 $ 245,043 $ 271,272 $ 995,502
Income from operations    103,949  96,822  93,595  119,684  414,050
Income from continuing operations    26,004  19,856  21,829  36,882  104,571
Discontinued operations    2,251  8,714  150  1,815  12,930
Net income available to common shareholders   20,613  20,928  14,337  31,055  86,933
Basic per share data:
 Income from continuing operations,  
  net of preferred dividends   $ 0.29 $ 0.19 $ 0.22 $ 0.45 $ 1.16
 Net income available to common  
  shareholders   $ 0.33 $ 0.33 $ 0.22 $ 0.48 $ 1.36
Diluted per share data:
 Income from continuing operations,  
  net of preferred dividends   $ 0.29 $ 0.19 $ 0.22 $ 0.44 $ 1.13
 Net income available to common  
  shareholders   $ 0.32 $ 0.32 $ 0.22 $ 0.47 $ 1.33

(1) The sum of quarterly earnings per share may differ from annual earnings per share due to rounding.
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 Period Ending

Index 12/31/97 12/31/98 12/31/99 12/31/00 12/31/01 12/31/02 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07

CBL & Associates  
 Properties, Inc. $100.00 112.49 97.80 130.67 175.22 236.55 353.32 500.61 541.66 621.72 364.52
Russell 2000 $100.00 97.45 118.17 114.60 117.45 93.39 137.52 162.73 170.14 201.39 198.24
NAREIT All Equity  
 REIT Index $100.00 82.50 78.69 99.43 113.28 117.62 161.29 212.22 238.03 321.49 271.04
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The graph set forth below compares the cumulative stockholder return on the Common Stock of the Company with the 
cumulative total return of the Russell 2000 index of small companies (“Russell 2000”) and the NAREIT All Equity REIT Total 
Return Index for the period commencing December 31, 1997, through December 31, 2007. The following graph assumes 
that the value of the investments in the Company and in each of the indices was $100 at the beginning of the period and that 
dividends were reinvested. The stock price performance presented below is not necessarily indicative of future results:
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

CORPORATE OFFICE
CBL & Associates Properties, Inc. 
CBL Center, Suite 500 
2030 Hamilton Place Boulevard 
Chattanooga, TN 37421-6000
(423) 855-0001

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
Computershare 
P.O. Box 43078
Providence, RI 02940-3078
(800) 560-3476

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN
Shareholders of record may automatically reinvest their  
dividends in  additional shares of our Common Stock 
through our Dividend Reinvestment Plan, which also 
provides for purchase by voluntary cash contributions. 
For additional information, please contact Computershare. 

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
The annual meeting of shareholders will be held on May 5, 
2008, at 4:00 P.M. (EDT) at The Chattanoogan, 1201 South 
Broad Street, Chattanooga, TN.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Atlanta, GA

COUNSEL
Husch, Blackwell, Sanders LLP 
Chattanooga, TN

Morrison & Foerster LLP
New York, NY

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
New York Stock Exchange
Symbols: CBL, CBLPrC, CBLPrD

As required by the New York Stock Exchange under 
Section 303A.12 of the New York Stock Exchange’s 
Listed Company Manual, an annual certification by 
the chief executive officer stating that he is not aware 
of any violations by the Company of the New York Stock 
Exchange Corporate Governance listing standards was 
provided on May 29, 2007. Additionally, certifications by 
the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as 
required by Section 302 of the  Sarbanes-Oxley Act were 
filed as exhibits to our Form 10-K filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2008, as 
amended on March 3, 2008. 

FORM 10-K
Copies of the CBL & Associates Properties, Inc. 
 Annual Report on Form 10-K are available, without  
charge, upon written request to: 

Katie Reinsmidt, Director of Corporate  
 Communications & Investor Relations
CBL & Associates Properties, Inc.
CBL Center, Suite 500
2030 Hamilton Place Boulevard
Chattanooga, TN 37421-6000

BOSTON REGIONAL OFFICE
CBL & Associates Properties, Inc.
Watermill Center
800 South Street, Suite 395
Waltham, MA  02453-1457
(781) 647-3330

DALLAS REGIONAL OFFICE
CBL & Associates Properties, Inc.
Atrium at Office Center
1320 Greenway Drive, Suite 750
Irving, TX 75038-2503
(214) 596-1195

ST. LOUIS REGIONAL OFFICE
CBL & Associates Properties, Inc. 
1200 Chesterfield Mall 
Chesterfield, MO  63017-4841
(636) 536-0581 

QUARTERLY STOCK PRICE AND DIVIDEND  
INFORMATION
The following table presents the dividends declared and the 
high and low sale price of the common stock as listed 
on the New York Stock Exchange for each quarter of 2007 
and 2006. 
 Market Quotations

2007 Quarter Ended High Low Dividends

March 31 $ 50.36 $ 42.05 $ 0.5050

June 30 $ 47.90 $ 35.64 $ 0.5050

September 30 $ 37.93 $ 28.36 $ 0.5050

December 31 $ 37.21 $ 23.45 $ 0.5450

 Market Quotations

2006 Quarter Ended High Low Dividends

March 31 $ 44.30 $ 39.32 $ 0.4575

June 30 $ 42.49 $ 35.80 $ 0.4575

September 30 $ 42.79 $ 37.32 $ 0.4575

December 31 $ 44.10 $ 40.03 $ 0.5050



CBL & Associates Properties, Inc. 

Corporate Office
CBL Center
Suite 500
2030 Hamilton Place Boulevard
Chattanooga, TN 37421-6000
(423) 855-0001

Boston Regional Office
Watermill Center
Suite 395
800 South Street
Waltham, MA 02453-1457
(781) 647-3330

Dallas Regional Office
Atrium at Office Center
Suite 750
1320 Greenway Drive
Irving, TX 75038-2503
(214) 596-1195

St. Louis Regional Office                          
1200 Chesterfield Mall        
Chesterfield, MO 63017-4841
(636) 536-0581

cblproperties.com
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